
 
 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
 
Date Tuesday 17 September 2019 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. 
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement. 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Declarations of Interest   

4. Minutes of the meeting held on 30 July 2019  (Pages 5 - 16) 

5. Health and Social Care Plan (standard item): Verbal update from 
Corporate Director Adult and Health Services, Durham County 
Council; Chief Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales, 
Easington & Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups; and 
Director of Integrated Community Services, NHS County Durham 
and Durham County Council   

6. Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report: Report of Head of 
Partnerships and Community Engagement, Durham County 
Council  (Pages 17 - 54) 

7. Learning Disabilities and Transforming Care Update: Report of 
Director of Learning Disabilities and Mental Health 
Commissioning, North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group  
(Pages 55 - 60) 

8. Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy: Presentation of Corporate 
Director of Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council 
and Public Health Advanced Practitioner, Durham County Council  
(Pages 61 - 78) 

9. Alcohol CLeaR Peer Assessment: Report of Director of Public 
Health, Durham County Council  (Pages 79 - 134) 



10. Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns - Alcohol and Tobacco: 
Presentation of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council  
(Pages 135 - 138) 

11. Right Care, Right Place: Report and presentation of Right Care, 
Right Place Delivery Lead, Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust  (Pages 139 - 156) 

12. Local Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report: Report of LSAB 
Independent Chair  (Pages 157 - 210) 

13. Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report: Report of 
DSCP Independent Chair  (Pages 211 - 248) 

14. Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns - Mental Health and Flu: 
Presentation of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council  
(Pages 249 - 252) 

15. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

16. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information   

Part B 
 
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 

public (consideration of exempt or confidential information) 

 
17. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 

meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
Helen Lynch 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 
County Hall 
Durham 
9 September 2019 
 
 
To: The Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

 
Councillors L Hovvels, O Gunn and J Allen 

  
J Robinson 

 
Adult and Health Services, Durham County 
Council 

 J Pearce Children and Young People’s Services, 
Durham County Council 

 A Healy Public Health, County Durham Adult and 
Health Services, Durham County Council 

 N Bailey North Durham and Durham Dales Easington 
and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Groups 

 Dr D Smart North Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

   



Dr S Findlay Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Dr J Smith Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Group 

 S Jacques County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust 

 J Gillon North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation 
Trust 

 L Buckley Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 

 V Mitchell City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation 
Trust 

 B Jackson Healthwatch County Durham 
 R Chillery Harrogate and District NHS Foundation 

Trust 
 L Jeavons North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington  

and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning  
Groups and Durham County Council 

 S White 
 
D Brown 

Office of the Police, Crime, and Victim’s 
Commissioner 
County Durham and Darlington Fire and 
Rescue Service 

 

Contact: Jackie Graham Email: 03000 269704 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held in Committee Room 2 - 
County Hall, Durham on Tuesday 30 July 2019 at 9.30 am 

 
 

Present: 
 
Members of the Board: 

Councillors J Allen and O Gunn and L Hovvels, L Buckley, Dr S Findlay, A Healy, 
L Jeavons, V Mitchell, J Robinson, Dr D Smart and M Whellans. 

 

1 Election of Chair  
 
Moved by Dr Smart, Seconded by Councillor O Gunn and 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor L Hovvels of be elected as Chair of the Board for the ensuing 
year. 
 

Councillor L Hovvels in the Chair 
 

2 Appointment of Vice-Chair  
 
Moved by L Jeavons, Seconded by J Robinson and  
 
Resolved: 
That of Dr S Findlay be appointed Vice-Chair of the Board for the ensuing 
year. 
 
 

3 Apologies for Absence  
 
N Bailey, D Brown, B Jackson, S Jacques, Dr J Smith and S White 
 

4 Substitute Members  
 
G Curry for S Jacques, S Lamb for R Chillery, D Rudkin for B Jackson, K 
Wanley for D Brown, J Carling for S White 
 

5 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



6 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 8 May 2019 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 
 

7 Health and Social Care Plan (standard item)  
 
The Board received an update from the Corporate Director of Adult and 
Health Services, Durham County Council on the County Durham Health and 
Social Care Plan.  A one year health and social care plan had been 
presented to the board. A five-year plan is in development and the multi-
agency working group were looking at the development of a health and social 
care performance framework and this would be brought to the Board at a 
later date.   
 
Resolved: 
That the update be noted. 
 

8 A Vision for County Durham  
 
The Board received a report and presentation of the Corporate Director Adult 
and Health Services, Durham County Council that presented the proposed 
new County Durham Vision as part of the final third phase of the consultation 
process (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The presentation highlighted:- 
 

 Why we needed to change? 

 Building on our success – examples of the increase in employment, 
economy, reducing carbon emissions, improving recycling 

 Area Action Partnerships (AAP) success 

 Recognising Partners 

 Recognising still a long way to go 

 Over 24,000 responders to the consultation so far 

 What was important to those who have responded –  
o Economy 
o Children and Young People 
o Health and Wellbeing 
o Tourism 
o Housing 
o Towns and Villages 
o Communities 
o Transport 

 Proposed Ambition and Objectives – 
o More and Better Jobs 

Page 6



o Long and Independent Lives 
o Connected Communities 

 
The Head of Strategy informed the Board that the Vision was as follows:- 
 
‘Our vision for 2035 is that County Durham is a place where there are more 
and better jobs, people live long and independent lives and our communities 
are well connected and supportive’ 
 
A short promotional video was also shown on the vision. 
 
Resolved: 
That the report and presentation be noted. 
 

9 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  
 
The Board considered a joint report of the Director of Public Health, County 
Durham and Chief Officer, North Durham and DDES Clinical Commissioning 
Group and Co-Chair of the JSNA and Insight Strategic Group that provided 
an update on the JSNA and Insight transformation process in County 
Durham, and that sought support to continue the transformation (for copy see 
file of Minutes) 
 
The Research and Public Health Intelligence Manager provided an update on 
the JSNA and sought support to continue to develop the shared intelligence, 
research and knowledge base for the County to inform strategic planning and 
commissioning.  He gave a demonstration of Durham Insight, a shared 
intelligence, research and knowledge base for County Durham. 
 
Councillor Allen thanked the officer for bringing all of this information together 
in one place as it was a valuable asset for all partners.  She also thanked the 
Chair was driving this to fruition. 
 
The Chair found that the website helped when putting together funding bids 
and was useful for members to ask questions on what developments were 
taking place. 
 
Dr Findlay also found that this was a fantastic resource.  In future it would be 
useful to have the geography broken down to primary care networks. 
 
Councillor Gunn added that it was an easier way to help residents 
understand what was happening in local communities in a simple way. 
 
The Director of Public Health said that it was great to have all of this 
intelligence in one place to inform our priorities by working together.  The 
Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services agreed and 

Page 7



commended the officer and his team for pulling the information together for 
children and young people. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the update on JSNA and Insight development be noted and 
further ways to embed the use of the JSNA and Insight into 
decision-making, commissioning and service-development by all 
partners be considered. 

(ii) That the continued development and strengthening of the JSNA and 
Insight process be supported. 

(iii) That the further development of Durham Insight to ensure it became 
embedded in everyday practice in support of strategic development 
and decision making across health and social care be supported. 

(iv) To ensure that the JSNA supports the refresh of the Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy. 

 

10 Area Action Partnership update  
 
The Board received a report of the Area Action Partnership Co-ordinator, 
East Durham Rural Corridor AAP, Durham County Council which provided an 
update in relation to the work taking place to enhance the interface between 
AAP’s and the Health and Wellbeing Board to improve the alignment of AAP 
developments and investments and the priorities of the board (for copy see 
file of Minutes). 
 
The AAP Co-ordinator highlighted that four more dementia friendly 
communities had been established and she gave an overview of the 
priorities, funding and projects.  She went on to inform the board about the 
shared and supported work carried out by the AAPs and introduced Michael 
Colcough from the Foundation of Light.  Michael gave a presentation that 
informed of the Revitalise Project:- 
 

 Initial Engagement 

 Progression of over 50’s provision 

 Current provision in County Durham 

 Future provision in County Durham 
 
Councillor Allen congratulated Michael on the fantastic work being carried out 
and the AAP on reaching their 10 year anniversary.  She added that it was 
good to see projects being successful and asked how this was rolled out and 
shared at other forums.  The Head of Partnerships & Community 
Engagement explained that the way in which AAPs report to full Council has 
recently changed and in future it would be as a presentation rather than a set 
of questions.  Public Health had also helped in enhancing the model and 
identifying what areas could be scaled up.   
 

Page 8



Councillor Gunn also passed on her congratulations for the project and that 
councillors had a role to play on AAP boards in helping to move forward a 
wide range of activities going on in communities.  She added that we were 
still living in a time of austerity and there were enormous pressures in terms 
of people living in poverty.  She referred to the summer holidays programme 
that helped to provide activities and food during the school holidays. 
 
The Director of Public Health commented that this was good practice of 
sharing and identifying links with the voluntary sector. 
 
Resolved: 
That the report be noted. 
 

11 Tobacco Control Annual Update  
 
The Board received a report of the Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council that gave an update on developments in Tobacco Control for the 
financial year 2018/19 (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Director of Public Health reported that the Tobacco Alliance had an 
ambition to reduce smoking prevalence by 5% or less by 2030 and she 
highlighted the eight point action plan that had been developed to achieve 
this. 
 
The Chair commented that there was a lot of work ongoing and that it was 
important to continue. 
 
Councillor Gunn referred to the number of vape shops opening in high 
streets and asked if young people were encouraged not to take up this habit.  
The Director of Public Health said that this was being looked at closely and a 
lot of young people were taking up vaping that had never smoked before 
however the overall numbers were low.  She added that sales were age 
restricted and trading standards were vigilant but relied on the public 
reporting any underage sales.  Tests had found that e-cigarettes were 95% 
safer and less harmful than cigarettes. 
 
Dr Findlay asked how we were monitoring the population to show if there 
was an increase in addiction to vaping and if there were any comparative 
costs compared to smoking cigarettes.  There was a concern that people 
were still in poverty due to smoking habits.  The Director of Public Health 
said that there was a link to poverty and there was support available for 
people to stop smoking. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the report be noted. 
(ii) That support for Tobacco Control be maintained by the Board. 

Page 9



(iii) To ensure organisational representation at the Tobacco Control 
Alliance. 

(iv) To ensure organisational support and implementation of 
communications campaigns by Fresh. 

(v) That CLeaR self-assessment and the implementation of any 
recommendations be supported 

 

12 Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy  
 
The Board received a report of the Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council that provided an update on progress of the multi-agency strategic 
plan to reduce tobacco dependency in pregnancy (TDiP)  (for copy see file of 
Minutes). 
 
The Director of Public Health advised of the eight recommendations that the 
National Institute of Clinical and Health Excellence (NICE) had identified for 
maternity services to implement to help stop smoking in and after pregnancy. 
  
Resolved: 

(i) That the report be noted. 
(ii) To ensure organisational representation at the TDiP Working Group. 
(iii) That chief officer and organisation support and delivery for a 

communication campaign led by the TDiP Working Group be 
maintained. 

(iv) That the delivery of targeted place based work working with Shildon 
Health Express be supported. 

(v) That chief officers be provided support for the TDiP Strategic Plan and 
that further assurances of the completion of the actions every 6 
months into the Board be sought. 

 

13 Joining the Dots update  
 
The Board received a report of the Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council that gave an update on the Macmillan Joining the Dots Programme 
(for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Public Health Advanced Practitioner, Durham County Council advised 
that the Joining the Dots programme had been running for almost 12 months 
and was provided by the Wellbeing for Life Service.  As more and more 
people were living with cancer, there was a demand for the service.  
However, funding was secured until March 2020 and therefore the service 
were looking at options to extend beyond this time.  She played a clip that 
introduced Vicky, a single mother who had been diagnosed with hodgkin’s 
lymphoma.  Vicky explained how she had received help and support through 
the Joining the Dots programme including child care, financial, welfare rights, 
assistance with the blue badge scheme and appointments with the ‘Look 

Page 10



Good, Feel Good’ project.  She found the support worthwhile and would 
recommend to anyone in the same position. 
 
The Chair circulated a handbook that had been developed by the Macmillan 
Public Health Cancer Project Management Support Officer and found this to 
be an excellent tool.  She added that this could also be developed for other 
areas, such as dementia. 
 
Councillor Allen said that Vicky was a great advocate of the service and 
hoped that the funding could be found to continue with this invaluable 
service. 
 
Councillor Gunn said that there were a lot of organisations who provided 
cancer support and suggested that they link up with regards to referrals to 
ensure everyone was offered some help and support.   
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the contents of the report and development of the programme be 
noted. 

(ii) That further updates on the service be provided. 
(iii) That partners cascade information on the service to their respective 

organisations and encourage employees to make referrals where 
relevant 

(iv) That discussions around the sustainability of the service be 
supported. 

 

14 Joint Health and Social Care Commissioning Strategy - Learning 
Disabilities  
 
The Board received a joint report of the Strategic Commissioning Manager, 
Learning Disabilities and Mental Health, Durham County Council and the 
Partnership Strategic Manager, NHS Durham, Darlington and Teesside 
Mental Health and Learning Disability Partnership that provided an update on 
the development of a Joint Health and Social Care Learning Disability 
Commissioning Strategy for approval (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Strategic Commissioning Manager introduced Carl Bashford, Tees, Esk 
and Wear Valley NHS FT (TEWV) who informed the board about a dynamic 
support register where young people could be tracked and had a clear 
commitment around their care package.  He advised that a commitment from 
the CCGs and TEWV had been sought as the transition care arrangements 
come to an end next year.   
 
Councillor Gunn asked about the implications of remodelling and was 
advised that some money was attached to transitional care and the criteria 
had been expanded to include young people.  The Strategic Commissioning 

Page 11



Manager explained that the Learning Disabilities team were under pressure 
and some commissioning work had begun to find the right access and 
support and how to manage and influence other areas, such as employment 
and learning.  The aim of the team was to help people be as independent as 
they could be. 
 
The Director of Operations – Durham and Darlington, TEWV said that it was 
important to retain funding and enhance the community in order to support 
discharge.  Locally, this was about looking at re-using what we had based on 
the areas of need.  In primary care this could mean annual health checks and 
reductions in the use of medicine, where appropriate, with everyone 
identified on a register to enable partners to work together. 
 
The Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services welcomed 
looking at the transition points of young people moving into adult services 
and stated it was important to take on feedback in the further development of 
services. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the contents of the report and commissioning strategy be noted. 
(ii) That the strategy and commencement of the implementation of the 

strategy be approved. 
 

15 Better Care Fund Q4 performance  
 
The Board considered a report of the Strategic Programme Manager 
Integration, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council that provided 
an update on the Better Care Fund (BCF) Quarter 4 2018/19 performance 
metrics (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Strategic Programme Manager highlighted the improvements and 
challenges for quarter four data, including non-elective admissions and 
delayed transfers of care. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the contents of this report be noted. 
(ii) That to receive further updates in relation to BCF quarterly 

performance be agreed. 
 

16 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Q4 performance update  
 
The Board considered a report of the Head of Strategy, Transformation and 
Partnerships, Durham County Council that the final performance report 
related to the priorities and outcomes set within the County Durham Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2016-19 (for copy see file of 
Minutes). 

Page 12



 
The Strategy Team Leader, Durham County Council gave a detailed 
presentation that highlighted the performance against the six objectives:- 
 

 Escalation Area and Strategic Objectives 

 Percentage of mothers smoking at the time of delivery 

 Percentage of CAMHS patients seen with a second contact within 9 
weeks of referral 

 Fall and injuries in the over 65s 

 Hip fractures in the over 65s 

 Gap between the employment rate for those with a long term health 
condition and the overall employment rate 

 
The Director of Operations – Durham and Darlington, TEWV highlighted that 
there was ongoing work to improve the performance in relation to CAMHS 
patients seen with a second contact within 9 weeks of referral. Within other 
areas there had been improvements and this was an area of focus for 
TEWV.  
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the performance highlights and areas for improvements identified 
throughout the report be noted. 

(ii) That the actions taking place to improve performance be noted. 
(iii) That performance against the 2017/18 and 2018/19 Quality Premium 

Indicators be noted. 
 

17 Healthwatch County Durham Annual report 2018/19 and Workplan 
2019/20  
 
The Board considered the Healthwatch Annual Report 2017/18 (for copy see 
file of minutes). 
 
The Research and Information Officer Healthwatch County Durham 
highlighted the work carried out over the year including working in 
partnership to improve the health and social care of the community, the 
transition for children and young people into adult services, access to GP 
appointments, and work with Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation 
Trust and the dementia teams. 
 
The Chair thanked Healthwatch for their invaluable work especially in 
ensuring that young people’s voices were heard. 
 
Resolved: 
That the annual report be received. 
 
 

Page 13



18 Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns  
 
The Board noted a presentation from the Director of Public Health, on the following 
public health campaigns (for copy of presentation see file of minutes): 
 

 Alcohol  

 Tobacco  

 Stay Well This Winter  

 Mental Health  

 Breastfeeding  

 

19 Integrated Care System  
 
The Board received a report of Chief Officer, North Durham and Durham 
Dales, Easington & Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups that provided 
an overview of the Integrated Care System (ICS) proposal (for copy see file 
of Minutes) 
 
The Chief Officer advised that the Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) covering 
our region was one of the largest in the country covering four care 
partnerships in the North, Central, South and North Cumbria.  The ICS made 
decisions at a regional level and more local decisions would be made at ICP 
level.  There would be planning across the current five Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and all plans would be fed into the ICS.  
Emerging joint priorities focused on improving people’s health and wellbeing 
and ensuring safe and sustainable services had been informed and each ICS 
would establish a Partnership Assembly. In addition, County Durham’s 
footprint was a priority and work is ongoing to develop the health and care 
plan based on this geography. 
 
Resolved: 
That the report be received. 
 

20 Clinical Commissioning Group merger  
 
The Board received a report of Chief Officer, North Durham and Durham 
Dales, Easington & Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups that notified 
them of the proposed Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) merger. 
 
The Chief officer advised that there had been a push to see less Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and to see one CCG per Integrated Care System 
(ICS) in future.  This had been discussed and it was expected to have one 
CCG per Integrated Care Partnership (ICP).  The proposal to merge the two 
Durham CCGs was not expected to see much change as they already 
worked very closely. 
 

Page 14



Resolved: 
That the report be received. 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

  17 September 2019 

Health and Wellbeing Board Annual 

Report 2018/19 

Report of Gordon Elliott, Head of Partnerships and Community 

Engagement and Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County 

Durham 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to present the Health and Wellbeing Board 
(HWB) with the Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2018/19 
(Appendix 2) for agreement. 

Executive summary 

2 There has been some excellent work carried out which has been led 
and supported by the HWB during 2018/19 which has impacted 
positively on the six strategic priorities detailed in the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 (JHWS). The priorities, based on evidence 
from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), informs partners 
planning, policy and commissioning decisions, which enables us to 
continue to improve health and wellbeing services to all sections of the 
population countywide.  

3 The direction of travel is positive, and it is anticipated that the emerging 
County Durham Vision 2035; the continuing integration of health and 
social care; supporting the development of a community focused 
wellbeing model and linking our new Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2020-25 strategic objectives, will drive forward further 
improvements. This will enable the HWB to confidently address some of 
the future challenges we face over the forthcoming year and beyond. 

Recommendation(s) 

4 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 
(a) Agree the Health and Wellbeing Annual Report 2018/19 
(b) Note the timeline and next steps outlined in the report 
(c) Note that moving forward, our intent is to include more 

performance information in the Annual Report to demonstrate 
impact. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6

http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws
http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws
http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws
http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws


 

 

Background 

5 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 required all upper tier local 
authorities to establish Health and Wellbeing Boards.  The County 
Durham Health and Wellbeing Board was formally established as a 
committee of Durham County Council (DCC) in April 2013. 

6 This is the sixth Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report, which 
outlines the key performance achievements of the Board during its sixth 
year of operation. It includes examples of work the HWB has 
undertaken, or supported, during the past 12 months which delivers 
against the strategic priorities detailed in the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2016/19; and includes several case studies which show how 
the work of the HWB and its sub-groups has impacted on people’s lives.  
It also specifies the future challenges the HWB face over the 
forthcoming year. 

7 The HWB continues to receive progress updates on Health and Social 
Care Integration and on joint health and social care planning and 
commissioning activity and performance through the Better Care Fund. 
This includes receiving the one-year Durham Health and Wellbeing 
System Plan, which reflects the changing health and social care 
landscape, the challenges it faces, new policy and guidance and how 
that all impacts on service delivery and re-design in County Durham. 

What has happened in the past 12 months 

8 The key performance indicators in the Annual Report show a positive 
direction of travel in several areas across people’s life course stages, 
which demonstrate improvements in the health of the population. 
Examples include 155 businesses signing up to support the 
Breastfeeding Friendly Scheme; 2,253 secondary school pupils aged 
14-15 have taken part in the Youth Aware of Mental Health programme; 
smoking prevalence in the over 18s has reduced to a point where, for 
the first time it is on par with national and regional averages; and 
Durham continues to be a high performer nationally in preventing 
delayed transfers of care from hospital. There are however, still 
challenges to face, which are touched on later in the Annual Report. 

9 The following sections give examples of initiatives which have taken 
place to achieve the strategic objectives in the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2016/19. 

 

 

Page 18



 

 

Priority 1: Children and young people make healthy choices and have 

the best start in life. 

10 Examples include:  

(a) Following a request from the HWB, they were provided with 
assurance from NHS England that programmes of work were 
being taken forward to support the sustainability of dental care 
practices in County Durham. The HWB endorsed the work 
currently being carried out with the local dental network and other 
key stakeholders to better understand the challenges facing NHS 
dental providers, with a view to developing a local practice 
resilience programme; 

(b) The HWB supported the refinement of partnership governance 
arrangements and approved the new Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities (SEND) Strategy, along with the Integrated 
Steering Group for Children, which seeks to further improve 
outcomes for Children with SEND; 

(c) The HWB agreed the Children and Young People Mental Health, 
Emotional Wellbeing & Resilience Local Transformation Plan 
submission to NHS England. The plan aims to provide access, 
help and support to improve mental health services for children 
and young people;    

(d) The ‘Reducing Tobacco in Pregnancy’ work, endorsed by the 
HWB, focuses on reducing rates of smoking throughout 
pregnancy to 6% or less by 2022, by providing practical and 
ongoing support and advice to pregnant women.  

Priority 2: Reduce health inequalities and early deaths. 

11 Examples include:  

(a) The HWB received an update on the Community Pharmacy 
Network in County Durham, aligned to a whole system approach 
to health and self-care, to show how they are working to improve 
the health and wellbeing of residents. The network is delivering a 
range of services to their patients in addition to their core role of 
dispensing medicines; they aim to support people to manage their 
long-term conditions, be a first port of call for healthcare advice 
and treatment and be neighbourhood health and wellbeing hubs; 

(b) The newly formed Health Protection Assurance and Development 
Group, which reports to the HWB, have been working to improve 
strategies for health protection. They have been focusing on 
improved screening and immunisation programmes; outbreaks 

Page 19



 

 

and communicable diseases; being prepared to respond to 
incidences and emergencies which supports the prevention of 
disease; and the ability to manage disease if there is an outbreak; 

(c) The HWB endorsed partners’ approach to addressing issues 
relating to health and housing. Health Impact Assessment work 
carried out by Public Health and the Spatial Policy Team has 
enabled partners to collectively consider how housing and related 
support can promote positive health, independence and equity, 
as well as identify and build on existing good practice;  

(d) The HWB advocated for a policy to impose restrictions on new 
planning and licensing applications for hot food takeaways, 
including the percentage in a given area and proximity to schools 
and colleges.  The Hot Food Takeaway Policy will support our 
young people, families and communities to be able to live and 
interact within environments where healthier choices are the easy 
choice; 

(e) The Healthy Weight Alliance, a subgroup of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, has taken forward County Durham’s whole 
system approach to supporting people to achieve and keep a 
healthy weight; including the Sugar Smart Programme and 
projects funded from the Soft Drinks Industry Levy, which support 
schools to promote positive mental and emotional wellbeing. 

Priority 3: Improve the quality of life, independence and care and support 

for people with long term conditions. 

12 Examples include:  

(a) The HWB has supported the development of a Health and Social 
Care Plan for County Durham through a Joint Health and Social 
Care Strategic Commissioning Function and Integrated 
Governance arrangements. DCC and the Clinical Commissioning 
groups (CCGs) have worked closely together to progress the 
development of integrated health and social care services 
countywide, an example of success is the Teams Around Patients 
(TAP) model becoming operational across County Durham, 
providing easily accessible multi-disciplinary primary care 
services to people in their communities; 

(b) The HWB agreed the ‘Think Autism in County Durham’ as an all-
age strategy, developed to provide a joined-up approach to 
support people with autism throughout their lives, including a 
focus on improved support through transition from child to 
adulthood; 

Page 20



 

 

(c) The HWB received information on the arrangements for the Adult 
Care Transformation and Innovation Fund. This included a focus 
on social isolation and how Area Action Partnerships can support 
residents to be included in social activities in their community. 

Priority 4: Improve the mental and physical wellbeing of the population. 

13 Examples include:  

(a) The HWB has acknowledged the excellent work carried out by 
the Suicide Prevention Alliance who are currently developing a 
refreshed programme of work, which will improve and expand 
current service provision relating to suicide prevention. An 
example of their work is the Durham Crees initiative which aims 
to tackle loneliness by bringing people together in a comfortable 
environment. Initially aimed at men, it has been expanded to 
include women and young people; 

(b) The HWB have led on initiatives and approaches that promote 
good mental health across a variety of settings. The Prevention at 
Scale offer was a pilot programme, working with the Local 
Government Association, which supported a system wide 
approach to reducing stigma and discrimination of mental health 
whereby the County Durham Partnership signed up to the Time to 
Change Pledge; 

(c) The Mental Health Strategic Partnership Board (MHSPB) 
developed a Mental Health Strategic Plan which was approved by 
the HWB. The Plan was developed from the emerging priorities of 
its five workstreams - dementia strategy implementation, children 
and young people, suicide prevention, adults’ wellbeing, and the 
Crisis Care Concordat. It details how the priorities are being taken 
forward by each workstream. 

Priority 5: Protect vulnerable people from harm. 

14 Examples include:  

(a) The HWB was appraised of the outcomes of the Joint Targeted 
Area Inspection of domestic abuse in Durham. The Board have 
been challenged to think differently about the voice of the child in 
decision making processes.  The HWB have been keen to ensure 
that young people are heard and listened to in all priority areas 
and have held a specific session with young people about what is 
important to them;  

(b) The HWB endorsed the new Durham Safeguarding Children 
Partnership (DSCP). Following the introduction of the Children 

Page 21



 

 

and Social Work Act 2017, the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board (LSCB) was replaced by the DSCP, a multi-agency 
statutory safeguarding partnership led by Durham County 
Council, Durham Constabulary and the Clinical Commissioning 
Groups. Under the new legislation the DSCP provides strong 
joined up leadership to deliver effective safeguarding 
arrangements, in line with the statutory guidance set out in 
‘Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018)’. 

Priority 6: Support people to die in the place of their choice with the care 

and support that they need. 

15 Examples include:  

(a) The HWB agreed to consult on options for a new service between 
Macmillan Joining the Dots and public health to support people 
living with cancer. The Service was launched in January 2019 
and is delivering a new non-clinical needs service which supports 
the patient, their family (including support to children and young 
people who are affected by a family member having cancer) or 
carers to live with/beyond cancer or provide end of life/palliative 
care and bereavement support; 

(b) Through the one-year Health and Wellbeing System Plan, the 
HWB endorsed the introduction of new improved systems which 
prevent unnecessary hospital admissions and help people to live 
at home for their end of life care though a 7-day service to offer 
support and advice. 

Future Challenges 

16 Whilst a lot of work has been undertaken to improve the health and 
wellbeing of the population the HWB still face some challenges over the 
forthcoming year and beyond. A new Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy (JHWS) for 2020-25 is being developed, which includes a 
review of the current priorities and the development of new priorities for 
the next five years. These new priorities will be based on information 
from the JSNA, links to the new County Durham Vision for 2035 and 
key performance indicator areas for improvement including: 

(a) Reducing tobacco dependency in pregnancy; 

(b) Increasing the percentage of patients seen with face to face 
second contact within 9 weeks of referral to Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services; 

(c) Reducing falls, injuries and hip fractures in the over 65s; 

Page 22



 

 

(d) Reducing the gap between the employment rate for those with a 
long-term health condition and the overall employment rate. 

17 Whilst the new priorities for the JHWS 2020-25 are to be confirmed we 
can still identify areas for work including every child having their best 
start in life, improving people’s mental health at all ages, promoting 
positive behaviours and reducing the number of people smoking. 

18 There are also wider long-term system challenges to face including 
ensuring people live longer in good health, reducing life expectancy 
variations, improving healthy life expectancy in a climate of ongoing 
austerity and reducing health inequalities in places where people live, 
work, learn and play. 

19 In addition, the threat to public health funding remains and the HWB 
and its constituent members have lobbied government to protect this 
budget which could see £19m taken from County Durham. 

Next Steps 

20 Members of the HWB are requested to note the following key dates for 
the Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2018/19:  

• Cabinet receives Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 
2018/19 for endorsement – 16 October 2019; 

• Partner governance arrangements receive the Health and 
Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2018/19 for endorsement – 
October to December 2019; 

• Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee receive HWB Annual Report 2018/19 for information – 
November 2019. 

Background papers 

• County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2019 

Other useful documents 

• None 

 

Contact: Andrea Petty Tel:  03000 267312 

  

Page 23

http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/9935/County-Durham-Joint-Health-and-Wellbeing-Strategy-2016-2019/pdf/JHWS20162019.pdf?m=636634554236870000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/9935/County-Durham-Joint-Health-and-Wellbeing-Strategy-2016-2019/pdf/JHWS20162019.pdf?m=636634554236870000


 

 

Appendix 1: Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 (HSCA) places clear duties on local 
authorities and CCGs to prepare a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS). The local authority must 
publish the JHWS. The Health and Wellbeing Board lead the development of 
the JSNA and JHWS. 

Finance 

Ongoing pressure on public services will challenge all agencies to consider 
how best to respond to the health, social care and wellbeing agenda.   

Consultation 

Consultation on the priorities of the Health and Wellbeing Board is undertaken 
on an annual basis through the Partnership Event and other engagement 
activities.  

Equality and Diversity/Public Sector Equality Duty 

The key protected characteristic groups are considered as part of the process 
to identify the organisations to be invited to partnership engagement events 
and through the development of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

Human Rights 

No direct implications. 

Crime and Disorder 

Durham Insight provides information relating to crime and disorder. 

Staffing 

No direct implications. 

Accommodation 

No direct implications. 

Risk 

No direct implications. 

Procurement 

The HSCA outlines that commissioners should take regard of the JSNA and 
JHWS when exercising their functions in relation to the commissioning of 
health and social care services. 

Page 24

https://www.durhaminsight.info/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/


 

 

Appendix 2:  Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2018/19 

 

Attached as a separate document. 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

Improving the health and 
wellbeing of people in County 
Durham and reducing health 

inequalities 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board 
Annual Report  

2018/19 

 
www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk 

 

Page 27

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/


2 

 

Contents 

Welcome           3 

About County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board     4 

Responsibilities          4 

Key Performance Achievements         5 

Director of Public Health (DPH) Annual Report       6 

A New Vision for ‘The Taylors’: Improving Health in County Durham 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 6 

Health and Social Care Plan         7 

Achievements of the Health and Wellbeing Board     8 

• Priority 1: Children and young people make healthy choices    9 

and have the best start in life. 

• Priority 2: Reduce health inequalities and early deaths.   14 

• Priority 3: Improve quality of life, independence and care    17 

and support for people with long term conditions. 

• Priority 4: Improve mental and physical wellbeing of the population.  20 

• Priority 5: Protect vulnerable people from harm.     23 

• Priority 6: Support people to die in the place of their choice    25 

with the care and support that they need. 

Challenges for County Durham        27 

Appendix 1: The Health and Wellbeing Board Partners - Membership  28 

 

 

 

 

 

If you would like more information about this report email HWB@durham.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 28

mailto:HWB@durham.gov.uk
mailto:HWB@durham.gov.uk


3 

 

Welcome from the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board 

Welcome to the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 

2018/19.  As Chair and Vice Chair we are pleased to say that the Board have had a 

successful year, having worked to improve people’s health and reduce health 

inequalities across the county. 

We are privileged to have been supported by a group of partners who have 

continued to work together to deliver our shared vision to ‘’improve the health and 

wellbeing of the people of County Durham and reduce health inequalities’’. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) have continued to deliver on the six 

priorities in our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19. This report highlights 

some of the work programmes which have contributed to delivering this strategy. 

The report includes some excellent examples of our achievements including 

delivering the ‘Prevention at Scale’ pilot which focuses on mental health, significant 

reduction in smoking prevalence, further development of ‘Dementia Friendly 

Communities’, introduction of the ‘Active 30’ programme in schools and the three-

year Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA), which considers the health needs of 

the population and the provision of pharmaceutical services.  

We have met formally six times during the year and you can view the HWB papers 

for these meetings by clicking on this link to Durham County Council’s website. 

We would like to take this opportunity to thank all the Health and Wellbeing Board 

members for their hard work and commitment to improving the health and wellbeing 

of County Durham’s residents.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dr Stewart Findlay 
 
Vice Chair of the Health & Wellbeing 
Board 
 
Chief Officer, North Durham and Durham 
Dales, Easington & Sedgefield Clinical 
Commissioning Group  

Councillor Lucy Hovvels MBE 
 
Chair of the Health & Wellbeing 
Board 
 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult & 
Health Services 

 

Page 29

http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/9935/County-Durham-Joint-Health-and-Wellbeing-Strategy-2016-2019/pdf/JHWS20162019.pdf?m=636634554236870000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/9935/County-Durham-Joint-Health-and-Wellbeing-Strategy-2016-2019/pdf/JHWS20162019.pdf?m=636634554236870000
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=919&Year=0
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=919&Year=0


4 

 

About the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board 

The County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) is a 

strategic partnership which sets the vision and direction for health 

and wellbeing across the county. The HWB’s vision is to ‘’improve 

the health and wellbeing of the people of County Durham and 

reduce health inequalities’’. To achieve this, we have identified 

six strategic objectives in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

(JHWS) 2016-19: 

1. Children and young people make healthy choices and have the best start in 

life. 

2. Reduce health inequalities and early deaths. 

3. Improve quality of life, independence and care and support for people with 

long term conditions. 

4. Improve mental and physical wellbeing of the population. 

5. Protect vulnerable people from harm. 

6. Support people to die in the place of their choice with the care and support 

that they need. 

Responsibilities 

The HWB has a longstanding track record of partnership 

and integrated working and undertakes development 

activity to ensure it is operating effectively. The HWB works 

closely with County Durham health overview and scrutiny 

committee to deliver a complementary work programme. 

The HWB is committed to engaging with local people as a basis for its work. Recent 

examples include the ‘voice of child’ dialogue between children and young people 

and senior leaders, and a ‘resilient communities’ event for over 200 people. 

The main responsibilities of the HWB are to: 

• Assess the health and wellbeing needs of the local population and how they 

can be addressed through a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA). 

• Produce and implement a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 

(JHWS) based on the information in the JSNA. 

• Promote improved partnership working and joining up services across health, 

public health and social care services. 

• Work closely with organisations or departments who provide services related 

to the wider determinants of health. 

• Promote integrated working between commissioners of health services, public 

health and social care. 

• Produce a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment. 

Page 30



5 

 

The refreshed JSNA provides an overview of the current and future health and 

wellbeing needs of the people of County Durham which forms part of Durham 

Insight, a shared intelligence, research and knowledge-based website for County 

Durham. This informs the wider strategic planning across Durham County Council 

(DCC), its partners and the county’s thematic partnerships. The site provides links to 

data, analysis, external frameworks, local profiles, strategies and plans relevant to 

life in County Durham.  

Key Performance Achievements 

Monitoring performance against the JHWS is important to the Health and Wellbeing 

Board. Below is an idea of the direction of travel on several of the key performance 

indicators, from the different life course stages.  

➢ The downward trend continues in under-18 conceptions, with a reduction of 

64% since 1998. 

➢ 155 businesses have signed up to the county’s Breastfeeding Friendly 

Scheme encouraging mothers to breastfeed and making it the ‘norm’. 

➢ 2,253 secondary school pupils aged 14-15 have participated in the Youth 

Aware of Mental Health programme, helping with anxiety, depression and 

healthy lifestyle choices. 

➢ Estimated smoking prevalence has improved (aged 18 and over) and, for the 

first time, is not significantly different to both national and regional averages. 

➢ Durham has a higher rate of people who participate in sport and physical 

activity than England and the North East. 

➢ The percentage of people who have been screened for breast, cervical and 

bowel cancer is higher than national and regional averages. 

➢ Durham continues to be a high performer in preventing delayed transfers of 

care from hospital. 

➢ The adult safeguarding process continues to be successful, with 95.7% of 

individuals fully or partially achieving the desired outcomes they set at the 

start of the process. 

➢ The proportion of people using social care, who report they have enough 

choice and control over the care and support services they receive, is above 

national and regional averages.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31

https://www.durhaminsight.info/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/


6 

 

Director of Public Health (DPH) Annual Report – A new vision for 

‘The Taylors’: Improving health in County Durham 

The Director of Public Health is a statutory member of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board. Under the Health and Social 

Care Act 2012, one of the statutory requirements of the 

Director of Public Health is to produce an annual report 

about the health of the local population.  The local authority 

has a duty to publish the report.  The government has not 

specified what the annual report might contain and has 

made it clear that this is a decision for individual Directors 

of Public Health to determine.  

The 2018 report focuses on the new vision for the public’s 

health in County Durham.  The report shares the work that 

has been undertaken in the last year to set out a new vision for the health and 

wellbeing of County Durham.  The work is built on achievements over the last five 

years including a major reduction in smoking levels across County Durham. 

It is based around a fictional family ‘The Taylors’ and describes the challenges the 

family faces.  It is also very focussed on the ‘assets’ that the family has and how 

these can protect health and wellbeing. It is recognised that not all people in County 

Durham live within a family, but this helps to identify what the family can do to 

support itself and what services are available. 

The annual report can be seen on the Durham County Council (DCC) website at Public 

Health Annual Report 2018. 

 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and the 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 

In line with the statutory responsibilities of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board, a three-year Pharmaceutical Needs 

Assessment (PNA) was approved in April 2018.  The PNA 

is part of Durham Insight and can be found at 

www.durhaminsight.info/pna/.  

Durham Insight provides information on the health and 

wellbeing needs of County Durham now and in the future, 

through interactive webpages. It includes specific themed 

factsheets which have the most up to date statistics, providing an evidence base at a 

number of geographies. 

Page 32

http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10077/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2018/pdf/PublicHealthAnnualReport2018.pdf?m=636760677930970000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10077/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2018/pdf/PublicHealthAnnualReport2018.pdf?m=636760677930970000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10077/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2018/pdf/PublicHealthAnnualReport2018.pdf?m=636760677930970000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10077/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2018/pdf/PublicHealthAnnualReport2018.pdf?m=636760677930970000
http://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/
http://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/


7 

 

Health and Social Care Plan 

The HWB supported the development 

of a one year Health and Social Care 

Plan for County Durham, outlining key 

programmes of work and any areas of 

consultation for children and adults 

services.  

Work is also going on to develop a 

longer-term five year plan which will 

deliver the requirements of the NHS 

Long Term Plan.  This plan will demonstrate the journey towards greater system 

thinking in commissioning, delivery, performance monitoring, driving efficiency and 

improving outcomes for the people of County Durham. 

County Durham has a strong track record of integrated health and social care 

working based on effective partnerships.   

For example, the development of: 

• Intermediate Care Plus (a short-term 

health and social care service to support adults cared for, in and out of 

hospital, to assist recovery and rehabilitation).    

• The 0-19 pathway (including school nursing). 

• Mental Health and Learning Disability Services. 

• Community Equipment. 

• Carers Services. 

• Social Prescribing.  

• Post Diagnosis Autism Service. 

Partners have been taking the opportunity to build upon this, to define how we want 

health and social care services to be shaped and delivered across the County, to 

further improve outcomes for local people. Some examples of recent progress 

include: 

• Teams Around Patients (TAP) are operational across County Durham. TAP 

are designed to promote prevention and independence and deliver care in the 

community in line with local need.  The TAP are being further developed into 

Primary Care Networks. 

• A new Integrated Governance Framework has been implemented and 

includes an Integrated Commissioning Group and an Integrated Steering 

Group for Children. 

• The Integrated Care Board has also expanded its membership to include 

Primary Care.  

Page 33



8 

 

• The NHS Durham, Darlington and Teesside Mental Health and Learning 

Disability Partnership has been established to manage integrated NHS 

commissioning relating to learning disabilities and mental health. 

• An integrated provider model of service delivery has been developed for NHS 

Community Services to be managed alongside Social Care. 

• Development of an integrated cultural competency framework and leadership 

programme for middle managers in Adult and Health Services, and County 

Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (community services). 

• Establishing the Integrated Senior Leadership Team. 

• The Integrated Commissioning group has been developing the options for an 

Integrated Strategic Commissioning function. 

In August 2018, an appointment was made to the joint post of Director of Integrated 

Community Services, with overall responsibility for the delivery of Integrated 

Community Services across County Durham.  

The Integrated Community Care Partnership (ICCP), a collaborative arrangement 

between the NHS and Durham County Council, has been set up to deliver joined up 

care, ensuring that delivery is efficient, is of high quality and meets the needs of the 

population.    

• Children and Young People. 

• The Integrated Steering Group for Children governance and work programme. 

• Integrated commissioning approach for children and the priorities linked to the 

inspection regimes in children’s services.  

• Therapy services review. 

• Development of place based 0-19 services. 

 

Achievements of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

This section details key programmes of work for the Health and Wellbeing Board and 

developments that have taken place in 2018/19 to achieve the strategic objectives in 

the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  

 

 

 

Page 34



9 

 

 

The Children and Young People’s Strategy 2019/22 ensures continued delivery and 

support for our young people; and where this impacts on health and wellbeing 

outcomes it will be jointly delivered with the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

NHS Dental Care Provision 

Following a request from the HWB, it was provided 

with assurance from NHS England that 

programmes of work were being taken forward to 

support the sustainability and access of dental care 

practices in County Durham. The HWB endorsed 

the work currently being carried out with the local 

dental network, and other key stakeholders, to 

better understand the challenges facing NHS dental providers, with a view to 

developing a local practice resilience programme. 

The HWB endorsed the development of a dental practice resilience programme 

which provides support to dental practices countywide. Work undertaken to date 

includes: 

• A recruitment event for Foundation Dentists to meet with practices who have 

vacancies.  

• Work with Health Education England to develop a mentored training 

programme aimed at attracting overseas dentists into areas of need.  

• Work with Health Education England and Local Dental Committees to develop 

educational events aimed at raising awareness of dental regulations and 

assurance processes.  

• Funding peer review audit events aimed at supporting practices by increasing 

awareness and knowledge of Delivering Better Oral Health. 

A tooth brushing’ train the trainer’ scheme has successfully been offered across the 

top 30% of deprived areas in County Durham. This multi-agency training has been 

delivered across the early year’s settings, 0-19 and family services. This has 

provided an enhanced tooth brushing offer to 2-year-old children within settings and 

the home environment for those who are not accessing a childcare setting. 

 

Priority 1: Children and young people 
make healthy choices and have the 
best start in life

Page 35



10 

 

Children and Young People with Special Educational Needs and 

Disabilities (SEND)  

The HWB supported the refinement of partnership 

governance arrangements and have approved the Special 

Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Strategy, 

along with the Integrated Steering Group for Children, 

which has resulted in service improvements for Children 

with SEND. This includes providing better co-ordinated 

services, having high quality support to meet people’s 

needs, that young people are well prepared for adult lives and can live 

independently.   

The Health and Wellbeing Board have signed up to the SEND Promise to make the 

lives of children and young people better. An update on this work was presented to 

the Board which included: 

• All short break contracts require providers to co-produce their plan of activities 

jointly with children, young people and parent/carers from their local area.  

• The introduction of a pilot for Independent Travel Training was developed with 
the aim of allowing more independence and improving access to leisure 
activities for young people.  

• A new health needs assessment (HNA) of young people with SEND was 

commissioned by Durham County Council’s Public Health Team in 

conjunction with young people themselves.  This has helped inform the new 

Strategy. 

 

Case study 

L a Year 6 boy presenting with anxiety; felt that school was about ‘3 out of 10’ and 

could not think of anything that he liked about it, Ls behaviour resulted in long 

periods out of class. Following a 12 week support programme L made positive 

steps towards being able to talk about his feelings and use calming strategies.  

By the end of the intervention L was in class for up to 75% of the school week, 

grandparents reported that ‘his mood is much lighter; he seems happier in himself 

and he is talking about his feelings much more’. L said that he felt school was 

now ‘6 or 7 out of 10’ and that this was because he now ‘has someone to talk to’. 

Page 36



11 

 

Children and Young People’s Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing & 

Resilience Local Transformation Plan 

Improving children’s mental health and emotional 

wellbeing is a key objective for the HWB, and a main 

priority within the County Durham public health strategic 

plan. The aim of the Local Transformation Plan (LTP) is to 

make it easier for children, young people, parents and 

carers to access help and support when needed, and to 

improve mental health services for children and young people. 

Following a series of wide-ranging stakeholder consultation, the LTP was signed off 

by the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Corporate Director of 

Children and Young People’s Services, ahead of submission to NHS England on 31st 

October 2018. 

To find out more information download the plan by clicking on 'Children and Young 

People's LTP'. 

Breastfeeding 

To support children to have the Best Start in Life (a 

strategic priority of the HWB), Harrogate and District 

NHS Foundation Trust (HDFT) Specialist Infant Feeding 

Practitioners are supporting the delivery of the 

Breastfeeding Peer support element of the infant feeding 

offer. This supports the promotion of breastfeeding by 

working with young people, delivering school-based 

interventions and contributing to the processes to 

develop Durham as a breastfeeding friendly County. A 

specific area of focus for the HWB is to make venues 

and organisational workplaces as breastfeeding friendly 

as possible. 

The Growing Healthy 0-5 Health Visiting service in County Durham and Darlington 

has been successful with its Gold Baby Friendly accreditation by UNICEF, with 

feedback from mothers rating the teams very highly for being kind and considerate.  

Work is being progressed with the digital lead from HDFT and the Infant Feeding 

Practitioners to develop a suite of video clips that can be used to promote the 

benefits of breastfeeding and the support that is available locally. 

 

 

Page 37

https://northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/LTP-update-2018-final-version.pdf
https://northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/LTP-update-2018-final-version.pdf
https://northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/LTP-update-2018-final-version.pdf
https://northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/LTP-update-2018-final-version.pdf


12 

 

Active 30 Durham  

The HWB endorsed work of the Active Durham 

Partnership in developing the Active 30 

Durham programme which was launched in 

schools in September 2018. The aim is to 

increase the physical activity of young people. Over 100 schools are currently 

engaged and have signed up to doing at least 10, 20 or 30 minutes of moderate to 

vigorous activity every day in school.  The programme is supported by two elements:  

• Active 30 Durham Hub - an online resource hosted within the Active Durham 

web page that provides schools with a centralised bank of resources to help 

schools to make their school day active for every child and support them to 

achieve the Active 30 agenda.   

• Active 30 Durham Campaign - joining Active 30, schools pledge to work 

towards all children achieving 30 minutes of moderate to vigorous activity 

every day in school.  The awards system can be used as a development tool 

to work from 10 to 20 to 30 minutes of activity for all children. Alternatively, 

schools can aim straight for Active 30.  

The campaign will be further promoted to engage new schools. Existing schools will 

be encouraged to maintain or increase their active minutes during 2019 and beyond. 

Plans to increase the scope of Active 30 Durham to include early years settings are 

being put in place. This programme also supports the HWB priority of maintaining a 

healthy weight. 

Holiday Activities with Food 

In the summer of 2018, working with the Children and 

Families Partnership, the HWB took forward a 

strategic (pilot) approach to food poverty during 

school holidays, called Holiday Activities with Food. 

This included: 

• Capturing and publicising over 177 activities 

(with or without food) across County Durham.  

• Joining up and co-ordinating activities within local areas. 

• Developing a programme of activities with healthy food provision for some of 

our most vulnerable children and young people.  

Following positive feedback from the summer programme, free healthy snacks were 

available over October 2018 half term in DCC leisure centres with swimming pools 

and in Clayport Library. 

Page 38



13 

 

 

Reducing Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy 

To enable children to have their best start in life, a County Durham strategic plan, 

endorsed by the HWB, to reduce tobacco dependency in pregnancy was developed 

in January 2019 to reduce the impacts of tobacco on babies. The plan compliments 

the Local Maternity System plan while supporting local implementation. An action 

plan has been developed and a local target was set which aligns with the national 

ambition to reduce rates of smoking throughout pregnancy to 6% or less by 2022. 

Durham County Council Public Health have re-

established the multi-agency County Durham 

Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy Steering 

group, the terms of reference and action plan 

have been agreed and have been endorsed by 

the Integrated Steering Group for Children.   

Several focus groups with pregnant women who 

currently or have previously smoked have been held, led by the Stop Smoking 

Service.  The research has captured valuable insights into the journey of pregnant 

women who smoke. This will ensure that local women now form a key part of work 

activities. 

The Integrated Care System Health Strategy Group across the North East has also 

become a chief officer level champion of reducing tobacco dependency in 

pregnancy. The NHS Strategic System Leadership Group which covers the central 

and southern Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs), has identified reducing tobacco 

dependency in pregnancy as a key area of focus to support the Local Maternity 

System and local delivery change. 

  

Case study 

Partnership agencies identified children and young people who are vulnerable 

and/or eligible for free school meals, and invited them to participate in healthy 

cooking sessions during the school holidays. In the Chester-le-Street area 194 

children and their parents were introduced to new healthy recipes that are easy to 

make and cost less than £5 to feed a family of 4, every participating family also 

received a cookbook to take home.While not only providing families with a hot 

meal during holiday time, the sessions also served to educate families with 

regards to budgeting and healthy eating.  

 

Page 39



14 

 

Community Pharmacies  

The HWB received an update on the Community 

Pharmacy Network in County Durham, aligned to 

a whole system approach to health and self-care, 

to show how they are working to improve the 

health and wellbeing of residents. The board 

supported the work of the network of 126 

community pharmacies in County Durham, 

delivering a range of services to their patients in 

addition to their core role of dispensing medicines. They aim to support people to 

manage their long-term conditions, be a first port of call for healthcare advice and 

treatment, and be neighbourhood health and wellbeing hubs.  

 

Health Protection Annual Assurance 

The Health and Wellbeing Board accepted that there were 

effective assurance processes in place for communicable 

disease control, strategic regulation intervention and 

emergency preparedness. The newly formed Health 

Protection Assurance and Development Group has focused 

on improved screening and immunisation programmes; 

outbreaks and communicable diseases; being prepared to 

respond to incidences and emergencies which supports the prevention of disease; 

and the ability to manage disease if there is an outbreak. 

Priority 2: Reduce health inequalities 
and early deaths

Case study 

J smoked 40 cigarettes a day and drank excessive ammounts of alcohol which 

were affecting his health. He had a health assessment at his local community 

pharmacy which showed that he had a cholesterol ratio of 8:2 and he was at 

serious risk of developing diseases which would have a serious affect on his long 

term health. J took the advice received from the community pharmacist and made 

significant changes to his life style; he stopped drinking alcohol, stopped smoking 

and began exercising. J now has a cholesterol ratio of 4:3, has a new career as a 

personal trainer and he has recently completed an Ironman Triathlon, swimming 

2.4 miles, cycling 112 miles and running a marathon. 

Page 40



15 

 

Health and Housing 

The HWB endorsed partners’ approach to addressing 

issues relating to health and housing. Public Health 

collaborated with the Spatial Policy Team to conduct a 

Health Impact Assessment (HIA) on the Housing Strategy 

Action Plan. Public Health has also produced a HIA on 

homelessness to consider opportunities to address those 

most at risk and to support rough sleepers. The HIAs have enabled partners to 

collectively consider how housing and related support could promote positive health, 

independence and equity, as well as identify existing good practice.   

Specific health and housing priorities within County Durham include 

reducing social isolation, fuel poverty, childhood injuries in the home, 

and falls and frailty in older people.  Making Every Contact Count 

(MECC) training to housing and welfare officers has been 

undertaken, enabling staff to offer people brief advice on health or 

signposting to services in their community.  

This best practice approach has been recognised regionally, when Durham’s 

Housing Strategy HIA process and findings were selected for presentation at the 

Public Health England ‘Health in All Policies’ North East event in April 2019.  

Marketing Campaigns 

HWB partners have supported a coordinated approach to key public health 

marketing campaigns which have an impact on health inequalities and early deaths. 

Campaigns supported include: 

• No Smoking Day and Quit 16 campaign supported by a digital advert in 

Durham City. Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust has already 

gone smoke free and County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

has plans to be smoke free towards the end of 2019.   

• Social media promotion by Fresh NE promoting the Smoke Free App and 

online support. 

• ‘Stay Well this Winter’ campaign which saw the NHS exceed staff flu 

immunisation targets to 93%. 

• National Pharmacy Advice campaign launched on 4 February and ran until 31 

March and was support locally through advertisements on buses.  

• National Autism Awareness week. 

• County Durham Breastfeeding Friendly Scheme. 

 

 

Page 41



16 

 

Healthy Weight Alliance 

Obesity is a population health and inequalities challenge 

which has profound long-term consequences for health 

and wellbeing across County Durham. The Healthy 

Weight Alliance, a subgroup of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board, has taken forward County Durham’s whole system 

approach to supporting people to achieve and keep a 

healthy weight. An example of the work is: 

• The Soft Drinks Industry Levy - County Durham received around £429,000 

funding. Schools were to consider the promotion of positive mental and 

emotional wellbeing, and engage children of all abilities in physical activity. 

Developments from the DCC allocation include:  

 

▪ School kitchen and dining environment refurbishments.  

▪ Purchase of school outdoor play equipment.  

▪ Development of school outdoor sports facilities. 

▪ Matched funding opportunities to develop projects. 

▪ Development of school growing clubs. 

 

Hot Food Takeaways 

The HWB advocated for a policy to 

impose restrictions on new planning 

and licensing applications for hot food 

takeaways, including the percentage in 

a given area and proximity to schools 

and colleges.  The Hot Food Takeaway Policy will support our young people, families 

and communities to be able to live and interact within environments where healthier 

choices are the easy choice.  

Case study 

The Healthy Weight Alliance, Chester-le-Street AAP, Durham Football 

Association, Durham County Council Sport and Culture and Wellbeing for Life 

launched Man v Fat, a football league for men who want to lose weight. The 

league is decided not only upon points won but also upon pounds lost among 

participants. Support was given to each participant with unique resources, 

inspiration and 24/7 support to help them to lose weight, meet people and get 

fitter.  It also helps to reduce social isolation and improve mental health. In its first 

week the league had 87 players with 17 on a waiting list. Weight loss in the first 

week was 150kg! 

 

Page 42



17 

 

 Integrated Commissioning  

The HWB has supported the development of a 

Health and Social Care Plan for County Durham 

through a Joint Health and Social Care Strategic 

Commissioning Function, and Integrated 

Governance arrangements. Colleagues from 

across the Council and the Clinical 

Commissioning Groups (CCGs) have worked 

closely together to progress the development of 

an Integrated Strategic Commissioning Function. Building on a strong track record of 

integrated working in the County, and the direction set out in the NHS Long Term 

Plan, they are looking at how to bring together the commissioning of services across 

Health and Social Care to provide the best services we can for our population, with 

the money available.  

Recent examples of progress to integrate health and social care services across the 

County to further improve outcomes for local people include: 

• Operationalising Teams Around Patients (TAP) across County Durham. TAP 

are designed to promote prevention and independence and deliver care in the 

community in line with local need.   

• A new Integrated Governance Framework has been agreed and includes an 

Integrated Commissioning Group and an Integrated Steering Group for 

Children. 

• The Integrated Care Board has also expanded its membership to include 

Primary Care.  

• Durham, Darlington and Teesside NHS Mental Health and Learning Disability 

Partnership has been established to manage integrated NHS commissioning 

relating to learning disabilities and mental health. 

• An integrated provider model of service delivery has been developed for NHS 

Community Services to be managed alongside Social Care. 

• Development of an integrated cultural competency framework and leadership 

programme for middle managers in Adult and Health Services, and County 

Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (community services). 

• Establishing the Integrated Senior Leadership Team. 

• The Integrated Commissioning group has been developing the options for an 

Integrated Strategic Commissioning function. 

 

Priority 3: Improve the quality of life, 
independence and care and support for 
people with long term conditions

Page 43



18 

 

‘Think Autism in County Durham’ 

Health, Social Care, Education and other 

partners developed the new 'Think Autism in 

County Durham'. all-age strategy and action 

plan for 2018/19 – 2020/21 was developed. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board agreed the 

strategy and action plan which was consulted on 

with stakeholders such as people with autism, 

parents, families, carers and providers. The 

strategy was launched during World Autism Week in April 2019.  

 

Social Isolation  

The HWB received information on the arrangements for 

the Adult Care Transformation and Innovation Fund. This 

included a focus on social isolation and how Area Action 

Partnerships can support residents to be included in social 

activities in their community. 

 

 

Case study 

Great Aycliffe and Middridge (GAMP) AAP, working with the Pioneering Care 

Partnership, have been running the Buddies Befriending Service. The project 

supports older residents, specifically those who are isolated and lonely as a result 

of illness, disability, age or family circumstances. Rather than becoming 

increasingly dependent on family members, social and medical services, they are 

more likely to live independently in their own homes and, at the same time, 

become integrated in the community. The Buddies Befriending Service has 

supported 283 older residents in the GAMP AAP area, helping to build resilience, 

increase social networks, improve the quality of life and provide support to access 

local amenities or other services, helping to improve people’s mental health and 

wellbeing. The project aims to support a further 150 older people in the next year. 

 

Page 44

http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/28800/Think-Autism-in-County-Durham/pdf/ThinkAutismInCountyDurham.pdf?m=636929982863800000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/28800/Think-Autism-in-County-Durham/pdf/ThinkAutismInCountyDurham.pdf?m=636929982863800000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/28800/Think-Autism-in-County-Durham/pdf/ThinkAutismInCountyDurham.pdf?m=636929982863800000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/28800/Think-Autism-in-County-Durham/pdf/ThinkAutismInCountyDurham.pdf?m=636929982863800000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/28800/Think-Autism-in-County-Durham/pdf/ThinkAutismInCountyDurham.pdf?m=636929982863800000


19 

 

Falls Prevention 

The The HWB agreed to adopt the Joint Falls 

Prevention Strategy and Action Plan. The Falls 

Strategy Task Group has been set up to ensure 

the strategy and action plan are delivered. An 

example of their work is the falls prevention 

training delivered in care homes, which ensures 

people understand what can be done to reduce 

the risk of falls, and that services respond with 

efficient and effective care to restore independence. This has seen 413 staff across 

92 care homes receive training in falls prevention. 

Dementia Friendly Communities (DFC)  

The HWB endorsed the work of partners to further 

develop Dementia Friendly Communities across the 

county. For example - a Dementia Friendly 

Communities Co-ordinator is working across 

Derwent Valley, Chester-le-Street, Mid Durham and 

Stanley AAP areas to aid further development in 

these areas. The Co-ordinator works with County 

Durham Housing Association Forum partners to increase dementia awareness, and 

develop Dementia Friends Champions in the relevant settings. Housing Association 

Forum members have encouraged staff to volunteer to become Dementia 

Champions, and they now have the skills and knowledge to support people with 

more personalised and effective levels of care. There are currently nineteen existing 

DFCs in the County and more are to follow over the coming years. 

Warmth and Wellness  

The project, supported by the HWB and four Area Action Partnerships (AAPs), are 

working with the County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service to deliver 

a pilot project to address issues over cold related winter deaths. 

A gap in provision was recognised by the Severe 

Weather Plan group. Housing and social care partners 

highlighted that some schemes set up to provide 

vulnerable residents  with heaters and winter warmth 

supplies had ceased. The AAPs funded a new pilot 

project to address the issues. The project, based on a 

24/7 service model of provision which has been in 

existence in Cleveland for eight years, was delivered 

by the Fire and Rescue service. The pilot operated until March 2019 and an 

evaluation is being fed back into the Severe Weather Plan group. 

Page 45



20 

 

 

Suicide Prevention Alliance  

The link between mental health and suicide is well established. Reducing suicide is a 

key outcome for the HWB, and the board has acknowledged the work carried out by 

the County Durham Suicide Prevention Alliance. The alliance has been established 

to deliver a multi-agency approach to suicide prevention and it has developed a 

refreshed programme of work with an associated action plan. A Suicide Prevention 

Co-ordinator was appointed in July 2018 to support the delivery of the Suicide 

Prevention Alliance action plan, and oversee support for those bereaved or affected 

by suicides, including families and the wider community. The Alliance has also 

undertaken an audit of suicide to determine what lessons can be learned, and there 

are plans in place to review the current early alert system to develop new Real Time 

Data Surveillance on suicides.  

Also, additional national funding has been made 

available to Integrated Care Partnership areas to 

expand current service provision relating to suicide 

prevention; this work is being led by North Durham 

Clinical Commissioning Group. An example of their 

work is the Durham Crees initiative which aims to 

tackle loneliness by bringing people together in a 

comfortable environment. Initially aimed at men, it has 

been expanded to include women and young people. 

LGA Mental Health Prevention at Scale  

 

The Prevention at Scale (PaS) offer was a pilot 

programme to discover what support is 

needed to scale up prevention. PaS was 

delivered by the Local Government 

Association (LGA) working with partners. The 

focus was on supporting local areas to deliver 

prevention at scale for a specific condition, or risk factor, that will have a significant 

impact on health improvement for the local population. County Durham was chosen 

as one of twelve pilot areas, with a focus on mental health at scale.  

HWB partners are delivering several initiatives and approaches which are seeking to 

promote good mental health across a variety of settings:  

Priority 4: Improve the mental and 
physical wellbeing of the population

Page 46



21 

 

• A newly instigated workforce led group is exploring the possibility of creating a 

universal approach to improving mental health across County Durham, by 

supporting employers to sign up to the ‘Time to Change’ pledge.  

• Work is underway with Business Durham and its network to explore how to 

provide support to the SME sector, from an advisory and a co-ordination 

aspect, to increase the number of workplace health interventions across 

multiple employers. This includes a dedicated post to work on mental health. 

• Investing in Children County Durham has been awarded Time for Change hub 

status. This has allowed the hub to receive a funding grant for operational 

purposes from the national Time for Change office. The hub provides a co-

ordination role for countywide activity around stigma and discrimination.  

 

Durham’s Mental Health Strategy and Concordat 2018-2021 

The Mental Health Strategic Partnership 

Board (MHSPB) developed a plan on a 

page ‘Mental Health Strategic Plan’ 

which was approved by the HWB. The 

plan was developed from the emerging 

priorities of its five workstreams - 

dementia strategy implementation, 

children and young people, suicide 

prevention, adults’ wellbeing, and the 

Crisis Care Concordat. The Plan sets 

out a range of priorities being taken forward by each workstream along with details of 

key interventions and outcome indicators.  It also included five cross-cutting themes: 

Think Family, Evidence and Intelligence, Workforce, Governance, and 

Communication and Engagement.  

Case study 

Durham County Council senior leaders championed the mental health agenda by 

signing up to the Time to Change Employer Pledge and supporting the Time to 

Change Campaign, which aim to change the way people think and act about 

mental health problems. Colleagues were encouraged to make mental health an 

agenda item at team meetings, all managers were encouraged to approach the 

subject with their teams and make staff aware that they can talk about their 

mental health. Since signing the Time for Change Employer Pledge over 100 

colleagues across Durham County Council have volunteered to become Time for 

Change champions. 

Page 47



22 

 

Alongside 19 priority work areas, five cross-

cutting themes emerged that have been 

incorporated into the new mental health 

strategy and concordat. This includes the 

approach to being guided by the evidence 

base, to work alongside partners and 

communities, their commitment to 

workforce development and the importance 

of ensuring a whole family approach to all 

that they commit to do.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case study 

Rollercoaster is a parental peer support service that supports parents and carers 

who are caring for a child with emotional or mental health difficulties. 

Rollercoaster run two support groups, one in North Durham and one in South 

Durham, to offer a safe physical space for parents to meet, share experiences 

and support each other. They offer substantial support via a closed social media 

group, which also extends to telephone support and signposting to services. 

People have commented positively about the service one parent said ‘I have 

learnt so much from all the different agencies to help support my daughter. Still 

on the rollercoaster on the up at the moment, but always anxious about what’s 

around the corner.’ Another parent commenting that the ‘Rollercoaster group has 

been such a positive experience for me as my concerns and experiences have 

been taken seriously. I really feel very blessed to be part of it. Thank you 

everyone.’ 

Page 48



23 

 

 Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) of the multi-agency response 

to domestic abuse in Durham 

The Health and Wellbeing Board was appraised of 

the outcomes of the Joint Targeted Area Inspection 

of domestic abuse in Durham. The Board has been 

challenged to think differently about the voice of the 

child in decision making processes.  The HWB has 

been keen to ensure that young people are heard 

and listened to in all priority areas, and it has held a 

specific session with young people about what is 

important to them.  

Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership 

The safety of vulnerable children is a priority for the HWB, and the board endorsed 

the improved arrangements introduced to safeguard and protect the welfare of 

children across County Durham.  

Following the introduction of the Children and 

Social Work Act 2017, the Local Safeguarding 

Children Board (LSCB), set up by the local 

authority, was replaced by the Durham 

Safeguarding Children Partnership (DSCP) which 

is now led by three statutory safeguarding partners; Durham County Council, 

Durham Constabulary, and the Clinical Commissioning Groups. Under the new 

legislation the DSCP provides strong joined up leadership to deliver effective 

safeguarding arrangements, in line with the statutory guidance set out in ‘Working 

Together to Safeguard Children (2018)’. 

Area Action Partnership (AAP) Projects 

The HWB acknowledged the work of the AAPs to address the HWB priorities 

detailed in the JHWS, at a local level. Examples of the work relating to protecting 

people from harm are: 

• Spennymoor Area Action Partnership provided £10,554 for The Cornforth 

Partnership to deliver the Chrysalis programme in its area. The programme is 

built upon an existing pilot scheme, further developing the programme which 

supports children, young people and their families who are survivors of 

Priority 5: Protect vulnerable people 
from harm

Page 49

https://www.thenorthernecho.co.uk/search/?search=Spennymoor&topic_id=2508
https://www.thenorthernecho.co.uk/search/?search=Spennymoor&topic_id=2508


24 

 

domestic abuse. The project takes a 

‘whole family’ approach in supporting the 

family to develop better relationships and 

coping strategies to recover from the 

traumatic experience of living in an 

abusive home.  The programme provides 

a motivational course to support female 

survivors of domestic abuse, one-to-one mentoring for young people, 

diversionary family activities and school workshops covering healthy 

relationships.  

 

• The Just for Women Centre is a 

small independent not-for-profit 

organisation founded to help women in 

the community who suffer from mental 

health issues, are survivors of abuse, first 

time offenders or long term unemployed. 

Stanley AAP and partners have 

supported them to secure a new base fit for their activities and business 

expansion. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



25 

 

 

Macmillan Joining the Dots County Durham 

The Health and Wellbeing Board 

agreed to consult on options for a 

new service between Macmillan 

Joining the Dots and public health 

to support people living with cancer. 

The Service was launched in 

January 2019 and is delivering a 

new non-clinical needs service 

which supports patients, their family (including support to children and young people 

who are affected by a family member having cancer) or carers to live with/beyond 

cancer, or provide end of life/palliative care and bereavement support. 

 

Priority 6: Support people to die in the 
place of their choice with the care and 
support they need

Case study 

On referral from the Macmillan Information Centre in Bishop Auckland support 

staff met L, who had been diagnosed with prostate cancer since 2016, which was 

untreated due to conflicting heath issues. In December 2017 L was told that the 

cancer had spread to his bones and he had about 6 months to live. 

L asked for support with finance to get incontinence pants which he currently 

purchased himself. The team applied to Wellbeing for Life for a Micro Grant to 

purchase some incontinence pants. This was approved, and L was given 10 

packs which were picked up from the pharmacy and delivered to L.  

After a couple of appointments staff noticed that L was struggling with his health 

and maybe needed some clinical intervention from a nurse. At his previous 

clinical appointment, he had been told that a referral would be made to the 

Macmillan nurse.  On investigation, it was found that this had not happened. The 

staff member arranged for this to occur, and L was booked an with a Macmillan 

nurse. As L moves towards the end of his life, the team are starting to look at any 

arrangements that need to be made with regard his will and finances as he has a 

partner of 37 years but is not married.   

 

Page 51



26 

 

Preventing Unnecessary Hospital Admissions 

Through the one year Health and 

Wellbeing System Plan, the HWB 

endorsed the introduction of new 

improved systems which prevent 

unnecessary hospital admissions and 

help people to live at home for their end of 

life care; though the provision of a 7-day 

service that offers support and advice. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case study 

Patient A was referred to Derwentside East Teams Around Patients by a nurse 

practitioner who felt the patients breathing was laboured, and with a history of 

falls, their carer was struggling to move and handle patient A. It was felt that if 

patient A’s health continued to decline a hospital admission would be necessary.  

A community staff nurse assessed patient A and fast tracked them for continuing 

healthcare, a profiling bed and pressure relieving mattress were delivered and the 

Weekend Support Service for Vulnerable People were asked to visit that same 

day. The care package was increased and the patient was closely monitored via 

a virtual ward. The patient’s care requirements were discussed and actions were 

agreed. In this instance, an avoidable hospital admission was prevented and the 

patient’s wishes to remain at home for end of life care were respected. 

Page 52



27 

 

Challenges for County Durham 

Whilst a lot of work has been done to improve the health and wellbeing of the 

population, the HWB still faces some challenges over the forthcoming year and 

beyond, which will require a long term concerted effort. 

A new JHWS for 2020-25 is being developed, which includes a review of the current 

priorities, the development of new key ambitions, new priorities and a performance 

framework. The JHWS will inform ‘Vision 2035’, the county’s new local plan, and will 

align with the director of public health’s annual report. A key challenge is reducing 

the numbers of people smoking tobacco. Currently 14.2 per cent of adults in County 

Durham smoke compared to the England average of 14.9 per cent and a North East 

average of 16.2 per cent. The ambition is to achieve 5 per cent by 2025. 

The future HWB work programme will be based on the areas identified in the Joint 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-25 and the key performance indicator areas for 

improvement as follows: 

➢ The percentage of mothers with tobacco dependency in pregnancy is higher 

than national and regional averages. 

➢ Increasing the percentage of patients seen with face to face second contact 

within 9 weeks of referral to CAMHS. 

➢ Breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks is below national and regional rates. 

➢ There is a large inequality in levels of dental disease in 5-year olds across the 

county. 

➢ The percentage of children aged 4-5 and 10-11 with an unhealthy weight is 

above national averages. 

➢ Alcohol-specific hospital admissions for under-18’s is above the national rate. 

➢ The suicide rate is above national and regional averages. 

➢ Falls, injuries and hip fractures in the over 65’s are above national and 

regional averages.  

➢ The gap in employment rate for those with a long-term health condition is 

above national and regional averages. 

The HWB also continue to face long term wider system challenges including: 

➢ Enabling people, as they live longer, to live their additional years in good 

health. 

➢ Reducing the variations in healthy life expectancy and improving healthy life 

expectancy across the county. 

➢ Ongoing austerity remains including the threat to public health funding 

remains, and the HWB and its constituent members have lobbied government 

to protect this budget, which could see £19m taken from County Durham. 

➢ Addressing the wider determinants of health, including where people live, 

work, learn and play will be key to reducing health inequalities. 

Page 53



28 

 

Appendix 1 - The HWB Partners - Membership 

• Durham County Council (DCC): 

▪ Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health Services. 

▪ Portfolio Holder for Transformation. 

▪ Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People’s Services. 

▪ Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services. 

▪ Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services. 

▪ Director of Public Health. 

▪ Director of Integrated Community Serices (joint with DCC and Health). 

• Healthwatch County Durham. 

• North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group. 

• Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group. 

• Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust. 

• County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust. 

• South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust. 

• North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust. 

• Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust. 

• Office of the Police, Crime and Victims Commissioner. 

• County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service. 
 

 
www.durham.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 
www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk 

 
https://www.stsft.nhs.uk/ 

 
www.durhamdaleseasingt
onsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk 

www.ddfire.gov.uk 

 

 
www.healthwatchcountyd
urham.co.uk 

 

 
www.cddft.nhs.uk 

 

 
www.nth.nhs.uk 
 

 

www.tewv.nhs.uk 

 

 
www.hdft.nhs.uk 

 

www.durham-
pcc.gov.uk 

 

Page 54

http://www.durham.gov.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
https://www.stsft.nhs.uk/
https://www.stsft.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.ddfire.gov.uk/
http://www.ddfire.gov.uk/
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
https://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
https://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.durham-pcc.gov.uk/
http://www.durham-pcc.gov.uk/
http://www.durham-pcc.gov.uk/
http://www.durham-pcc.gov.uk/


             

       

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 17 September 2019 

Learning Disabilities and Transforming 

Care Update - Durham 

 

Report of NHS Durham, Darlington and Teesside Learning 
Disability and Mental Health Partnership 

Donna Owens, Strategic Partnership Manager, North Durham 
Clinical Commissioning Group / Learning Disability Lead Manager  

Mike Brierley, Director - Learning Disabilities and Mental Health 
Commissioning, North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an update in relation to 
the progress against the Transforming Care Programme and local 
implementation. 

Recommendations  
 

2 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 
 
(a) Note the content of the report and local progress 

 
(b) Continue to support the collaborative development of new models 

of community care and support for this client group 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



Background 

3 Following the Winterbourne View scandal a national programme was 
launched aimed at reducing reliance on long stay learning disability 
hospitals. NHS England committed to a programme of closing 
inappropriate and outmoded inpatient facilities and establishing stronger 
support in the community. ‘Building the Right Support’ (2015) set out 
key requirements for commissioners and providers to further develop 
strong local leadership and build a new generation of community-based 
services. 

 
Progress 

4 In order to ensure that the community model is effective and robust in 
Durham, we have worked jointly across health and social care to 
develop a number of initiatives aimed at increasing the availability of 
good quality safe housing and support, particularly for those people with 
more complex needs. 

5 The recent launch of the Durham Joint Commissioning Strategy for 
Adults and Young People with Learning Disabilities has brought 
together a number of strategic aims to be delivered to ultimately 
improve outcomes and quality of life for people with a learning disability 
and/or autism through the development of more person-centered 
community based care, support and housing.  

6 The introduction of our NHS Learning Disability and Mental Health 
Partnership has prioritised the implementation of a case management 
function that provides dedicated management support to people who 
are within inpatient settings and also those people in the community in 
receipt of healthcare.  Alongside this, supported through joint 
investment from the two Durham Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) and Transforming Care, we have also mobilised a Provider 
Liaison Team that supports providers within the community who may be 
experiencing challenges in the care that they are providing to people 
due to their complexity, or to people and families in their own homes. 
The teams offer specialist advice and support, formulating strategies 
and techniques to prevent crisis and help people remain at home, often 
preventing avoidable admissions to hospital. 
 

7 The commitment to reduce the number of specialist inpatient beds 
across the North East and North Cumbria has been a challenge. There 
continues to be a pressure on admissions to learning disability inpatient 
settings which can be attributed to a number of issues such as 
avoidable crisis; lack of safe place or as in recent weeks, the closure of 
Whorlton Hall and the associated impact on surrounding inpatient beds 
to accommodate displaced patients.  
 

Page 56



8 In order to add more timely intervention opportunities for professionals 
and providers in preventing avoidable admission and/or crisis, the Care 
and Treatment Review process and Adult Complex Care Support 
Registers remain an essential mechanism to assessing risk and 
mobilising support. More recently the Complex Care Support Register 
process is being implemented across children and young people, 
enabling support to be determined and coordinated for families and 
schools with a multi-agency approach. This is essential in preventing 
children young people from being admitted to hospital and from being 
excluded from education. 
 

9 There have continued to be a number of successful discharges from 
inpatient settings, notably for some people who have been in various 
hospital settings for a large part of their lives, many since childhood. 
Quality of life outcomes for people who have left hospital are evident, 
with people living more inclusively in their community. Whilst we 
continue to develop more individualised care and support for people, 
this does prove to be more expensive to commission.  
 

10 Ensuring we achieve quality and value for money through working 
collaboratively with our provider market is essential. Close monitoring of 
care packages through more individual reviews, quality assurance 
compliance and contract frameworks are all areas where we are 
increasing our combined resources.    
 

11 Inpatient capacity across Durham has reduced significantly and 
includes the closure of beds provided at Whorlton Hall.  Alternatives to 
offer specialist care and support for people who require a phased 
approach to their discharge to the community are being considered with 
Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV), this 
includes patients who are subject to restriction but require a 
rehabilitative response that could be provided in a less restrictive 
setting.     
 

12 Table 1 shows the number of patients within CCG commissioned 
inpatient care and those within Specialised Commissioning (SC) 
commissioned inpatient care, alongside the individual planned 
discharge dates for each patient. Whilst the indications are that the 
discharges will be achieved for those people in CCG commissioned 
inpatient beds by Q4, (in line with CCG Planning Guidance) the 
discharge of patients currently within specialised beds remain at risk 
based on current individual patient profiles and indicative discharge 
dates. This can be as a result of legal restriction, clinical presentation, 
or delays in identifying suitable accommodation and support.   

 
 
 

Page 57



Table 1 

*Specialised Commissioning (SC) rating subject to further validation with NHSE 

13 The number of inpatients within learning disability inpatient settings has 
reduced significantly, for those patients who are admitted for 
assessment and treatment, their plans for discharge are closely 
monitored and this has seen length of stay reduced overall. 

 
14 The health inequalities experienced by people with a learning disability 

and/or autism are stark; people with a learning disability are four times 
more likely to die of something which could have been prevented than 
the general population (Disability Rights Commission, 2006), they will 
often have poorer physical and mental health than other people. Public 
Health England says that every day about 30,000 to 35,000 adults with 
a learning disability are taking psychotropic medicines, when they do 
not have the health conditions the medicines are meant to be 
prescribed for. 

  
15 An example of the work underway in one of these areas, STOMP 

(Stopping the Over Medication of People with a Learning Disability) 
shows the progress that has been made on collecting data about the 
trends and numbers of patients in Durham who are prescribed 
psychotropic medication for management of behaviour that challenges.  
A total of 5253 patients were identified as having learning disabilities or 
autism (or both) in the two CCGs.  Of these, 1920 patients (36.5%) 
were identified as taking a psychotropic medication, with a total of 3262 
medications prescribed.  This is higher than the national average of 
30%. 
 

16 Following a successful bid for first phase funding through the 
Transforming Care Programme we have commenced a structured 
psychotropic medication review service for relevant patients who are 
registered with an in scope member GP practice with the aim of 
improving the safety of these medications by reducing prescribing, 
amending primary care clinical records and making suggestions for 
monitoring requirements.  This work will also scope the extent of 
additional services that may be required for patients.  
 

 

 

Southern 
CCH 

CCG 
Rating 

SC 
Rati
ng* 

Total inpatients Planned Discharges 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Inpatient numbers as at 
1/8/19 

CCG SC 
Adults 

CCG SC CCG SC CCG SC CCG SC 

DDES G A 2 8 1 0 0 1 0 3 1 2 

North 
Durham 

G A 5 9 2 1 0 2 1 1 2 0 

Page 58



17 The Durham Darlington and Tees Mental Health and Learning Disability 
Partnership has set out the key priorities for delivery across the 
Southern CCG Collaborative footprint in relation to Learning Disability 
and Autism. This will further consolidate a number of shared key 
themes identified for action in relation to:   
 

(a) Autism Diagnosis and Support 
(b) CAMHS Pathways 
(c) Personal Health Budgets 
(d) Health Equality  

 
The ‘Partnership’ has provided a unique model that presents system 

leadership across the CCG’s and our Provider Trust. This coupled with 

the level of integration and leadership across Integrated Care System / 

Integrated Care Partnership (ICS/ICP) will further strengthen the 

commitment to deliver improvements across Learning Disabilities and/or 

Autism for adults and children across Durham. 

 
 

Contact: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Donna Owens Tel:  01913744168 

 

Page 59



 

 

Implications 

 

  

Legal Implications 

None identified as a result of this report. 

Finance 

None to report as a result of this report. 

Consultation 

None required as a result of this report. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None to report as a result of this report. 

Human Rights 

None specific as a result of this report. 

Crime and Disorder 

None to report as a result of this report. 

Staffing 

None to report as a result of this report. 

Accommodation 

Noted the interface with regard to the Durham Joint Commissioning Strategy 

for Adults and Young People with Learning Disabilities Risk. 

Procurement 

None as a result of this report. 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



Reducing

Smoking in 

Pregnancy -

a health and 

social 

problem

North East & North Cumbria 

Integrated Care System
1

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 8



ICP Central

David Hambleton
Chief executive 

officer

South Tyneside 

CCG

Fadi Khalil
Clinical Vice 

Chair/ GP 

executive

Sunderland 

CCG

Jane Robinson
Director of Adult 

and Health 

Social Care 

Durham 

County Council

The NE&NC team

ICP South

Ahmad Khouja Medical Director

Tees, Esk and 

Wear Valleys 

NHS  FT

Ann Workman
Director of Adult 

and Health 

Social Care 

Stockton 

Borough Council

Julie Gillon
Chief executive 

officer

North Tees and 

Hartlepool FT

2

P
age 62



I am more likely to be 

miscarried, stillborn, have 

a low birth weight, be 

preterm, have a heart 

defect or die suddenly

I am more likely to get 

respiratory problems, 

infections and be obese

I am more likely have 

behavioural problems, have 

poor school attainment and 

drop out sooner

I can expect to earn less, 

have more criminal 

contacts, live in an area 

of greater poverty, and 

smoke myself

3

P
age 63



Scale of the problem nationally

Smoking during pregnancy leads to expensive 

obstetric healthcare and long-term health problems

65,000

10%

The number of babies 

born to mothers who 

smoke every year in 

England

Percentage of women in 

England who smoke at 

delivery in England

The aim 

nationally is to 

reduce smoking 

in pregnancy to 

less than 6%

4

P
age 64



The local cost of smoking in pregnancy

5

£2.7m Annual obstetric costs in North East 

of managing women who smoke 

Our human cost

3 – 5 babies stillborn

1 sudden infant deaths

Up to 2 neonatal deaths

32 - 53 preterm babies

96-160 babies born at a low birth weight

P
age 65



Scale of the problem: the local challenge 

0 3 6 9 12 15 18

Target

England

NE&C

% women smoking at delivery 

The Yale Programme

6

NE&C have a particularly  long way 

to go to achieve the ambition

P
age 66



Using the Yale Methodology

1. The problem

2. The objective

3. Root cause analysis

4. Alternate strategies

5. Compare strategies

6. Select strategy

7. Implement

8. Evaluate 

7

P
age 67



Selecting the strategy 

❑ Clear patient-centered script

❑ “Are you addicted to nicotine or tobacco dependent?”

❑ Clear addiction-based clinical pathway

❑ Carbon Monoxide monitoring critical 

❑ Build the economic case for ownership across the whole system
8

CULTURE AND COMMUNICATION

P
age 68



Building the products

Developed a new script 
• Can be used by all professionals in the 

North East 

• Co-produced

New clinical pathway for smoking 

dependency
• CO ‘monitor first, ask after’ approach

• Automatic referral to smoking 

cessation clinics (opt-out) 

• On-going support to prevent relapse 

post-delivery 

• By also supporting partners who 

smoke, we support the mother and 

unborn child.

The economic argument
• Individualised

9

P
age 69



Creating our implementation plan

Deliverable Timescale

Products to address nicotine addiction
• Script

• Revised clinical pathway

• Economic case

• Letter to all acute Trusts/CCG CEOS re CO monitors

July 2019

Soft launch in Acute Trusts August 2019

Official launch at the ICS Health Strategy 

Group
20 Sept 2019

Quarterly review of data and updates to the 

HSG 
Q3 2019

10

P
age 70



What are we doing in County 

Durham to reduce tobacco 

dependency in pregnancy?

Tammy Smith

Public Health Advanced Practitioner

P
age 71



In County Durham:

• Smoking at time of delivery in County Durham remains 

significantly higher (16.8%) than England (10.4%) (NHS 

Digital, Sept 18). 

• There is greater variance between the CCGs. DDES 

smoking at time of delivery was 21.4%; North Durham 

10.9% (NHS digital, Sept 18). 

• A County Durham strategic plan to reduce tobacco 

dependency in pregnant women was developed in 

January 2019 which also aligns with the national ambition 

of 6% or less.

P
age 72



A challenging ambition?

P
age 73



Since January 2019:

• A multi agency working group has been established with clear terms 

of reference linking in with regional work that is ongoing

• A multi agency action plan has been developed with 5 clear 

objectives

• Facilitated focus groups have been held with pregnant smokers to 

gain insights into their experiences

• We have implemented a narrative change from smoking in pregnancy 

to tobacco dependency in pregnancy in line with the findings from the 

Yale work

• CO readings are now taken at every midwife appointment

• CO monitors have been made available from CDDFT and are 

included on local inventory lists

• Dual treatment of pregnant women now takes place in DDES area, 

which is proven to be a more effective treatment plan

P
age 74



• 12 weeks post partum support to be included within the new Stop 

Smoking Service contract from April 2020

• Additional resource has been provided from the Specialist Stop 

Smoking Service

• A focus on smoke free homes has been included within the Health 

Visiting contract to ensure support is available after the baby has 

arrived

• Looking to deliver place based work in Shildon and discussions are 

ongoing to work with community groups to take this forward

• There is no longer an opt-out option for women at the point of contact 

with midwifes.  Women can opt out with the specialist service only

• A marketing and communications plan is currently in development 

which will look at how we can work with regional partners such as 

FRESH and the LMS to make the most out of any marketing 

campaigns

P
age 75



We need to:

• Get the marketing and communications plan right to make sure it has 

the most impact for our local populations and is relevant for whole 

populations as well as pregnant women

• Improve the process for making referrals from maternity to the stop 

smoking service to make this more efficient

• Educate practitioners across the workforce on framing the 

conversation with mum on tobacco dependency

• Ensure clear messages are made available on e-cigarettes and vaping 

and that this is recorded as non-smoking

• Link with GPs and sexual health services to ensure clear and 

consistent messages are provided in relation to pre-conception advice

• Put in place an audit process to identify any barriers and potential for 

improvements

What else needs to be done?

P
age 76



We need to:

• ensure that organisational representation continues at the 

TDiP Working Group

• maintain organisations support and delivery for 

communications campaigns led by the TDiP Working 

Group

• support the delivery of targeted place based work such as 

working with Shildon Health Express

• support the strategic plan and implementation of any 

recommendations which may result

What is needed?

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Health and Welbeing Board 

17 September 2019 

Alcohol CLeaR Peer Assessment Report 

 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of the report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board 
with the findings of the Alcohol CLeaR Peer Assessment on local 
alcohol partnership work (appendix 2) and the accompanying action 
plan (appendix 3) developed in response to the recommendations within 
the peer assessment report. 

Executive summary 

2 Durham was approached by Public Health England (PHE) in June 2018 
to be a pilot area for Alcohol CLeaR (Challenge, Leadership and 
Results) and subsequently we completed a self-assessment (Sept 
2018) and peer assessment (Oct 2019). 

3 Durham has also contributed extensively to the field-testing evaluation 
and the final Alcohol CLeaR process and documentation that will be 
launched by PHE in Autumn 2019.  

4 It was noted throughout the peer assessment report that our own 
scoring of evidence and achievements were largely in agreement with 
the peer assessment team and we were commended for our integrity in 
scoring so honestly. 

5 The peer report highlighted our robust partnership with political and 
senior officer buy-in. It notes how active the public health team is across 
the alcohol agenda and praised the breath of work provided as 
evidence. 

6 The report also highlighted several areas for improvement such as 
greater opportunities for senior and strategic engagement of NHS 
partners. It identifies the need to re-fresh our action plans and 
recognises several opportunities for more integrated or joint working in 
areas such as alcohol licensing, information sharing and 
commissioning.    

7 Work to address these concerns have progressed well and we have 
seen progress in all recommendations covered in the Alcohol CLeaR 

Page 79

Agenda Item 9



action plan.  The action plan is monitored by the Alcohol and Drug Harm 
Reduction Group.  

Recommendation(s) 

8 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

(a) Note the content of this report. 

(b) Receive an update on actions on harm due to alcohol at a future 
meeting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80



Background 

9 Alcohol-related harm is a major health problem. Alcohol use has health 
and social consequences borne by individuals, their families, and the 
wider community. Alcohol has a significant impact on a range health 
conditions and alcohol is seen as a factor in more than 60 medical 
conditions. The main health consequences of alcohol misuse are liver 
disease, cancers (liver, oral, oesophageal, gastric, colon, breast), 
hypertension, stroke, acute intoxication and injuries. 

10 It is estimated that 1.7% of adults in County Durham are dependent 
drinkers; this equates to around 7,000 people. This means County 
Durham is ranked in the top 30% of Local Authorities with the highest 
percentage of dependent drinkers.  

11 The alcohol CLeaR self-assessment tool and supporting materials have 
been produced by Public Health England (PHE) to support an evidence-
based response to preventing and reducing alcohol-related harm at 
local level.  It builds on the tobacco control CLeaR model and helps 
place-based alcohol partnerships to assess local arrangements and 
delivery plans.  

12 Grounded in local priorities and objectives, it recognises the importance 
of local areas overarching strategic aims and is split into three sections; 

• Challenging services – looking at delivery against the evidence 
base, identifying local innovation and learning  

• Leadership – for comprehensive and collaborative action - 
reviewing local vision and the governance supporting this, 
planning and commissioning arrangements and partnership 
working 

• Results – understanding local outcomes and progress against 
local priorities through analysis of key data 

13 The Alcohol CLeaR self-assessment is currently in a pilot phase that 
covers five areas testing the assessment tool and peer assessment 
process. 

Durham self-assessment and peer assessment 

14 Durham, through the Alcohol and Drug Harm Reduction Group, was 
approached by PHE to be a pilot area. To meet PHE deadlines for the 
pilot areas Durham submitted their self-assessment on 11 September 
2018 and held the peer assessment on 9 October 2018. 

 

Page 81



15 All peer assessment reports from the field testing sites have seen 
delays due to content, format and process issues. PHE has 
acknowledged the patience of field tester sites. The Durham peer 
assessment report was received 29 January 2019. 

16 Durham has contributed extensively to the field-testing evaluation and 
the final Alcohol CLeaR process and documentation that will be 
launched by PHE in Autumn 2019. 

Main findings from the peer assessment  

17 It was noted throughout the report that our own scoring of evidence and 
achievements were largely in agreement with the peer assessment 
team and we were commended for our integrity in scoring so honestly. 

18 This is visible in the close alignment of our scores in relation to the peer 
assessors scores in the spider chart below. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 82



19 The following bullet points provide an overview of what the peer 
assessors found: 

• Durham has a robust partnership with political and senior officer 
buy-in 

• Durham’s public health team is very active across the alcohol 
misuse agenda, and has strong support from the police and 
colleagues with a criminal justice remit 

• Key health partners (NHS) are not actively engaged strategically  

• Where there is evidence that health (NHS) are delivering 
interventions that reduce alcohol harm it appears that this activity 
is not joined up in a way that benefits partners and the population 
as a whole 

• Action plans supporting the strategy were described as either 
complete or static and examination of improvement against 
agreed priorities has not been rigorous recently 

• There have been difficulties for the community-based treatment 
services (tender and re-tendering) and performance was 
adversely affected as a result 

• Significant changes to the Alcohol Harm Reduction Unit have 
impacted on information sharing and joint working 

• Community neighbourhood teams and the Drug and Alcohol 
Recovery Service has worked to address visible homelessness in 
Durham City 

20 The following recommendations were made by the peer assessment: 

• An updated action/improvement plan should be produced to 
support your alcohol strategy 

• Rationalise local planning and commissioning processes at a 
senior level to ensure resources are identified and efficiently 
allocated across the partnership 

• Seek to align individual agency and partner priorities at strategic 
and operational levels 

• Increase engagement and ensure appropriate representation of 
NHS colleagues at relevant groups and commitment to the 
development and implementation of the refreshed action plan 

Page 83



• Jointly manage across the partnership the impact of anticipated 
but enforced changes to resources  

• Consider opportunities of an integrated approach to planning, 
commissioning and operational activity to encourage economies 
of scale and to make best use of available resource and capacity 

• Supporting the delivery of the Preventing Ill-Health CQUIN 
(Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) to encourage health 
practitioners in secondary care settings to embed the 
identification of, and provision of brief advice addressing alcohol 
risk into local practice  

• Review the effectiveness of local pathways between secondary 
care and the community alcohol treatment system when alcohol 
dependence is identified 

• Public Health to develop a more meaningful involvement in the 
local licensing process 

• Ensure health consideration is actively embedded into the local 
Statement of Licensing Policy to help shape future plans 

• Develop systems for co-ordinated communications to help ensure 
consistency in messages linked to alcohol-related harm 

• Review the recording and uploading of information to the National 
Drug Treatment Monitoring System (NDTMS) by any partner who 
has direct involvement in the delivery of a recordable treatment 
episode to seek improvements  

• Engaging clinical champions to promote work to reduce alcohol 
harm across the NHS, particularly within secondary and primary 
care settings, supporting this agenda as a health priority. This 
approach could be taken forward by key strategic leaders on the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. 

21 Following the peer assessment Durham is now accredited to use the 
CLeaR logo on any of our alcohol harm reduction materials. 

 

 

Current Update 

Page 84



22 An action plan has been developed to capture the peer assessment 
recommendations and the Alcohol and Drug Harm Reduction Group 
monitor the Alcohol CLeaR action plan.   

23 We have seen progress in all recommendations. For example, work to 
engage strategic partners in the alcohol harm reduction agenda 
includes discussions with NHS colleagues. Representatives for the 
Alcohol and Drug Harm Reduction Group now include representatives 
from DDES Clinical Commissioning Group, County Durham and 
Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (Wellbeing for Life) and the CQUIN 
programme. These representatives have also been included in the 
refresh of the action plan feeding into the group to ensure awareness of 
work programme and opportunity for joint working.  County Durham 
Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service (DARS) work closely with NHS 
partners to ensure effective referral pathways to service including 
visiting patients in University Hospital North Durham (gastroenterology 
ward) and West Park Hospital. DARS also work with Tees, Esk and 
Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust and social care in the treatment and 
support of complex case clients (dual diagnosis).   

24 The report has been shared at key groups:  

• Public Health Senior Management Team (Feb 2019) 

• Adult and Health Services Senior Management Team (March 
2019) 

• Safe Durham Partnership Board (May 2019) 
 

25 The Alcohol and Drug Harm Reduction Group will continue to monitor 
and progress the Alcohol CLeaR action plan.  

Contact: Jane Sunter Public Health Strategic 
Manager (Living and Ageing Well)  
 
Sean Barry Public Health Practitioner 

Tel: 03000 266897  
 
 
Tel:  03000 265434 

   

  

Page 85



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Health & Social Care Act 2012 refers to Section 2B NHS Act 2006 which 

places a duty on each local authority to take such steps as it considers 

appropriate for improving the health of the people in its area. 

Finance 

No issues identified. 

Consultation 

Public Health will continue to consult with partners in the development and 

delivery of identified actions to reduce alcohol related harm. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Actions from this report are targeted to reduce the health inequalities of these 

people suffering from or impacted by alcohol related health harm. 

Human Rights 

No issues Identified. 

Crime and Disorder 

Actions from this report are targeted to reduce alcohol related crime and 

disorder. 

Staffing 

No issues identified.  

Accommodation 

No issues identified. 

Risk 

No corporate risk issues identified. 

Procurement 

The report encourages economies of scale and to make best use of available 

resource and capacity. 

  

Page 86



Appendix 2:  Durham Alcohol CLeaR Peer Assessment Report 

 

Attached as a separate document. 

 

Appendix 3:  Alcohol CLeaR Action Plan 

 

Attached as a separate document. 

 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

CLeaR thinking 

CLeaR system improvement model: 

achieving excellence in local alcohol 

harm reduction 

 

Peer Assessment Report 
Durham  
Date of visit: 09.10.18 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by Improving Performance in Practice (iPiP) 
 
 

 
 

Page 89



Title goes here as running header 

2 

Contents 

Contents 2 

Executive summary 3 

1.1 Headline messages from the alcohol CLeaR 3 
1.2 CLeaR opportunities – recommendations for strategic leaders 4 

CLeaR context 6 

2.1 Introduction to the model and purpose of the report 6 

2.2 CLeaR in Durham 6 

CLeaR opportunities 8 

3.1 Making the case for continued investment in reducing alcohol harm 8 

3.2 The extent of alcohol harm in County Durham 9 

CLeaR messages 12 

4.1 CLeaR evidence 12 

4.2 Leadership domain 13 
4.3 Challenge your services domain 16 
4.4 Results 21 

CLeaR results in detail 23 

5.1 Durham CLeaR profile 23 

5.2 Detailed comments on learning from your peer assessment 24 
5.3 Challenges facing Durham as identified by the peer assessment team at the visit 34 

CLeaR resources 36 

CLeaR next steps 40 

7.1 What happens next 40 

7.2 CLeaR contacts 40 
7.3 Durham participants at the peer assessment visit 40 

Page 90



Main title goes here as running header 

3 

Executive summary 

Durham completed the alcohol CLeaR self-assessment and subsequently requested 

and received a peer assessment to validate the findings of the self-assessment. Details 

of the learning coming out of the peer assessment process are set out in the body of 

this report.  

 

1.1 Headline messages from the alcohol CLeaR 

 Durham has a robust partnership with political and senior officer buy-in. Those 

engaged, at both the strategic and operational level, demonstrated an 

understanding of the benefits for the wider partnership of reducing alcohol-

related harm. 

 Durham’s public health team is very active across the alcohol misuse agenda, 

and has strong support from the police and colleagues with a criminal justice 

remit as reducing alcohol harm is seen as an essential pre-requisite for the Safer 

Durham Partnership in the achievement of their ambition for reducing crime, 

disorder and vulnerability in the locality.  

 However key health partners, did not contribute to the CLeaR process and are 

not actively engaged strategically. Even where there is evidence that health are 

delivering interventions that reduce alcohol harm it appears that this activity is not 

necessarily perceived as being part of the bigger picture nor joined up 

operationally in a way that benefits partners and the population as a whole.  

 The existing alcohol strategy is still in date, however the action plans supporting 

the strategy’s implementation were described as either complete or static. The 

findings from the CLeaR process will inform the development of a new 

partnership action plan.  

 Governance for this agenda sits with the Community Safety Partnership. You 

advised that there are established structures to ensure leaders are kept informed 

of progress. Notwithstanding clarity about lines of accountability we heard that in 

practice, examination of improvement against agreed priorities has not been 

rigorous recently. The re-fresh of the local alcohol action plan presents an 

opportunity to review the metrics agreed to monitor progress against key 

objectives and consider how best to ensure there is continuous and thorough 

scrutiny of the agenda. 

 The last few years have been difficult for the community-based treatment 

services following problems with the provider initially awarded the service 

contract. The subsequent temporary contract re-let, re-tender process and award 

were described as a “bumpy road” for service users, local services, 

commissioners and partners. Performance was adversely affected as a result of 

this disruption, and although progress towards a recovery has been made, 

especially in the growth of successful completions, numbers in treatment 

Page 91



Main title goes here as running header 

4 

continue to fall and the rate of unmet need among the dependent population 

remains a concern. 

 There have been significant changes to the Alcohol Harm Reduction Unit over 

the past 12 months that have impacted on information sharing and joint working 

around the alcohol agenda. 

 Work with the community neighbourhood teams and the Drug and Alcohol 

Recovery Service has worked to address visible homeless in Durham City, but 

this needs to be maintained and reviewed. 

1.2 CLeaR opportunities – recommendations for strategic leaders 

Senior leaders in the local alcohol partnership are encouraged to consider the following 

in local planning for improvement:  

 

 An updated action/improvement plan should be produced to support your alcohol 

strategy and the good ongoing work to reduce alcohol-related harm. Refreshing 

the local plan presents an opportunity to reinvigorate wider partner interest in the 

agenda, re-establish a shared local vision and to rationalise local planning and 

commissioning processes at a senior level to ensure resources are identified and 

efficiently allocated across the partnership. This plan should seek to align 

individual agency and partner priorities at strategic and operational levels. 

 Political leaders and senior decision makers within the council are encouraged to 

use contact with their counterparts in health to increase engagement and ensure 

appropriate representation at relevant strategic boards and commitment to the 

development and subsequent implementation of the refreshed action plan.  

 Strong partnership relationships will be required to jointly manage the impact of 

anticipated but enforced changes to resources. Promotion of a well-integrated 

approach to planning, commissioning and operational activity may encourage 

economies of scale and assist the partnership to make best use of available 

resource and capacity. 

 Supporting the delivery of the Preventing Ill-Health CQUIN provides an 

opportunity for senior leaders to encourage health practitioners in secondary care 

settings to embed the identification of, and provision of brief advice addressing 

alcohol risk into local practice and to promote a review of the effectiveness of 

local pathways between secondary care and the community alcohol treatment 

system when alcohol dependence is identified. 

 Public Health expressed ambition for more meaningful involvement in the local 

licensing process. Investigating how this is managed successfully in other areas 

of the country and ensuring health consideration is actively embedded into the 

local Statement of Licensing Policy may provide useful insight and help shape 

future plans. 

 A strategically agreed benchmark for co-ordinated communications will help 

ensure consistency in messages linked to alcohol-related harm. 

Page 92



Main title goes here as running header 

5 

 Public Health should engage with any partner who has direct involvement in the 

delivery of a recordable treatment episode to understand how such activity can 

best be recorded and uploaded to NDTMS. 

 Engaging clinical champions to promote work to reduce alcohol harm across the 

NHS, particularly within secondary and primary care settings, could support this 

agenda being seen as a health priority. This approach could be taken forward by 

key strategic leaders on the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

  

Page 93



Main title goes here as running header 

6 

CLeaR context 

2.1 Introduction to the model and purpose of the report 

CLeaR is a system improvement model which provides local government, the NHS, the 

police and other partners with a structured, evidence-based approach to achieving 

excellence in preventing and reducing harm from alcohol at the local level. 

 

The model comprises a self-assessment questionnaire allowing review of local 

arrangements and activity to reduce alcohol harm against NICE guidelines, backed by 

an optional challenge process from a team of external peer assessors. The purpose of 

the peer assessment is to examine the scores awarded and evidence selected by the 

locality when completing their self-assessment and to provide objective feedback on 

local performance against the model. 

 

The report offers a number of recommendations (CLeaR messages) and provides the 

assessment team`s revised scores, accompanied by detailed feedback on specific 

areas of the model (CLeaR detail). In addition we suggest some resources you may find 

useful in further developing your work to prevent and reduce alcohol harm (CLeaR 

resources). 

 

This CLeaR peer assessment presents an opportunity to validate the findings coming 

out of your self-assessment; offering both challenge and assurance to the partnership to 

support you prioritise the actions identified for inclusion in your improvement plan.  

 

2.2 CLeaR in Durham 

Durham invited the CLeaR peer assessment team to validate your self-assessment 

process as a benchmarking exercise for the local alcohol strategic partnership. It is 

anticipated that learning from the CLeaR process will help shape your local action plan 

for improvement.  

 

This report summarises the conclusions of the CLeaR peer assessment team following 

our visit on October 9th 2018. The report sets Durham’s challenge in context, providing 

information on the impact of alcohol misuse across the locality. 

 

In carrying out the peer assessment we built on the local alcohol partnership’s insights 

into areas of strength as well as opportunities for further development and improvement, 

as recognised through your self-assessment. The peer assessment team endorse many 

aspects of the learning coming out of your internal CLeaR discussions and the most 

significant of these findings have been detailed in this report, but we also focus on the 

Page 94



Main title goes here as running header 

7 

areas where our rating of your local evidence diverges with your scoring, and offer 

some explanation for this variation.  

 

This difference in how the local evidence of achievement is rated probably reflects our 

different perspectives. Local partners will have used the CLeaR to identify potential 

priorities for further action based on an indepth understanding of local partnership 

working, current resources and the needs of your local population, whilst the 

observations of our peer assessment team have the benefit of detachment and are 

framed by an awareness of how similar issues have been dealt with in other localities.  

 

Senior leaders, commissioners and operational managers based in the local agencies 

represented on your alcohol partnership are encouraged to consider all the findings 

from the alcohol CLeaR system improvement approach, building on identified strengths 

and creating opportunities to address local structures and delivery arrangements that 

have been identified as potential areas for development, in the production of a local 

action plan for improvement. To this end, as well as reporting on the opportunities for 

development you identified through the self-assessment we also include a few 

recommendations for future action from the perspective of the visiting peer assessment 

team which the local partnership may wish to consider in your improvement planning. 

 

Special thanks go to Sean Barry for his assistance in organising the visit and his time 

and energy when we were in Durham. Thanks also go to all the other local partners who 

gave their time as participants in the peer assessment visit for their enthusiasm and 

willingness to engage with the process. This was greatly appreciated.  

 

  

Page 95



Main title goes here as running header 

8 

CLeaR opportunities 

3.1 Making the case for continued investment in reducing alcohol harm  

The public health burden of alcohol is wide ranging, relating to health, social or 

economic harms. These can be tangible, direct costs (including costs to the health, 

criminal justice and welfare systems), or indirect costs (including the costs of lost 

productivity due to absenteeism, unemployment, decreased output or lost working years 

due to premature pension or death). The consequences of alcohol misuse are borne by 

individuals, their families, and the wider community. The figure below sets out the range 

of Public Health Outcomes Framework indicators that alcohol impacts upon. By taking 

action to reduce alcohol-related harm at the local level, it is possible to improve the 

positive outcomes achieved across systems. 

 

 
 

Mechanisms for reducing consumption, such as the delivery of identification and brief 

advice (IBA), can produce net savings particularly to the NHS where it is estimated to 

save £27 per patient per year. Similarly, alcohol care teams in hospital settings can 

reduce the demand for hospital services. Optimally resourced teams can return £3.85 

for every £1 invested by reducing length of stay and re-admission. Alcohol treatment is 

also a cost effective intervention, with every £1 invested in alcohol treatment generating 

a social return of £26 over 10 years. Furthermore, investment in treatment for alcohol-

only clients can generate significant savings at the local level in terms of preventing 

crime and its average social and economic cost.  

Page 96



Main title goes here as running header 

9 

Your commissioner will have access to the alcohol and drug Social Return on 

Investment and Value for Money tools and resources published by PHE. These will help 

you demonstrate that local activity to reduce alcohol harm is generating savings over 

time.  

 

3.2 The extent of alcohol harm in County Durham  

Alcohol-related health risk is determined 

by the volume of alcohol consumed and 

the frequency of drinking occasions. 

Broadly, the more someone drinks, the 

greater the risk. As such, understanding 

levels and patterns of alcohol 

consumption in your local area can help 

you plan the activity needed to reduce 

alcohol-related harm. Dependent drinkers 

have a particularly high impact on NHS, 

police, criminal justice, and social care 

service costs per head.  

 

In Durham it is estimated that alcohol 

consumption is currently at 7 litres per 

capita1, representing an annual average 

expenditure on alcohol of £361.44 per 

person.2  

 

Available data about drinking behaviour3 

in the locality indicates that the 10.5% of the adult population in Durham reporting 

abstinence from alcohol is lower than the national and regional average. The proportion 

of dependent drinkers in Durham, at 1.7%, is higher than the national but slightly lower 

than the north east regional average rate of dependence. The data also indicates that a 

higher than national and regional average proportion of the population, 33.8% of adults, 

report drinking more than the Chief Medical Officers’ low risk guideline of 14 units of 

alcohol per week, putting them at increased risk of harm. Similarly the proportion of 

those who report binge drinking in Durham, at 23.9%, is higher than the proportion 

identified nationally and regionally.  

 

                                            
 
 
1
 This is based on the volume of pure alcohol purchased in off-trade settings and the number of adults living in the area. 

2
 If this per capita consumption level is adjusted to take into account the proportion of the local adult population known to 

abstain from drinking alcohol (10.5%), per capita consumption rises to 7.8 litres per drinking adult with an annual expenditure 

per head of £403.84.  
3
 Public Health Profiles: Local Alcohol Profiles for England: consumption and availability indicators 

At a glance  

Consumption of pure alcohol per 

capita per year (based on off-trade 

sales) 

7 litres 

Proportion of the adult population 

estimated to be abstainers 

10.5% 

Proportion of the adult population 

drinking above low risk guideline 

33.8% 

Rate of alcohol-related hospital 

admission episodes (narrow 

measure) 

754 per 100,000 

Estimated number of alcohol 

dependent adults 

7,174 

Estimated number of children living 

with an alcohol dependent adult 

2,489 

Proportion of Children in Need 

assessments that record alcohol as 

a contributory factor 

13.2% 

Page 97

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/alcohol-and-drug-misuse-prevention-and-treatment-guidance#social-return-on-investment-and-value-for-money-tools
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/alcohol-and-drug-misuse-prevention-and-treatment-guidance#social-return-on-investment-and-value-for-money-tools


Main title goes here as running header 

10 

Some binge drinkers are alcohol dependent, and there is good evidence for specialist 

alcohol treatment addressing dependence. However, most binge drinkers are not 

dependent, so wouldn’t necessarily benefit from specialist treatment but may benefit 

from an alcohol brief intervention. The pattern of consumption in your locality, and the 

lower than national and regional average proportion of individuals reporting abstinence 

from alcohol suggests there may be an opportunity for health to work in partnership with 

the other responsible authorities to review how licensing can be used locally to influence 

the availability of alcohol to the general population.  

 

Hospital admission episodes in Durham for both alcohol-specific and alcohol-related 

conditions remain above the national, but below the regional, average. Although the 

former is currently on a downward trajectory, the trend is upward for the alcohol-related 

admission rate. In 2016/17 the rate of alcohol-related hospital admission episodes 

against the narrow measure (where the main cause for the admission to hospital was 

attributable to alcohol) was 754 per 100,000. In analysing hospital admission episodes 

by condition it is apparent from the incidence rates (which are all above the national but, 

in the main, below the regional average) that alcohol is having a harmful impact on 

population health in the geographical area. We heard that public health has ambitions to 

work with NHS partners to support an increase in capacity to identify alcohol-related ill-

health earlier and to deliver evidence-based interventions for those at risk in healthcare 

settings. This could support a reduction in the rate of hospital admissions due to alcohol 

in those drinking regularly at above low risk levels. 

 

The harmful consequences of alcohol dependence are not only experienced by the 

individual, but by their families and the wider community. Nationally alcohol misuse has 

been identified as a contributory risk factor in 18.4% of all the children in need 

assessments undertaken in 2017/18. In Durham alcohol was recorded as a risk factor in 

610 of the 4,637 children in need assessments undertaken during this period. This 

equates to 13.2% of all the assessments undertaken in year. More details on this 

cohort, the harms to children and potential responses can be found in the parental 

alcohol and drug use toolkit produced by PHE.  

 

Across the locality it is estimated there are around 1,390 alcohol dependent parents 

with approximately 2,500 children living with them. 77% of these parents are not 

engaged in specialist treatment. This is slightly above the national average rate of 

dependent parents not engaged in treatment (79%). There is an opportunity for public 

health and their commissioned providers to work more closely with Durham children’s 

services to agree an approach which supports the early identification of families affected 

by parental alcohol misuse and both encourages dependent adults to take action to 

address their drinking and supports affected children to achieve their full potential.  

 

7,174 adults (1.7% of the local population), are estimated to be dependent on alcohol in 

Durham. The proportion of dependent drinkers in Durham is higher than the national, 

Page 98

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/parental-alcohol-and-drug-use-understanding-the-problem
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/parental-alcohol-and-drug-use-understanding-the-problem


Main title goes here as running header 

11 

but marginally lower than the regional, average. Unmet need among this population, 

based on 2017/18 treatment figures, remains at 79%.  

 

The number of new alcohol-only clients presenting to treatment in Durham year on year 

continues to decline. Alcohol-only presentations have reduced by 19% since 2013/14, 

contrasting with new presentations for all other substances which have grown by 

approximately 15% in the same period. Durham participated in the inquiry conducted by 

PHE to better understand what was behind the national fall in numbers in alcohol 

treatment. Details of the findings with recommendations can be found in the report of 

this inquiry.  

 

The rate of successful completion of alcohol treatment with no representation within 6 

months, at 34% continues to improve and Durham performance is now above the 

regional rate, although it remains below the national average.  

 

High levels of unmet need can contribute to crime, welfare and social care costs, as well 

as health burden and may also affect productivity. Effective and accessible evidence-

based treatment for alcohol dependent adults is a cost-effective response to high levels 

of need and an essential element of a local integrated alcohol harm reduction strategy. 

The partnership is therefore encouraged to continue to work towards lowering the rate 

of unmet need and improving the outcomes achieved by those who access specialist 

alcohol treatment. 

 

Research shows that alcohol-related harm falls disproportionately on the poorest in 

society. The most deprived fifth of the population suffer: 

 two to three times greater loss of life attributable to alcohol  

 three to five times greater mortality due to alcohol-specific causes 

 two to five times more admissions to hospital because of alcohol. 

 

This is evident in Durham specific data contained in the Local Alcohol Profiles for 

England (LAPE), in particular in respect of death from chronic liver disease, alcohol-

specific mortality and the incidence rate of a range of alcohol-related health conditions. 

Continued investment in activity to prevent or reduce alcohol harm in the area will 

therefore support local ambition to reduce health inequalities. 

 

  

Page 99

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/alcohol-treatment-inquiry-summary-of-findings/phe-inquiry-into-the-fall-in-numbers-of-people-in-alcohol-treatment-findings
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-alcohol-profiles


Main title goes here as running header 

12 

CLeaR messages 

This chapter sets out your insights, summarises the strengths and good practices 

demonstrated by your alcohol partnership and also reflects the opportunities for further 

action that were identified both during the internal discussions informing the completion 

of the CLeaR self-assessment and at the subsequent peer assessment visit. 

 

4.1 CLeaR evidence 

There were many areas of agreement between the rating of the evidence for the CLeaR 

criteria as scored within the self-assessment and the ratings awarded by the visiting 

peer assessment team. Any differences between overall domain scores are shown in 

the bar chart and table below and the reasons for variation are set out within the 

narrative of this chapter with more detail in chapter 5. 

 

Bar chart comparing Durham self-assessment and peer assessment domain scores 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

78% 80% 

61% 

76% 75% 

56% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Leadership Challenge your services Results

self assessment peer assessment

Page 100



Main title goes here as running header 

13 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.2 Leadership domain 

Summary of findings 

You rated your evidence of achievement against the leadership criteria at 78% in the 

self-assessment. The peer assessment team largely agreed with your assessment and 

commend your integrity in scoring your evidence of achievement so honestly.  

 

What you told us - partnership insights 

 You told us that the alcohol agenda has the support of senior elected members, 

with the portfolio holder passionate about the agenda and helping communities 

overcome alcohol issues.  

 You described how local criminal justice partners address alcohol harm at the 

strategic level. For example, reducing the harm caused by drugs and alcohol is 

one of the priorities of the local Police, Crime and Victims Commissioner and the 

local Criminal Justice Partnership plan has a focus on alcohol as a key pathway 

to assist with reducing reoffending. 

 We heard that the Safe Durham Partnership has reducing the harm from alcohol 

misuse as a priority and Durham Constabulary operates a Harm Reduction Unit 

that tackles a range of alcohol-related harms including licensing matters. 

 You feel that senior managers across the partnership in Durham understand the 

need to reduce alcohol-related risk and harm and engage well. Commitment 

among those involved in the agenda is strong, but there are gaps in engagement, 

with crucial partners such as health not fully engaged.  

 You told us that activity delivered by your commissioned providers is routinely 

monitored and understood. Those around the table acknowledged that there will 

be other areas where work is being done that is not necessarily joined up, 

performance managed or reported on, either at the strategic or operational level. 

CLeaR 

domain 

Self-

assessment 

rating of 

evidence 

Peer 

assessment 

rating of 

evidence 

Maximum 

score 

Leadership 

 

36 35 46 

Challenge 

services 

 

35 33 44 

Results 

 

11 10 18 

Page 101



Main title goes here as running header 

14 

 We heard that there is a current alcohol harm reduction strategy in Durham, with 

no refresh due until 2020. The partnership wish to use the CLeaR assessment 

process as an opportunity to refresh the focus and direction of local action – to 

demonstrate to Durham as a whole that reducing alcohol harm is still an 

important area of work.  

 You told us that Durham’s strategy has been taken forward by means of an 

action plan. The key priorities for action in the current plan have already been 

achieved. The timing of the self-assessment was described as ideal, as 

itsfindings will inform the development of a new action/improvement plan. 

 You believe partners understand that to further advance the agenda, senior 

representation from additional external organisations is required. This will benefit 

improve pathways and add visible engagement to partner organisations, service 

users and the wider population as a whole. 

 You suggested that from a strategic level, data sharing could be improved with 

certain partners such as Fire & Rescue, Ambulance Service, acute wards and 

emergency departments. 

 You told us that the new Childrens Services case management system (Liquid 

Logic) was launched in September 2018. This should provide opportunities to 

identify, record and share information about hidden harm in a more systematic 

way. 

 We heard the co-location of associated teams has proved positive. Trading 

Standards, Licensing, the Police Alcohol Harm Reduction Team (Inspector, 

2xSergeants, SPCSOs), Special Ops, Business Regulation, Early Help, Licence 

Processing, and Licence Enforcement are all based on the same floor, resulting 

in better information sharing and joint working. 

 You told us that there was comprehensive consultation to inform the re-letting for 

the Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service contract both before and after the 

services new contract was awarded). 

 Attendees were passionate about their role and how it impacts on partner 

agencies, service users and the wider population of Durham. 

 As not all key agencies were represented at the review, the level to which their 

staff understand their personal and organisational role in the wider partnership is 

unknown.  

 

What we found – peer assessor reflections  

 We heard that there is a positive and supportive alcohol partnership in Durham. 

Elected officials, Public Health, Community Safety and other partners all 

contribute significantly to the overall agenda and were engaged with the CLeaR 

process. 

 We understand that gaps exist between the undoubtedly strong strategic 

ambition and leadership of the alcohol agenda in Durham and the translation of 

the leaders vision into operational activity.  

Page 102



Main title goes here as running header 

15 

 We understand that the Safer Durham Partnership Board monitors the progress 

of each local action plan, however this has been with minimal challenge to date.  

 We saw strong engagement with criminal justice partners at both the strategic 

and operational level, with reducing alcohol-related harm and its links to re-

offending identified as priorities for the Police, Crime and Victims Commissioner 

and the local Criminal Justice Partnership. The partnership priority of reducing 

the harm from alcohol misuse and Durham Constabulary’s Harm Reduction Unit 

reinforces Durham’s commitment to this agenda. 

 We recognise that the lack of co-ordinated engagement from key health partners 

means that there will be gaps in provision and missed opportunities to engage 

with those at risk of alcohol-related harm. This will affect the ability of the 

partnership to achieve all its priorities. 

 We feel that there is good understanding locally of the role and remit of 

commissioned services from partners and amongst providers and that treatment 

pathways are understood.  

 We heard you acknowledge that resources are limited and this means that there 

will be times when efforts are not as co-ordinated or seamless as everyone 

would like. However, when issues arise, there is a willingness to work collectively 

to resolve them in ways that benefit services users and promote partnership 

ambition. 

 We understand that Durham sees reducing the harm caused by alcohol as an 

important issue. It is evidently the intention to use the CLeaR assessment 

process as a prompt for partners to demonstrate the breadth of work that 

currently goes on, and to highlight the importance of engagement in the agenda 

from all relevant organisations. The CLeaR process will also be used as a 

springboard from which a revised action/improvement plan will be launched.  

 We heard that additional engagement from partners who are currently not fully 

invested in the agenda will greatly enhance the overall ability of the partnership 

to make positive steps forward, both at individual organisation and partnership 

level. 

 We believe that, in respect of under-engaged health partners, the preventing ill-

health CQUIN could provide an opportunity for re-engagement.  

 We heard that data sharing is good in many areas, but could be improved in 

respect of some partners. Some health data is traditionally difficult to obtain and 

can be inconsistent, however other partners such as Fire & Rescue may have 

data that is easier to access. 

 We also heard that the quality of data from Children’s Services may improve 

following the launch of the new case management system (Liquid Logic) in 

September 2018. 

 We understand that the co-location of teams such as Trading Standards, 

Licensing, Police Alcohol Harm Reduction Team, Special Operations, Business 

Regulation, Early Help, Licence Processing and Licence Enforcement offers 

every opportunity for more positive, joined up work.  

Page 103



Main title goes here as running header 

16 

 We heard that the consultation for the Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service was 

comprehensive with pre and post award sessions. However, the refusal of 

Durham’s procurement department to allow service user representation on the 

assessment panel is a concern. 

 

Recommendations - opportunities for development  

 Whilst Durham has an up-to-date alcohol strategy, you are encouraged to 

produce an updated action/improvement plan to support ongoing work in 

reducing alcohol-related harm. Particularly, this should look at formalising the 

relationship with less engaged partners in ways that complement both individual 

agency, as well as partnershipwide, agendas, at both strategic and operational 

levels. 

 The preventing ill health CQUIN may be an opportunity to engage with the 

foundation trust. Senior officers are encouraged to establish whether the trust 

has implemented this as a first step to aligning activity in secondary care with 

wider partnership ambition. 

 All relevant organisations should be involved in the development of the updated 

action/improvement plan and understand how it contributes to wider agendas. If 

this is unachievable, it might be useful for the senior leadership to use their 

contacts and influence to improve engagement with health partners, with officers 

working to improve operational arrangements once senior level buy-in has been 

achieved. 

 Formalised agreements about data sharing between health and criminal justice 

agencies are needed to support your ambition to reduce alcohol-related crime 

and disorder. Visible senior partner commitment to the development of inter-

agency information sharing protocols may help prioritise this work.  

 Changes to partnership resources, such as the Alcohol Harm Reduction Unit, will 

impact across Durham. Strong partner relationships increase the opportunities 

for consultation and planning to enable successful management of enforced 

change. 

 

4.3 Challenge your services domain 

Summary of findings 

You rated your evidence of achievement in relation to operational delivery at 80%.  

 

Whilst the peer assessors endorsed your self-assessment scores against most criteria, 

there were reservations about the rating of evidence of achievement offered for aspects 

of secondary and tertiary prevention. As a result the overall peer assessment rating for 

the Challenge Services domain was slightly lower than your scoring in the self-

assessment. 

Page 104



Main title goes here as running header 

17 

 

What you told us - partnership insights 

 You told us that Durham has actively engaged Area Action Partnerships (AAP), 

Neighbourhood Watch and Health Networks. There are opportunities to use 

these more than they are at present through the Public Health Healthy 

Communities strand. 

 You reflected that Public Health does not feel able to have meaningful input into 

licensing decisions. However, you believe that there should be more involvement 

following the restructure and there are good working relationships between 

Durham Constabulary Licensing and DCC Licensing who are co-located.  

 You also reflected that there is little input from other responsible authorities such 

as Fire & Rescue and immigration enforcement in the licensing process. 

 You told us that the number of operations targeting test purchases and proxy 

sales of alcohol to those under-age have reduced. This is reflected in the low 

numbers of fixed penalty notices issued by police. 

 You recognised that there have been instances in the past where the Local 

Authority has been reluctant to communicate 'sensitive' agendas. More could be 

done to challenge this and a more co-ordinated approach to communications 

with partners may help.  

 You do not believe that the pathways between acute hospitals and community 

treatment services are robust. The new treatment provider is working to make 

these more formal. 

 You described a lack of meaningful data (Cardiff model) from local emergency 

departments.  

 You described close working with Balance and support the campaigns they lead 

regionally but you advised us that local information regarding alcohol is 

inconsistent and there is no agreed strategic approach to ensure a consistent 

message. You are keen to avoid any collaboration with the alcohol industry in 

any information development, so need to investigate other ways of achieving this. 

 You described how the Harm Reduction Unit has made attempts to use 

Snapchat as part of its communications work. A future project will attempt to 

identify a group of media students to deliver peer led messages. 

 You described innovative approaches to local work with children and young 

people. 

 You explained that the young people’s service is outreach focussed. It also 

provides flexible transition arrangements and will work with vulnerable clients 

who are over age. 

 You described how there is a single front door to access a variety of services for 

vulnerable young people. Agencies are able to cross-reference referrals against 

existing information so that professionals are well-informed about the young 

person. 

Page 105



Main title goes here as running header 

18 

 You told us that some schools bypass local governance and support structures 

by using external and un-linked people/organisations to deliver interventions to 

pupils. Ultimately this is outside of public health control, although they advise 

against it. 

 You said that a significant proportion of the budget (approx. 20%) has been 

removed from the system making service re-configuration necessary. However, a 

large number of staff TUPEd across from the previous provider, ensuring a high 

degree of consistency for service users. 

 You described how hospital in-reach provision could be extended onto other 

wards such as fracture clinics, as well as more obvious ED and gastro wards. 

 You told us about good links and in-reach programmes with the local prison. 

 You reflected that although numbers in treatment have reduced, there are 

indications that alcohol caseloads now comprise more complex cases that will be 

in treatment for longer. 

 You feel that strong attempts are being made to try to work with CCGs and GPs 

to help overall health management. 

 You indicated that there is a pharmacy lead in Public Health and a clinical 

inspector who are well placed to approach and speak appropriately to 

pharmacists and GPs should there be any concerns in respect of their 

prescribing practices for alcohol clients.  

 You understand that there needs to be a focus on priority areas such as the NHS 

capacity to identify risk and intervene appropriately, with the Preventing ill health 

CQUIN representing an obvious engagement tool in the first instance. 

 

What we found – peer assessor reflections  

 Use of AUDIT C is incentivised to embed routine screening to identify alcohol-

related risk across GP surgeries. 

 The Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS acute/mental health trusts could be 

more actively engaged in the routine identification of alcohol-related harm and 

delivery of information and advice or onward referral as required.  

 We were pleased to hear Public Health’s commitment to licensing and 

understand the frustration that health is not a current licensing objective, even 

though Public Health are a responsible authority. Working closely with the co-

located Durham Constabulary Licensing and DCC Licensing may help. 

 We heard that licensing in Durham is made more difficult due to the lack of input 

from other responsible authorities. 

 We acknowledge that financial restrictions have meant a reduced number of test 

purchase and proxy sale operations.  

 We appreciate that local authority communications don’t always reflect the 

challenging nature of the topics being tackled.  

 We heard that acute hospitals and community services do not appear to have 

strategically and operationally linked pathways and that data from departments 

Page 106



Main title goes here as running header 

19 

such as A&E is inconsistent. The community service may require senior level 

support to formalise these pathways with relevant organisations, although the 

planned in-reach activity will help develop then raise awareness of these.  

 Durham is very active in communications and social marketing. They are the lead 

commissioning body for the North East regional contract with Balance, an agency 

focussing on health campaigns. This gives Durham opportunities to engage at 

regional level and provide prevention and early intervention work at scale. 

 We heard that other alcohol communications are inconsistent, with messages 

coming from different sources. A single source or strategically agreed approach 

to ensure a consistent message would be helpful, but this should avoid 

collaboration with the alcohol industry. 

 You explained how partners have attempted to use social media as part of their 

communications offer. Peer led messaging via social media platforms is an 

interesting future project.  

 Your outreach focussed young people’s service is positive, as are the flexible 

transition arrangements we were told about.  

 The single front door access to services for vulnerable young people and the 

ability to accept referrals from both public and professional sources is welcome, 

as is the ability to cross-reference referral information with existing cases to avoid 

duplication of assessment and respond to need in a more timely way.  

 The use of external and locally un-supported agencies to provide input to schools 

is a concern, although we acknowledge that schools have the right to follow such 

a course of action. 

 We heard that potential disruption to service users and referring agencies as a 

consequence of ongoing issues with the treatment contract has been tempered 

slightly by the fact that a significant number of staff transferred over from the 

previous provider, giving at least some level of consistency in service delivery. 

 Your peer led prison in-reach and through the gate support is very positive, 

although the fact that this may be dependent on individual governor readiness to 

engage is a concern for the future.  

 We can see that there has been a fall in the number of alcohol misusers 

accessing treatment and understand that remaining caseloads are dominated by 

more complex cases that will require engagement in treatment for longer periods. 

Linking in with CCGs and GPs to contribute towards overall health management 

would be useful. 

 We understand that the Public Health pharmacy lead and clinical inspector could 

yield positive results when dealing with health partners.  

 

CLeaR recommendations - opportunities for development  

 The preventing ill-health CQUIN provides an opportunity for local partners to 

encourage health practitioners in hospital settings to embed the routine 

Page 107



Main title goes here as running header 

20 

identification of alcohol risk and the delivery of brief advice or onward referral as 

required into local practice.  

 You told us about your resolve to actively involve service users in the 

development of services, including the co-production of resources. This could 

help improve engagement with the commissioned service and the outcomes 

achieved. 

 Opportunities to use the already engaged Area Action Partnerships (AAP), 

Neighbourhood Watch and Health Networks should be sought, potentially via the 

Public Health Healthy Communities strand. 

 Public Health’s willingness to do more to influence licensing is noted. An exercise 

investigating how this has been achieved in other areas would be beneficial. The 

possibility of negotiating the inclusion of health considerations into the next 

Statement of Licensing Policy could be explored to ensure health need and 

impact are routinely addressed in the licensing process. 

 Innovative ways to communicate difficult messages should be sought. Co-

ordinated response through partners may be one possibility.  

 Partnership wide communications standards or criteria would be useful if 

partners have concerns regarding the consistency of alcohol messages.  

 Those with the responsibility for hospital in-reach should consider contacting 

wards/clinics that may deal with alcohol attributable injuries, such as fracture 

clinics, as well as gastro and emergency departments, in a bid to expand the 

breadth of pathways into treatment. 

 Arrangements with the local prison should be formalised at a senior level to 

ensure that the peer led work can continue regardless of personnel change. 

 An audit of the complex alcohol caseload may flag similarities that could benefit 

from targeted work. 

 Public Health should use its position to try and engage with the CCG and GPs in 

order to build responses to alcohol use into overall health management. 

 Co-ordinated partnership responses to issues that could be considered 

contentious may be a solution to help a single agency address difficult subjects, 

especially when this is unpalatable for senior stakeholders. 

 Direct communication with schools from someone senior such as the DPH may 

help raise the profile of local free services and avoid unnecessary spending on 

external provision that is not linked to local support networks. 

 Commissioners and the provider will wish to consider ways in which user 

involvement for young people can be improved and offer training for staff to 

ensure service users are listened to. 

 Commissioners may wish to consider ways in which locally run campaigns can 

be evaluated to ensure they add value. There may be learning from the Balance 

approach to evaluation that the partnership can adapt for this purpose. 

 Now that the new treatment service is established there is an opportunity to work 

with the commissioned provider to review how the current system is working to 

meet the needs and improve the outcomes achieved by alcohol misusers. This 

Page 108



Main title goes here as running header 

21 

will enable partners to better understand the treatment delivery model and its 

suitability for Durham. 

 

4.4 Results 

Summary of findings 

There was a degree of evidence to support the impact of local activity in reducing 

alcohol-related harm reflected in conversations throughout the day. The self-

assessment score of 61% was slightly reduced, but, in the main, there was a high level 

of agreement from the peer assessment team. 

 

What you told us - partnership insights 

 You told us that Durham’s data shows mixed results against its priorities. You 

advised that alcohol-related mortality, although improved against the national 

picture, still lags behind the rest of the North East.  

 You described that the number of interventions being undertaken by GPs and 

pharmacies is good, and partners should be encouraged by the rate of young 

people engaging with, and leaving services in a planned way (albeit with the 

latter falling slightly). Adult alcohol successful completions and representations 

are improving, however you indicated these require further work to make the 

partnership feel comfortable about the progress being made. 

 You suggested that local unmet need still lags behind the national average. 

Public Health are hoping that participation in the recent national inquiry 

investigating the reason for the reduction in alcohol treatment numbers will 

provide insight. 

  You reflected that local data regarding alcohol-related incidents and violent 

crime show a falling trend that reflects the activities undertaken to reduce 

alcohol-related crime and disorder. 

 You recognised that there are a number of under-utilised local data sources such 

as primary and secondary care data, access to, and analysis of which, could 

increase understanding of need and the outcomes achieved locally. 

 

What we found – peer assessor reflections  

 On the whole, Durham’s data shows mixed results against local priorities. 

 We heard that GP and pharmacy intervention numbers are strong. The numbers 

engaged with YP services and successfully completing treatment are 

encouraging, as is the year on year improvement in the rate of  adult successful 

completion with no representation within 6 months for alcohol cases. 

Page 109



Main title goes here as running header 

22 

 Whilst the estimated rate of unmet need in Durham at 79% indicates that 

currently only around one in five dependent drinkers is accessing treatment in 

this locality, the estimated rate of met need is marginally stronger than the 

national average rate. Participation in the PHE inquiry into the reasons for the fall 

in numbers in alcohol treatment nationally may provide additional understanding 

and identify ways to address this. There could also be an opportunity to engage 

with partners, the local population and data/intelligence providers to help you 

better understand the needs of your population.  

 We observed that the falling trend in violent crime and alcohol-related incidents 

reflect well on the activities undertaken to reduce alcohol-related crime and 

disorder in Durham. 

 

CLeaR recommendations - opportunities for development  

 Despite recent improvements, adult alcohol successful completions with no 

representation will require further work to match the national rate.  

 Opportunities to engage with partners to better understand unmet need, in 

particular to gauge where those with an alcohol dependence may be presenting 

and how to improve the pathways into structured treatment when dependence is 

identified should be sought.  

 As well as agreeing priorities for action to support onward referral into structured 

treatment there may also be opportunities to consider how the treatment service 

model is supporting improved engagement with dependent drinkers. The report 

outlining key findings of the PHE national inquiry with recommendations has 

been published. The partnership is encouraged to reflect on this learning in 

shaping its local plan of action. 

 The partnership need for an action/improvement plan rather than a strategy 

refresh is understood at this time. Partners and stakeholders will need to keep 

this regularly reviewed and adapt as and when changes to the strategy or other 

national and local issues emerge.  

 Helping less engaged partners understand how tackling alcohol-related harm can 

have a positive impact on their own agency, as well as the individuals in their 

care, for example by reducing occupied bed days or representations, can help 

demonstrate the cost effectiveness of engaging with the agenda and partnership 

work, as well as addressing unmet need. 

 Routine analysis of primary care and preventing ill-health CQUIN data may 

enhance local understanding of where unmet need is presenting and help inform 

the development of effective pathways between health care settings and the 

community treatment system.  

 Formalised inter-agency agreements about data sharing are needed to support 

your ambition to develop a clearer understanding of local need and monitor 

progress against local priorities. 

Page 110



Main title goes here as running header 

23 

CLeaR results in detail 

5.1 Durham CLeaR profile 

The spider graph below shows (in blue) Durham’s original self-assessment scoring, as a 

proportion of the available marks in each section and (in red) the peer assessment 

results. The results of the peer assessment were lower in some areas and higher in 

others, than the ratings of the evidence within the self-assessment. The detailed 

comments below show where the assessments differ. Both assessments highlight areas 

where improvement can be made. 

 

 

  

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%
Total score

Vision and governance

Partnership

Planning and
commissioning

Communications

Primary preventionSecondary prevention

Tertiary prevention

Children and young
people's services

Data and innovation

Achieving positive
outcomes

Self assessment score Peer assessor score

Page 111



Main title goes here as running header 

24 

5.2 Detailed comments on learning from your peer assessment 

CLeaR 

Theme 

Local 

score 

Peer 

score 

Max 

score 

Comments 

Leadership 

 
Vision and 
governance 
 

7 6 12  The assessment team agreed with the 
majority of the self-assessed scores in 
this area and found Durham to have 
strong partnership commitment and 
accountability.  

 The assessment team did reduce the 
score by 1 mark in this section as they 
felt that although Durham clearly has 
senior level support from Public 
Health, Community Safety and some 
other partners, the evidence did not 
indicate high level understanding of 
the strategic vision across the 
partnership in its entirety.  

 With there being no need for an 
alcohol strategy refresh at this time, it 
is important that the partnership focus 
on an action plan that will influence 
the key priorities around alcohol and 
maintain forward momentum.  

 The 2018 report from the Director of 
Public Health, “A New Vision for the 
Taylors” has alcohol as a theme and 
acknowledges the role Public Health 
plays in reducing alcohol-related 
harms across the wider population. 

 Elected members that support the 
alcohol agenda are represented on 
both the Health & Wellbeing Board 
and Community Safety Partnership. 
Both groups are chaired by the leader 
of the Council.  

Partnership 
 

13 14 20  Durham’s CLeaR assessment was 
co-ordinated by Public Health but 
input was received from a number of 
individual partner agency 
representatives indicating strong and 
supportive partnership relationships. 

 Ideally Durham would have 
preferred to have undertaken the 
assessment with face-to-face 
conversations, but the realities of 
limited availability meant that the 
majority of meetings were virtual.  

 The Alcohol & Drug Reduction 
Strategy Group has a wide range of 
stakeholders engaged, but to date 
there has been limited CCG and 
Acute Trust participation.  

 Council Substance Misuse Team 
has a reporting mechanism to senior 

Page 112



Main title goes here as running header 

25 

CCG colleagues, but this was 
described as sometimes 
challenging.  

 The absence of senior health partner 
input into the process highlighted a 
gap within the partnership.There 
were clear gaps between the 
obvious operational activities 
undertaken in acute settings or 
emergency departments and the 
strategic oversight that should 
embed such activity as part of a 
connected and overarching strategic 
response to reducing alcohol-related 
harm. 

 A potential tool for engagement 
exists via the “Preventing Ill Health” 
CQUIN and should be explored as a 
first option. However it may be that 
the local acute trust has decided not 
to undertake this piece of work and 
other avenues for engagement 
should also be considered in the 
event that this is the case. 

 The action plan that supports the 
strategy should be clear in terms of 
what individual partner roles and 
responsibilities are. Raising 
awareness of benefits at an 
organisational level may also help 
engage partners, for example, 
reducing frequent A&E attendance 
may be of interest to disengaged 
health agencies. Inter-linking 
partnership priorities can sometimes 
be helpful to ensure that individual 
agencies understand how their 
activity supports the overall agenda. 

 The work with criminal justice 
partners, especially prisons, is very 
positive, however it is a concern that 
this seems to be based on 
personalities, rather than as an 
embedded systemic action. 
Agreement to formalise this work 
would be advantageous. 

 There is a dedicated partnership team 
in place to link the Safer Durham 
Partnership with the City Safety 
group. This provides an opportunity to 
coordinate campaigns to ensure a 
consistent message across the 
partnership. 

Planning and 
commissioning 
 

7 7 14  As previously highlighted, since the 
alcohol strategy is current, an alcohol 
action plan to drive forward the aims 
of the strategy may help reinvigorate 
the role of partners.  

 There are challenges for 
commissioners to provide effective 

Page 113



Main title goes here as running header 

26 

and appropriate services in a difficult 
financial climate. It is therefore 
important to engage with as many 
partners as possible in order to forge 
strategic and operational links and 
lever potential resources and help 
with addressing unmet need. This 
underlines the importance of up to 
date strategic level plans that can be 
used to reinvigorate disengaged 
partners where necessary, especially 
those from health. 

 The governance structures in 
Durham indicate that genuine joint 
commissioning is undertaken. 

 Durham’s treatment services 
underwent a comprehensive 
tendering process in 2015, followed 
by the failure of the treatment 
provider, subsequent temporary 
provision and further tender. 
Commissioners and services users 
have therefore had to deal with 3 
different providers in 3 years.  

 There are signs of improvement, for 
example in successful completions. 
With an integrated drugs and alcohol 
service, partners will need to remain 
vigilant to ensure services are equally 
appropriate for alcohol clients as they 
are for those who use drugs. 

 A period of consolidation will help 
commissioners understand which 
issues have been due to the changes 
and which are actual gaps in 
treatment provision.  

 

Challenging your services 

 

Communications 
and social 
marketing 
 

4 2 6  Balance have produced successful 
campaigns on the links between 
alcohol and cancer, as well as the 
wider risks of drinking. Target 
groups are the key health inequality 
and socio- economic groups such as 
C2-D,E.  

 The evaluation process for Balance 
campaigns is strong, with baseline 
taken and sense checked at wave 1 
and 2. Additionally they test the 
creative material, measure post 
campaign effectiveness and produce 
an annual report on acceptability. 
Campaigns are rolled out via the 
quarterly Champions Network 

 Campaigns undertaken locally that 
are not run by BALANCE do not 
receive the same level of evaluation. 
Ways to overcome this to ensure 

Page 114



Main title goes here as running header 

27 

local campaigns add value and 
support objectives should be 
pursued. 

 Durham has also been involved in 
the Dead Drunk and 1-Punch and it 
is acknowledged that there will be 
difficulties in quantifying the impact 
of these.  

 Public Health can explore more 
opportunities to engage with social 
media, for example, by following up 
national news items with how this 
relates to people locally, ensuring 
that any messages and campaigns 
are aligned to the overarching 
priorities around reducing alcohol-
related harm. 

 It is encouraging to hear that 
communications from partners such 
as the police concerning young 
people and alcohol have shifted their 
focus from being about nuisance and 
ASB to being about vulnerability and 
safeguarding.  

Primary 
prevention 
(reducing demand 
and availability) 
 

4 1 6  Durham support the creation of a 5
th
 

licensing objective and are actively 
engaged in supporting/lobbying. As 
things stand it is difficult to relate any 
health impacts to single premises. 
Durham could explore the use of a 
zonal system to help them better 
understand the health impacts of 
alcohol use linked to licensed 
premises. Data from partners about 
incidents of violence or injury would 
greatly enhance this. 

 Due to the geographical make-up of 
Durham, setting up a zone system for 
the entire county could be 
complicated and costly. Durham 
should therefore focus on known 
areas of high harm, perhaps starting 
with a pilot. 

 Durham’s ideas regarding a late night 
levy to supplement support and 
enforcement should be explored 
further, as should the provision of 
health information to licensed 
premises that is displayed at point of 
sale.  

 The availability of tap water and 
cheaper pricing of healthier options 
also has merit. Such initiatives on 
their own may have limited effect, but 
as part of a raft of measures there 
could be some impact. 

 Public Health needs to be visible in 
licensing committee meetings and be 
seen by the committee to be part of 
the process to begin to gain 

Page 115



Main title goes here as running header 

28 

momentum for health to be an 
influencing factor in licensing issues.  

 The consultation on a new 
responsible licensing policy is in 
process. This recommends that 
licensees and retailers are contacted 
to see if they are willing to engage 
with public health and display CMO 
approved alcohol guidance. 

 Joint working, colocation and shared 
access across multiple teams to 
different organisations systems is a 
significant strength in this county. 

 It was noted that although the Acute 
Trust now has a record system that 
should allow data to be shared with 
partners, Public Health still lacks 
sufficient data to be able to strengthen 
their position on licensing, leaving the 
police as the main objective voice in 
respect of action. 

 Partnership intelligence is used to 
address health risks and harms. 
Examples such as student deaths 
linked to alcohol and the river and the 
preventative action taken are positive 
and can be highlighted to partners as 
evidence of what can be achieved 
when people work together.  

Secondary 
prevention  
(targeting those at 
risk) 
 

3 3 6  Hospital admissions data concerning 
inequalities would be incredibly 
helpful for local alcohol area plans.   

 GPs and pharmacies are paid to 
undertake IBA and extended IBA. 
Areas of low or poor activity need to 
be followed up. 

 There is dedicated training/coaching 
around IBA. 2,126 BIs have been 
undertaken in pharmacies. However 
it is uncertain how quality is 
measured although audits are 
carried out and poor performing 
pharmacies are visited and re-
trained. 

 The nurse consultant follows up 
AUDIT C and IBA episodes to see if 
further action is necessary. 

 Data is available concerning IBA 
delivery, but such data is not always 
accessible or reliable. 

 Community practices, wellbeing 
groups and AA & peer mentoring 
groups are linked.  

 CDF Trust are commissioned to do 
wider health interventions (MECC 
style), that include alcohol. 

 CYP services have a mandatory 
alcohol assessment tool for families 
and undertake IBA and/or refer.  

Page 116



Main title goes here as running header 

29 

 Checkpoint undertake IBA, along 
with maternity and early help 
services, family 1st and vulnerable 
intervention practitioners. 

 Fire and Rescue services use 
AUDIT and MECC to check 
vulnerabilities during fire safety 
checks. These are being evaluated 
by Teesside University. 

 Links between alcohol, suicide 
prevention and mental health 
services exist, although more could 
be done to align these, especially in 
relation to men. 

 Annual alcohol training is available 
for sexual health and maternity 
workers, including FASD awareness 
and CSE/alcohol links.  

 The street liaison service also works 
with people with alcohol problems. 

 Better investigation of alcohol-
related mental health is leading to 
greater numbers of engagements, 
rather than a rise in alcohol-related 
mental health issues. 

 There is a suicide prevention co-
ordinator employed by Public Health 
and funded by the CCGs. They 
attend the preventable death group 
that includes a focus on alcohol.  

 There is an audit of coroner data to 
identify alcohol-related deaths and 
alcohol is included in the suicide 
prevention action plan. 

 The majority of mental health deaths 
are related to long-term alcohol 
and/or drug use, along with 
associated physical health issues. 
Information such as this is used to 
locate gaps in provision and help 
improve services. 

Tertiary 
prevention  
(alcohol care 
teams and 
community based 
treatment 
provision for 
adults) 
 

11 9 12  The last few years were described 
as difficult, with the loss of the 
specialist hospital provision, the 
collapse of the main community 
treatment provider and two re-
tenders creating a great deal of 
uncertainty. 

 Numbers engaged in alcohol 
treatment have been low and 
continue to fall, successful 
completions had fallen although are 
now gradually increasing and 
retention has been poor.  

 Comprehensive consultation was 
undertaken prior to the last tender to 
help identify issues and rectify 
these. Pathways for CJ, acute, MH, 
complex needs and CYPF have 
improved as a result.   

Page 117



Main title goes here as running header 

30 

 Approx. 20% of budget (£1.3M) has 
been removed from the system 
making re-configuration necessary. 
Provision has reduced from 6 
centres to 3 plus outreach model to 
engage alcohol clients, including 
input to GPs and pharmacies. 

 A high proportion of drug staff 
TUPEd over from the previous 
service. As a result a great deal of 
re-training for former drug staff to 
assure their awareness of alcohol 
interventions was required. 

 Early indications for the new service 
are that the alcohol caseloads 
comprise more complex need that 
will be in treatment for longer. 

 A distinct 4-8 week programme has 
been developed (dependent on 
demand) to boost successful 
completions. 

 Good relationships with Durham & 
Low Newton prisons 

 A post prison housing initiative was 
planned but local opposition to it 
was strong, so it had to be dropped. 

 Work is being done with GPs and 
CCGs to address wider health 
conditions and help with overall 
health management of alcohol 
users.  

 There is currently no alcohol care 
team in the hospital, although there 
is a pathway to help people finish 
unplanned detox in the community. 
However people are being lost 
between hospital discharge and 
community. 

 Community based approaches to 
detox are making substantial 
savings when compared to previous 
residential rehabilitation methods. 

 There is a well-supported 
independent recovery forum made 
up of people in and out of treatment. 
Those with lived experience were 
fully consulted on specification 
development, however the 
procurement department refused to 
allow SU involvement on the actual 
panel for the tender.  

 Recovery Academy Durham (RAD) 
has an ambassador scheme where 
people work with workers and 
nurses to support clients and 
complement staff input, enabling 
more visible recovery. 

 The academy offers structured day 
support from Humankind and 
Spectrum, along with mutual aid from 

Page 118



Main title goes here as running header 

31 

Basement Recovery. 

Children and 
young people 
 

3 2 8  Peer assessors endorsed Durham’s 
single front door approach, the 
systems which ensure information is 
shared appropriately amongst key 
agencies, the decision making 
process and the escalation 
protocols. There are also safeguards 
in place to protect against malicious 
referrals. 

 Telephone and formal referrals are 
accepted from professionals and the 
public and are triaged by social 
workers. Identification of alcohol 
triggers a cross reference with other 
services to see if the person is 
already known to services. 

 The response demonstrates a 
positive understanding of need and 
a strong partnership ethos, with 
those present describing close 
working relationships with key 
agencies and ease of information 
sharing. 

 Some schools bypass local 
governance and support structures 
by using external and un-linked 
people/organisations to input in 
school settings. Ultimately this is 
outside of PH control, although they 
advise against it. Regular reiteration 
to such schools of the free services 
that PH can offer may assist. 

 There is a resilience programme in 
some schools that follows a Swedish 
model of YP mental health, which is 
also a train the trainer programme. 
Durham university are evaluating the 
programme to establish its efficacy. 

 Drop-ins are run in schools, with 
multi-agency partners such as 
Police/F&R/ASB and treatment 
services offering a range of advice 
and information. Some sessions are 
general in nature, whilst others are 
targeted based on police intelligence 
regarding seizures. 

 There are joint group interventions 
around risky behaviours of 10-15 yr 
olds. This includes a group of YP, a 
group of parents, followed by a joint 
group to facilitate understanding.  

 There is a whole range of endorsed 
materials used, available to the 
public on the CC website.  

 Local groups of professionals such 
as school staff, school nurses (0-19 
services), early help (children’s 
services) and appropriate others 

Page 119



Main title goes here as running header 

32 

meet regularly around children, 
young people and families that they 
may be worried about to plan 
interventions to stop concerns 
escalating. 

 The 0-19 service also employs 
AUDIT as a routine tool for its 
service users in order to explore 
their potential levels of harm from 
alcohol and risks from other issues. 

 The network of resilience nurses that 
support young people with their 
emotional health, their parents and 
staff who care for them is a positive 
input from the mental health trust. 

 Durham Agency Against Crime 
provide diversionary activities for 
people at risk of criminality, such as 
those from criminal families. 

 Although there have been a number 
of challenges for treatment 
provision, with 3 providers in as 
many years. 

 Specific user involvement for young 
people will help make the voice of 
the child stronger.  

 The message from the police to the 
young person was described as 
sometimes inconsistent, dependent 
upon the officer involved. Training 
around the delivery of a consistent 
message would be useful. 

 The use of body cam footage is now 
being attached to written police 
reports so professionals can visually 
assess people as per the time of any 
incident. 

 Information and referrals between 
emergency and inpatient 
departments could be improved. 

 Attempts are being made to change 
the tone of the conversation around 
alcohol including messages around 
an Alcohol Free Childhood.  

 The group described the close 
working relationships and said that 
they felt really lucky in Durham as all 
the key agencies work very closely 
with each other. Information sharing 
is not a problem or a barrier to 
delivery. 

Data, innovation 
and learning 
 

0 0 6  Data sharing is good with certain 
partners, but less so with others. 
Fire & Rescue, Ambulance Service, 
acute wards and emergency 
departments will all have information 
that relates to alcohol that could be 
routinely shared and used to benefit 
Durham.  

Page 120



Main title goes here as running header 

33 

 JSNA/Durham Insights is on one 
platform and easy to navigate, with 
GIS mapping. The inclusion of an 
alcohol landing page, fact sheet, 
infographics, along with an asset 
based approach have been very 
helpful.  

 Consistent Cardiff model data, or 
models from areas such as 
Cornwall, could help improve 
Durham’s understanding and aid 
responses to violence and licensing 
issues. 

 Data regarding alcohol-related 
incidents and violent crime show a 
falling trend that reflects the 
activities. However, partners need to 
avoid becoming complacent in the 
light of positive results and continue 
with initiatives that will continue to 
tackle Durham’s issues with alcohol.  

 Durham may find it useful to have 
their local data as aligned as 
possible to NDTMS methodology. 
This will help with accurate 
forecasting and alleviate national 
data lag issues. 

 Including alcohol wherever possible 
in any appropriate deep-dive 
exercises may help raise 
understanding of the issues in 
Durham. 

 There may be opportunities to 
access the IBA data extract from the 
CCG. However it has been 
unavailable since 2013. The three 
honorary contracts with the local 
commissioning support unit may be 
able to support this gap in data.    

 Data is used to measure progress in 
an appropriate way, by sharing 
through established governance 
structures such as the Alcohol 
Strategy Group and Safer Durham 
Partnership.   

 It is important that there is an 
appropriate level of understanding of 
data within governance groups to 
ensure information is challenged 
when necessary. With the right 
partners in attendance there should 
be greater possibility of creating 
partnership solutions to situations 
that the data reflects, such as the 
high level of YP hospital admissions. 

 Interrogation of additional data 
sources such as Liquid Logic can 
greatly enhance your understanding 
and targeting. Using the TOP for 
alcohol clients may also provide 

Page 121



Main title goes here as running header 

34 

more outcome focused insight. 

 It is positive to see that the impact 
gap is closing in relation to hospital 
admissions and to learn your 
nearest neighbours data categories 
were recently amended through 
close work with PHE locally, to 
better reflect the partnership context.  

Results  

 

Achieving positive 
outcomes 
 

4 4 12  Assessors felt that the agenda would 
benefit from more challenge at board 
level. 

 The rural nature of Durham is noted. 
Targeted approaches based on local 
intelligence may help. 

 There seems to be a reliance on 
participation in the PHE audit to 
uncover reasons behind falling 
numbers in treatment locally. 
Widening the risk base, to 
encompass hazardous drinkers, may 
provide more understanding. 

Local priorities  
 

3 3 6  Assessors agreed with the 
assessment provided in the CLeaR 
that some steps have been taken 
towards achieving local goals, but 
there is still much to be done. In 
particular, the reduction referred to in 
the 2

nd
 objective around alcohol-

related hospital admission episodes 
is more precisely a reduction in the 
rate of increase, rather than an actual 
reduction. 

5.3 Challenges facing Durham as identified by the peer assessment team at the 

visit 

 Making sure that all key stakeholders understand the role that their organisation 

plays at a strategic and operational level, in reducing alcohol-related harm. 

 Engaging with all key stakeholders, including those who have previously been 

less actively involved, in the production of an updated action/improvement plan. 

 Managing the impact of changes to partnership resources. 

 Ensuring a period of consolidation and stability for treatment services and service 

users following several years of turmoil. 

 Ensuring that public health input in to the primary prevention field is constructive.  

 Creating a co-ordinated partnership wide communications standard and calendar 

of events. 

 Guaranteeing that all recordable activity delivered across the partnership that 

meets the criteria for structured treatment is logged on NDTMS. 

Page 122



Main title goes here as running header 

35 

 Formalising peer led activity at local prisons to make sure that such work is 

accepted as standard, rather than being dependent upon any one particular 

member of staff. 

 Improving treatment outcomes for those presenting with an alcohol dependence: 

reducing unmet need by promoting access and increasing numbers coming into 

the system, increasing retention as appropriate in line with presenting need and 

demonstrating visible recovery as evidenced by increasing the rate of successful 

completions with no representation. 
  

Page 123



Main title goes here as running header 

36 

CLeaR resources 

Based on discussion at the peer assessment visit we suggest that Durham may find the 

following resources useful as you progress local work to prevent and reduce alcohol 

harm: 

 

The evidence base and a range of guidance and tools setting out the case for 

investment in alcohol harm reduction can be found on www.gov.uk/alcohol-and-drug-

misuse-prevention-and-treatment-guidance. Partnerships can use these guidance 

documents, information and resources to help them understand the case for investment 

and to assist in the provision and improvement of alcohol and drug misuse prevention 

and treatment services. 

 

 Evidence base 

This review looks at the impact of alcohol on the public health and the effectiveness 

and cost-effectiveness of alcohol control policies. 

www.gov.uk/government/publications/the public health burden of alcohol evidence 

review 

 

 Local data 

Local alcohol profiles for England (LAPE):  

fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-alcohol-profiles 

Public health dashboard – alcohol treatment indicators 

fingertips.phe.org.uk/public-health-dashboard-ft 

Public health outcomes framework (PHOF): 
fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework 

 

 Commissioning support pack for alcohol prevention, treatment and recovery  

This comprises two discrete documents which encourage best practice in local 

planning and commissioning arrangements:  

1. A series of good practice evidence-based prompts to help local areas 

assess need, plan and commission effective services and interventions. 

2. Key data for each local area to help them commission effective prevention, 

treatment and recovery services and interventions. 

www.gov.uk/alcohol commissioning support pack 

 

 NICE guidance:  

www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs83 

This quality standard covers a range of approaches at a population level to prevent 

harmful alcohol use in the community by children, young people and adults. 

www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs11 

Page 124

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/alcohol-and-drug-misuse-prevention-and-treatment-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/alcohol-and-drug-misuse-prevention-and-treatment-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-public-health-burden-of-alcohol-evidence-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-public-health-burden-of-alcohol-evidence-review
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-alcohol-profiles
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/public-health-dashboard-ft#page/0/gid/1938133154/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/102/are/E06000025
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
http://www.gov.uk/alcohol%20commissioning%20support%20pack
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs83
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs11


Main title goes here as running header 

37 

This quality standard covers the care of children (aged 10 to 15-years), young people 

(aged 16 to 17-years) and adults (aged 18-years and over) drinking in a harmful way 

and those with alcohol dependence in all NHS-funded settings. 

www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph24 

This guidance is for government, industry and commerce, the NHS and all those 

whose actions affect the population’s attitude to, and use of, alcohol. 

www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg100 

The advice in this guideline covers the care of adults and young people (aged 10-

years and older) who have any of the following physical health problems that are 

completely or partly caused by alcohol use. 

www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg115 

This clinical guideline offers evidence-based advice on the diagnosis, assessment 

and management of harmful drinking and alcohol dependence in adults and in young 

people aged 10 to 17-years. 

www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng50 

This guideline covers assessing and managing suspected or confirmed cirrhosis in 

people who are 16 years or older. It aims to improve how cirrhosis is identified and 

diagnosed.  

www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph49 

This guidance makes recommendations on individual-level interventions aimed at 

changing health-damaging behaviours among people aged 16 or over. 

 

 Addressing inequalities 

WHO: Alcohol and Inequities.pdf 

 

 Improving joined up approaches and partnership working: 

Guidance on commissioning and providing better care for people with co-occurring 

mental health, and alcohol and drug use conditions. 

www.gov.uk/people with co-occurring conditions 

 

A resource from the Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health Programme to 

help local areas with prevention planning arrangements. 

www.gov.uk/prevention concordat for better mental health 

 

The Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat is a national agreement between services 

and agencies involved in the care and support of people in crisis. It sets out how 

organisations will work together better to make sure that people get the help they 

need when they are having a mental health crisis. 

www.crisiscareconcordat.org.uk 

 

Guidance offering support to ongoing work to assist in the implementation of the 

government’s suicide prevention strategy. 

www.gov.uk/suicide prevention developing a local action plan 

Page 125

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph24
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg100
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg115
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng50
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph49
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/247629/Alcohol-and-Inequities.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-with-co-occurring-conditions-commission-and-provide-services
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health
https://s16878.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/36353_Mental_Health_Crisis_accessible.pdf
https://www.crisiscareconcordat.org.uk/about/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/suicide-prevention-developing-a-local-action-plan


Main title goes here as running header 

38 

 Local planning and commissioning arrangements: 

Guidance for local areas to identify problematic parental substance use to help 

commission services to reduce and prevent harm to children and families. 

www.gov.uk/parental alcohol and drug use understanding the problem 

 

 Tools for assessing value for money in alcohol and drug treatment: 

www.ndtms.net/Value for Money.aspx 

Why invest slide pack 

why invest slidepack 2018 

 

 Primary prevention: The focus is on creating environments that support lower risk 

drinking. Effective population-level approaches reduce the aggregate level of alcohol 

consumed and therefore lower the whole population's risk of alcohol-related harm. 

 

Licensing and compliance:  

Public Health and the licensing act 2003 – guidance note on effective participation by 

public health teams has now been published:  

www.gov.uk/revised guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 updated 

April 2018.pdf 

 

The Analytical Support Package (ASP), brings together nationally available data and 

materials with local information to support local authorities in accessing and using a 

range of databases and tools. Local teams are able to input their own data and 

create interactive maps and reports to help them in their existing role as a 

responsible authority. 

www.gov.uk/guidance/alcohol licensing: a guide for public health teams 

 

 Secondary prevention: The focus is on lowering consumption in those drinking at 

risk. Large-scale delivery of targeted brief advice and early interventions aimed at 

individuals in at-risk groups can help make people aware of the harm they may be 

doing and can prevent extensive damage to health and wellbeing. 

 

Alcohol identification and brief advice (IBA): 

An online learning resource for health and social care professionals working to 

reduce alcohol-related harm. 

www.e-lfh.org.uk/alcohol 

 

The Alcohol Identification and Brief Advice (IBA) Commissioning Toolkit, developed 

by the Health Innovation Network, South London brings together the evidence base, 

best practice and most up-to-date knowledge about IBA and commissioning of IBA 

into one easy-to-use online resource. It includes step-by-step guidance on all the key 

aspects of commissioning and some exploration of how to commission strategically 

and on commissioning to improve quality of IBA delivery. 

Page 126

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/parental-alcohol-and-drug-use-understanding-the-problem
https://www.ndtms.net/ValueForMoney.aspx
https://app.box.com/s/p52mrjh78yryshd9smogm350s7ougg1l
http://www.gov.uk/revised%20guidance%20issued%20under%20section%20182%20of%20the%20Licensing%20Act%202003%20updated%20April%202018.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/revised%20guidance%20issued%20under%20section%20182%20of%20the%20Licensing%20Act%202003%20updated%20April%202018.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/alcohol-licensing-a-guide-for-public-health-teams
https://www.e-lfh.org.uk/programmes/alcohol/


Main title goes here as running header 

39 

healthinnovationnetwork.com/HIN AIBA Toolkit FINAL.pdf 

 

This document outlines the need for the NHS to take action to address risky 

behaviours, with a focus on alcohol consumption and smoking to prevent ill-health – 

alcohol and tobacco (prevention) CQUIN. 

www.england.nhs.uk/preventing ill-health cquin supplementary guidance  

 

This document outlines public health interventions that can improve the health of the 

population and reduce health and care service demand. 

www.gov.uk/local health and care planning menu of preventative interventions 

 

 Tertiary prevention: The focus is on reducing dependency and improving recovery. 

Prompt access to effective alcohol treatment including packages of psychosocial, 

pharmacotherapeutic and recovery interventions that are accessed by the target 

populations can deliver sustained recovery from alcohol dependency. 

 

This guidance can be used to create or review quality governance structures which: 

 drive quality up and improve service effectiveness 

 ensure the safety of service users 

 make services cost-effective. 

www.gov.uk/alcohol and drug treatment quality governance 

 

This report sets out the findings of the rapid inquiry undertaken by Public Health 

England in 2018 to better understand what is behind the fall in numbers of people in 

treatment for alcohol dependence in England. It also makes recommendations about 

next steps. 

www.gov.uk/alcohol treatment inquiry summary of findings 

 

This is a guide for local authorities and substance misuse services to help them work 

together to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. 

www.gov.uk/safeguarding children affected by parental alcohol and drug use 

 

This guidance sets out the benefits of involving service users in planning and 

improving substance misuse treatment and includes good examples of service user 

involvement from across the country. 

www.gov.uk/service user involvement in alcohol and drug misuse treatment 

 

The Blue Light project is an approach to tackling the needs of one of the most 

challenging groups in the community through the development of alternative methods 

and care pathways for treatment resistant drinkers who place considerable burden on 

public services.  

www.alcoholconcern.org.uk/blue light project 

  

Page 127

https://healthinnovationnetwork.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/HIN_AIBA_Toolkit_v15-FINAL.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/preventing-ill-health-cquin-supplementary-guidance/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-health-and-care-planning-menu-of-preventative-interventions
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/alcohol-and-drug-treatment-quality-governance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/alcohol-treatment-inquiry-summary-of-findings/phe-inquiry-into-the-fall-in-numbers-of-people-in-alcohol-treatment-findings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-children-affected-by-parental-alcohol-and-drug-use
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/service-user-involvement-in-alcohol-and-drug-misuse-treatment
https://www.alcoholconcern.org.uk/blue-light-project


Main title goes here as running header 

40 

CLeaR next steps 

7.1 What happens next 

Thank you for using the alcohol CLeaR approach to sytem improvement. 

 

Having completed your self-assessment and CLeaR peer assessment, you will now be 

awarded CLeaR accreditation until March 2020. This gives you the right to use the 

CLeaR logo. 

 

In the meantime we invite you to: 

 

 share this report with partners and stakeholders, and develop actions based on 

the recommendations 

 contact the regional PHE alcohol lead if you’d like to discuss further support for 

alcohol prevention and harm reduction in your locality 

 allow the members of staff trained as CLeaR peer assessors to participate in, 

and learn from, other assessments by acting as peer assessors 

 repeat your self-assessment in 18 months time to track how your local evidence 

of achievement have changed 

 consider commissioning a further CLeaR peer assessment in 2020. 

 

7.2 CLeaR contacts 

Will Johnston     giguk1@gmail.com 
Iain Armstrong     Iain.armstrong@phe.gov.uk 
Natalie Sims      Natalie.sims@phe.gov.uk 

Lee Harrington      Lee.Harrington@lancashire.gov.uk 

 

7.3 Durham participants at the peer assessment visit  

1. Amanda Hale, Sexual Health, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 

Trust 

2. Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health 

3. Andrea Petty, Strategic Manager, Partnerships 

4. Ann Bell, Service Manager, County Durham Drug & Alcohol Recovery Services 

(HumanKind)  

5. Belinda Boam, Nurse Consultant, Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation 

Trust 

6. Chief Superintendent Jane Spraggon, Durham Constabulary 

7. Colin Shevills, Director, Balance 

8. Councillor Lucy Hovvels, Portfolio Holder for Health and Wellbeing 

Page 128

mailto:Iain.armstrong@phe.gov.uk
mailto:Natalie.sims@phe.gov.uk
mailto:Lee.Harrington@lancashire.gov.uk


Main title goes here as running header 

41 

9. DC Dean Haythornthwaite, Durham Constabulary 

10. Denis Bryan, Recovery Ambassdor  

11. Gemma Wilkinson, Performance and Improvement Team Leader 

12. Gina Daley, County Durham Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service, Children, 

Young People and Family Team Manager  

13. Helen Riddell, PH Advance Practitioner, Vulnerable Children, Young People and 

Families 

14. Jan Fulford, 0-19 Service, Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust  

15. Jane Sunter, Public Health Strategic Manager, Living and Ageing Well 

16. Joanne Waller, Head of Environment, Health & Consumer Protection 

17. Karen Davison, Head of Early Help, Inclusion, Vulnerable Children 

18. Michael Fleming, Strategic Manager, Research and Public Health Intelligence 

19. Michael Lamb, Commissioning Policy & Planning Officer 

20. Owen Cleugh, Consumer Protection Manager 

21. PC Claire McNaney, Durham Constabulary   

22. Samantha Level, Analyst, Durham Constabulary (skype or phone facility 

required) 

23. Sean Barry, Public Health Practitioner 

24. Stella Hindson, Marketing and Communication Manager, Durham County Council 

25. Stephanie Kilili, Policy Officer, Office of the Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ 

Commissioner 

26. Sue Taylor, Partnership Manager, Balance 

27. Tammy Edwards, Checkpoint Navigator. 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



 
                                                                           
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Alcohol CLeaR 
Action Plan  

2019 
 

P
age 131



 

 1 

* Updated August 2019 
These actions are informed by the Alcohol CLeaR Peer Assessment Report January 2019 

 

Recommendations  
RED = Behind target     AMBER = On target  GREEN = Completed / Closed   

1. Recommendations from Alcohol CLeaR   

Task 
No 

Recommendation / 
Deadline  

Actions / Task Lead 
officer 

R Update report (to inc. milestones) 
A 

G 

1 Recommendation  
An updated action/improvement 
plan should be produced to 
support your alcohol strategy 

Action / Task 
Refreshed draft action plan to be 
the basis of a workshop session at 
the ADHR Group 21 March 19 

Jane 
Sunter / 

Rachel 
Osbaldeston 

G 

Complete 
An updated action plan has been populated and agreed by 
partners and now forms the basis of work within the ADHRG  

2 Recommendation  
Rationalise local planning and 
commissioning processes at a 
senior level to ensure resources 
are identified and efficiently 
allocated across the partnership 

Action / Task 
Mapping exercise to identifying 
alignment / gaps / opportunities 

Pauline 
Newby 

 
G 

Update  
Appointment of a Joint Public Health Commissioning Strategic 
Manager will look and rationalise local commissioning processes 
and provide opportunities to align, reshape and extend provision.  

3 Recommendation 
Seek to align individual agency 
and partner priorities at strategic 
and operational levels 

Action / Task 
Mapping exercise to identifying 
alignment / gaps / opportunities 

RO/JS 
 

G 

Update  
The partnership priorities of the ADHRG have been aligned to 
individual agencies via the ADHRG action plan. They will be 
monitored via this plan and governance provided by the SDP. 

4 Recommendation  
Increase engagement and 
ensure appropriate 
representation of NHS 
colleagues at relevant groups 
and commitment to the 
development and 
implementation of the refreshed 
action plan 

Action / Task 
Link to item 13 and request key 
strategic leaders on the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to identify NHS 
leads / champions to become active 
and visible in the work to reduce 
alcohol health harm.  

RO 
 

A 

Update  
RO to invite representative from Wellbeing for Life service, CCG, 
primary care, CQUIN lead to attend the ADHRG group and 
support their attendance.  
 
Contact made with Wellbeing for Life, awaiting response from 
CCG, PC, CQUIN. 
 

5 Recommendation  
Jointly manage across the 
partnership the impact of 

Action / Task 
Identify strategic groups who can 
evaluate and mitigate the impact of 

Jane 
Sunter 

 
G 

Update  
Work being undertaken already by CMT / SDP / HWB / CDP 
CCG Exec in Common 

P
age 132



 

 2 

anticipated but enforced 
changes to resources  

anticipated but enforced changes to 
resources 

Joint Officers meeting (DCC / Police / Fire / CCDFT) 

6 Recommendation 
Consider opportunities of an 
integrated approach to planning, 
commissioning and operational 
activity to encourage economies 
of scale and to make best use of 
available resource and capacity 

Action / Task 
Develop in conjunction with 1.2 
  
 

Pauline 
Newby 

 
G 

Update  
Appointment of a Joint Public Health Commissioning Strategic 
Manager will look and rationalise local commissioning processes 
and provide opportunities to align, reshape and extend provision. 
 

7 Recommendation  
Supporting the delivery of the 
Preventing Ill-Health CQUIN to 
encourage health practitioners 
in secondary care settings to 
embed the identification of, and 
provision of brief advice 
addressing alcohol risk into local 
practice  

Action / Task 
To develop with identify NHS leads 
/ champions 

RO 
 

A 

Update  
RO to meet Sara Bright to support joint working between PH and 
NHS and ensure work is fed into the ADHRG.  
 

8 Recommendation  
Review the effectiveness of 
local pathways between 
secondary care and the 
community alcohol treatment 
system when alcohol 
dependence is identified 
 

Action / Task 
Mapping exercise to review local 
pathways identifying alignment / 
gaps / opportunities    

RO 
 

A 

Update  
Work has commenced to support 2 wards in UHND and West 
Park with DARS recovery workers to engage patients in 
treatment.  
 

RO to work with service to extend reach (Lanchester Road, A&E, 
CAMHS) 
 

RO to scope and develop formal monitoring and reporting system 
as part of contract quality assurance.  

9 Recommendation  
Public Health to develop a more 
meaningful involvement in the 
local licensing process 
 

Action / Task 
Develop an agreed Public Health 
procedure for Alcohol Licence 
applications, variation and reviews. 
 
Submission into the Statement of 
Licensing Policy 
 
PH to attend joint licensing 
inspections with partners. 

Sean Barry 
 

G 

Complete 
PHSMT signed off a formal procedural process for all alcohol 
licence applications and reviews received by Public Health.  
 
Responsible Authorities Group set up, meeting bi-monthly 
 
PH now attending joint licensing inspections with partners 

10 Recommendation  
Ensure health consideration is 
actively embedded into the local 
Statement of Licensing Policy to 

Action / Task 
PH to provide a submission into the 
Statement of Licensing Policy 
consultation. 

Sean Barry 
 

 
G 

Complete  
Submission into the Statement of Licensing Policy provided by 
DCC Public Health, Durham Constabulary, Balance 

P
age 133



 

 3 

help shape future plans 
 

Gain agreement / influence local 
Head of Environment, Health & 
Consumer Protection to have PH 
content more visible in the 
Statement of Licensing Policy 

11 Recommendation 
Develop systems for co-
ordinated communications to 
help ensure consistency in 
messages linked to alcohol-
related harm 
 

Action / Task 
ADHR Group to map / align 
communications to ensure 
consistency in messages linked to 
alcohol-related harm 
 
Identify and agreed key alcohol 
campaigns partners will support  

Sean Barry 
/ ADHR 

 
 
 

ADHR 
 

G 

Update  
An updated action plan has been populated and agreed by 
partners and now forms the basis of work within the ADHRG  

12 Recommendation  
Review the recording and 
uploading of information to the 
National Drug Treatment 
Monitoring System NDTMS by 
any partner who has direct 
involvement in the delivery of a 
recordable treatment episode to 
seek improvements  

Action / Task 
Mapping exercise to review local 
recording processes identifying 
alignment / gaps / opportunities    

Rachel 
Osbaldeston  A 

Update  
RO to work with NDTMS to understand criteria of recordable 
treatment episodes. From this work investigate the possibilities of 
partners work being captured on the system as well as DARS.  

13 Recommendation  
Engaging clinical champions to 
promote work to reduce alcohol 
harm across the NHS, 
particularly within secondary 
and primary care settings, 
supporting this agenda as a 
health priority. (This approach 
could be taken forward by key 
strategic leaders on the Health 
and Wellbeing Board). 

Action / Task 
Link to item 4 and request key 
strategic leaders on the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to identify NHS 
leads / champions to become active 
and visible in the work to reduce 
alcohol health harm. 

Jane Sunter / 
Rachel 

Osbaldeston 
A 

Update  
Link to recommendation 4 and 7.  

 
 

  
 

P
age 134



heAlcohol

1

P
age 135

A
genda Item

 10



he

2

What’s the harm
• Re-run of initial campaign by Balance, warning 

parents of risks of supplying alcohol to children. 

Messages have been shared through 

• digital screen advertising

• display screens in DCC customer access 

points

• display of printed material, and sharing of 

messages on:

• DCC social media
• OPCVC social media

www.whatstheharm.co.uk

Other promotions
• OPCVC office has also shared social media 

posts from One Punch North East in relation to 
alcohol and the violent consequences.

• Continued social media promotions by Balance.

P
age 136

http://www.whatstheharm.co.uk/


heTobacco

3

P
age 137



he

4

Stoptober campaign

• Planning for this year’s campaign

• Key message is ‘Give it a go’

• Fresh organising photoshoots in all local 

authority areas during September

• Outreach work also planned in County 

Durham

• Launch of campaign late September

• Support by partner organisations

Healthwatch promotions and support

• Promotion of smoking cessation through e-

bulletin in July

• Work undertaken with CDDFT to assist with 

gathering views in relation to ‘change is in the 

air’ campaign.

Smoking in pregnancy

• Communication planning

P
age 138



             

       

 Health and Well Being Board 

17 September 2019 

Right Care, Right Place 

 

Report of Jo Murray, Right Care, Right Place Delivery Lead, Tees, 
Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report provides an overview of the Right Care, Right Place 
programme within Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 
(TEWV) and outlines short term actions within County Durham. 

Executive summary 

2 In response to the NHS Long Term Plan, Five Year Forward View for 
Mental Health and forthcoming Community Mental Health Framework, 
the TEWV Trust Board have initiated a new programme of improvement 
covering community, inpatient and urgent care delivery, needs to be 
prioritised.  This new programme is called “Right Care, Right Place” 
(RCRP) and it aims to deliver better experience and outcomes for 
services users, our staff and our partners by focusing on how all of our 
services, and those of our partners, can work more seamlessly and 
better together, reflecting staff, users’, carers’ and partners’ feedback.   

3 There is already significant multi agency work across County Durham 
focused on mental health and wellbeing services.  We will build on and 
align our RCRP work with these existing arrangements as far as 
possible.  This will include alignment and strong engagement with the 
Mental Health Strategic Partnership Board (including the Crisis Care 
Concordat and Mental Health Prevention Steering Group), Primary Care 
Networks, the Prevention Steering Group, and Integrated Community 
Services across the county.   

4 We are undertaking two key pieces of work which we will run in parallel 
over the coming 3-4 months: 

• Through existing forums, speak to Primary Care Networks 
(PCNs), users/carers/families, stakeholders and TEWV staff to 
identify what would make the biggest difference quickly, and 
where possible test these ‘prototypes’ to assess the impact  

Page 139

Agenda Item 11



• Plan and deliver wider engagement events with service users, 
families, PCNs, other stakeholders (including voluntary sector) 
and our staff within TEWV develop a shared (and possibly 
radical) vision for the future for implementation (within the ‘givens’ 
that we have) over the coming 3-4 years. 

This work will mean that, by the end of 2019, we will have a clear vision 
for mental health service provision across County Durham, and an initial 
implementation plan to deliver this vision across the system over the 
coming years.  This will complement and build on all the existing work 
within County Durham (such as development of an approach to 
wellbeing). 

Recommendation(s) 

5 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

(a) Note the contents of this report and the direction of travel as it 
affects County Durham  

(b) Agree how best the Health and Wellbeing Board can be involved 
in the programme 

(c) Receive further updates as the programme progresses. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 140



Background 

6 In response to the NHS Long Term Plan, Five Year Forward View for 
Mental Health and anticipated Community Mental Health Framework, 
the TEWV Trust Board has initiated a new programme of improvement 
covering community, inpatient and urgent care delivery.  This new 
programme is called “Right Care, Right Place” (RCRP) and it aims to 
deliver better experience and outcomes for services users, our staff and 
our partners.   

7 The programme is the next stage of development from previous 
improvement work and is in direct response to staff, users’, carers’ and 
partners’ feedback around opportunities to continue to improve what we 
do, as well as building on positive feedback of where things work well. 

8 Using a recovery-focused and trauma informed approach, RCRP will 
work systemically (not just within TEWV) so that we can: 

• Improve how the whole system works together for both planned 
and unplanned care 

• Reduce “hand offs” (i.e. passing people between services) within 
the Trust and with other providers 

• Ensure people’s needs are addressed as early as possible 

• Reduce unwarranted variations whilst making sure we provide 
what local communities need 

• Achieve the best use of all resources (money/ staff/ community 
assets) 

• Address physical healthcare needs better and in a more joined up 
way 

• Reflect the direction of the whole system e.g. primary care 
networks 

9 The programme will link closely to all other Trust and multi-agency 
programmes of work to avoid duplication.   

County Durham Specific Context 

10 There is already significant multi agency work across County Durham 
focused on mental health and wellbeing services.  We will build on and 
align our RCRP work with these existing arrangements as far as 
possible.   

Page 141



11 There will be 3 distinct workstreams as shown below.  Wherever 
possible these will build on and use existing structures to ensure all 
work undertaken under the auspices of RCRP does not duplicate effort.   

• Urgent Care Development 

The Durham and Darlington Crisis Care Concordat (CCC) is already 
well established, with a shared vision for the future, shared priorities 
and an agreed workplan that not only considers TEWV services but also 
early intervention and recovery.  Therefore, rather than establish a 
RCRP workstream for urgent care, we will ensure that we have 
appropriate involvement in work through the CCC.  The CCC also 
directly reports into the Mental Health Strategic Partnership Board 
(MHSPB) for Durham so provides additional opportunities to provide 
assurance of multi-agency alignment. 

• Acute Care Development 

Acute services across the specialities within Durham and Darlington 
have worked hard over a number of years to maximise efficiency and 
make best use of the bed base.  Older people’s and adult services have 
established workplans in place to continue this work therefore this will 
continue in its current form.  

• Community Development 

Development of community services is inevitably the biggest area for 
development, in particular in considering how mental health services 
might better “wrap around” PCNs in line with the national direction of 
travel.  There are very well established partnership groups and 
workplans within County Durham that have agreed priorities and 
deliverables that will intrinsically support the RCRP agenda, and there 
are a range of existing initiatives across agencies that give us an 
excellent base for further development with our partners.  Immediate 
work, therefore, will focus on where RCRP can add value to and 
support the work already happening within the system, and help to 
address any outstanding priority areas. 

Programme Management and Governance 

12 We will set up a specific project group for Durham, as a sub group of 
the PCN Leads meeting and MHSPB, involving PCNs, third sector, 
public health, patients, families and other stakeholders to lead and co-
ordinate the detailed programme work.  We have also set up a senior 
reference group to co-ordinate and oversee the work.  The high level 
structure is shown at Appendix 2. 

Page 142



13 There is a genuine intention to be creative and move away from 
traditional organisation, commissioning or delivery arrangements where 
appropriate or where these inadvertently create a barrier to easy access 
to care.  However, there are a range of “givens” that services and 
partners will need to work within as a framework to support this 
development.  These are currently being finalised but will include 
national performance measures, Care Quality Commission (CQC) and 
other regulatory requirements etc. 

Engagement and involvement 

14 We have made a genuine commitment to co-produce our plans with 
partners, service users, families and staff and our overall approach is 
shown at Appendix 3.  Work is developing to make sure we are able to 
do this properly, balancing rapid testing in some areas of different ways 
of working with agreeing a shared vision for the future.  The Trust’s 
Expert by Experience Lead has provided advice and guidance about 
meaningful user involvement.  Healthwatch are also engaged to begin 
to consider how they could help with wider engagement and how the 
programme can address recommendations from previous review work 
they have completed.  Vision development events are now being 
planned for October and a Design Event for Durham is being planned 
for November to begin to develop implementation plans. 

Progress to Date 

15 Acute Care:  Bed action plans are now in place for both adult mental 
health and older people’s services, although generally Durham and 
Darlington locality performs well in this area 

16 Urgent Care: Adult crisis services continue work to move towards a 
single hub and spoke model, and discussions about wider opportunities 
within the RCRP programme are planned for the next Crisis Concordat 
meeting.  Bids have been submitted in conjunction with the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups for additional investment in crisis services.  
Work is also being considered through the Crisis Concordat to support 
co-ordination of different strands of work related to high intensity users 

17 Community Services: Much of the work related to RCRP over the past 
month has related to community services.  There has been a significant 
focus on external engagement and immediate ideas generation to 
identify potential prototype work.  Initial meetings are being held over 
the summer with the Primary Care Networks, the community and 
voluntary sector, and other key stakeholders in Durham.  Work includes 
ensuring there are strong links with emerging Social Prescribing Link 
Worker roles.  Discussions have also started more strategically to 
consider commissioning approaches and resources might be used to 
best effect to support this programme. 

Page 143



18 Ideas Generation:  A simple “ideas generation” exercise has started 
across services internally and externally, simply asking people to 
identify what 2 things (big or small) they think would make the biggest 
difference to people struggling with their mental health.  To date, over 
180 ideas have been generated, and there are a number of possible 
prototypes emerging that services are being encouraged to test through 
August and September to evaluate the impact.  These include: 

• Simple and consistent advice system for primary care for 
response within 1 working day 

• Clarify dual diagnosis pathway for GPs and work with patient 
cohort to explore other opportunities 

• Developing options with the community and voluntary sector to 
support social isolation/vulnerabilities of isolated elderly people 
and assess impact on practice attendance before and after 

• Developing a support worker or ‘buddy’/volunteer role to support 
those with enduring and chronic mental health problems 
managed within primary care to engage with services 
appropriately 

• Testing a buddy/peer worker/group approach to better support a 
specific cohort of individuals with alcohol difficulties and 
depression/anxiety 

• Testing more creative ways to support individuals with a learning 
disability to attend their annual health check 

• Testing impact of Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 
(IAPT) interventions for anxiety/depression for those patients with 
recurrent Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) 
admissions 

• Consider how best to roll out successful community based work 
in Easington for Dementia patients  

There are other ideas that have been generated from individuals/groups 
with county-wide roles that would merit exploration and testing through 
the same time period, for example testing ways to better support 
women who have experienced significant trauma to attend their smear 
tests, or testing ways to provide a single point of contact (“care 
navigator”) for people with dementia to support them through their 
journey (including access to community and voluntary sector e.g. 
Alzheimers Society resources). 

Page 144



19 The NHS Mental Health Implementation Plan has recently been 
published and outlines plans for a £2.3bn investment nationally in 
mental health services over the next 5 years.  The work commenced to 
date on the RCRP programme places us in a strong position to take 
advantage of this by building on the creative and different approaches 
being developed. 

20 Within TEWV, work is also well underway to develop data packs at PCN 
and GP practice level which may help the system to start to focus 
questions and explore creative and robust solutions based on a real 
understanding of specific local issues.  

Main implications 

Alignment with other programmes of work 

21 Alignment to existing programmes of work and activity will be critical to 
the success of RCRP in County Durham.  This includes: 

• Alignment with the Mental Health Strategic Partnership Board 
(including the Crisis Care Concordat and Prevention Steering 
Group) 

• Strong engagement with Primary Care Networks as they develop  

• Strong engagement with the Prevention Steering Group 

• Strong engagement with and links to the Mental Health and 
Learning Disability Partnership and Integrated Commissioning 
Board, for example to co-ordinate development of the wellbeing 
offer with any prototypes that might emerge in the coming months 

• Engagement wherever possible with Integrated Community 
Services across the county 

Engagement and Involvement 

22 Delivery of our intended approach to engagement and involvement at all 
levels to co-produce this work will be vitally important to the success of 
this programme.  Work has started to build on (rather than duplicate) 
existing work that has been undertaken across County Durham.  This 
will be supplemented by specific events in October and November to 
further develop and finalise our vision. 

 

 

Page 145



Conclusion 

23 The “Right Care, Right Place” (RCRP) programme offers an exciting 
and timely opportunity for TEWV and its partners to deliver better 
experience and outcomes for services users, our staff and our partners 
by focusing on how all of our services, and those of our partners, can 
work more seamlessly and better together.  Building on a history of 
partnership working and delivery, by the end of 2019 we will have a 
clear vision for mental health service provision across County Durham 
that builds on and complements work already completed across the 
county.  We will also have an initial implementation plan to deliver this 
vision across the system over the coming years.   

Background papers 

• NHS Five Year Forward View for Mental Health 

• NHS Long Term Plan 

Other useful documents 

• County Durham Approach to Wellbeing 

• JSNA for County Durham as it applies to mental health 

• Mental Health Strategic Partnership Board priorities 
 

Contact: Jo Murray Tel:  01325 552190 

 

  

Page 146



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None. 

Finance 

None identified at present, although PCNs, CCGs, TEWV and the Mental 

Health and Learning Disability Partnership are exploring opportunities for 

additional investment or reconfiguration of resources as they arise. 

Consultation 

The involvement and engagement approach to co-producing this work has 

been outlined in the body of this document and at appendix 3. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None at present, although any workforce implications (including new ways of 

working) will be addressed as the work progresses. 

Accommodation 

None at present. 

Risk 

A risk log for the programme has been developed and is managed by the 

TEWV RCRP Programme Board. 

Procurement 

None.  However, opportunities to share learning from RCRP engagement with 

the DCC Commissioning Team have been identified and are being 

progressed. 

  

Page 147



Appendix 2:  Governance Arrangements 

 

 

  

Page 148



Appendix 3:  Engagement and Involvement Approach 

 

 

 

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



Right Care, Right Place Programme (RCRP)

Jo Murray

RCRP Delivery Lead (D&D)
jo.murray1@nhs.net

P
age 151

mailto:jo.murray1@nhs.net


Key Drivers for ChangeP
age 152



Key Drivers for change

“It feels like we are on 

opposing sides, rather than 

all working to provide the 

best patient care we can”  

GP “Better handover to 

other services so not 

to feel like a big gap in 

support and potential 

to go back down” 

Service User“We have a serious gap in provision 

for people suffering mental health 

difficulties who are deemed not 

“risky” enough for secondary care 

intervention yet are refused primary 

care intervention as they are too 

“risky” or “complex”. Staff

P
age 153



Right Care, Right Place

⚫ Improve how the whole system works together for both 

planned and unplanned care (especially thinking about how 

services better “wrap around” PCNs)

⚫ Reduce “hand offs” within the Trust and with other providers

⚫ Ensure needs are identified and addressed as early as 

possible

⚫ Reduce unwarranted variations whilst making sure we 

provide what local communities need

⚫ Make best use of all resources (money/ staff/ community 

assets)

⚫ Address physical healthcare needs better and in a more 

joined up way

P
age 154



Next 3-4 months

⚫ Two key, parallel pieces of work for community 

services over the next 3-4 months:

⚫ Speak to PCNs and TEWV staff - what would make the 

biggest difference quickly; where possible test ‘prototypes’ to 

assess the impact 

⚫ Plan and deliver wider engagement events to develop a 

shared (and possibly radical) vision for the future for 

implementation (within the ‘givens’ that we have) over the 

coming 3-4 years

P
age 155



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 17 September 2019 

County Durham Local Safeguarding 

Adults Board Annual Report 2018/19 

 

Report of Lesley Jeavons, Local Safeguarding Adults Board Chair  

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to provide a copy of the Local 
Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) Annual Report for 2018-2019 
(Appendix 2). 

Executive summary 

2 The Care Act 2014 placed Safeguarding Adult Boards (SABs) upon a 
statutory footing with a requirement to produce and publicise an annual 
report.  

3 This is the fourth LSAB Annual Report, which provides information 
about achievements and challenges during the year 2018/19.  

4 Provisional key data on safeguarding activity is included based upon 1st 
April 2018 to 31st March 2019 (notably full end of year data is not 
published until November 2019). 

5 The LSAB agreed a 3-year plan in 2018 which includes 4 priorities and 
streamlined working groups of the LSAB across 4 key themes: 

• Practice and Implementation 

• Engagement and Communication 

• Performance and Governance 

• Learning and Improvement 
 

6 The draft LSAB Annual Report outlines progress against the peer 
review recommendations and voice of adults and practitioners. 

7 Key recommendations of the peer review related to revisiting 
governance arrangements, risk assessment of Chairing arrangements 
and Chair appraisal. 

Page 157

Agenda Item 12



Recommendations 

8 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to 

(a) Note the progress made by the Local Safeguarding Adults Board 
during 2018/19 and receive the Local Safeguarding Adults Board 
Annual Report 2018/19 for information. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 158



Background 

9 The Care Act 2014 placed Safeguarding Adult Boards (SABs) upon a 
statutory footing with a requirement to produce and publicise an annual 
report. The supplementary Care and Support Statutory Guidance 
informs that the LSAB Annual Report should have prominence on each 
core member’s website and be made available to other agencies. 

10 This is the fourth LSAB Annual Report, which provides information 
about achievements and challenges during the year 2018/19.  

11 The format of the report is in keeping with the Care and Support 
Statutory Guidance, and includes evidence (both quantitative and 
qualitative) and key messages or impact that relate to: 

(a) community awareness of adult abuse and neglect and how to 
respond; 

(b) analysis of safeguarding data, to better understand the reasons 
that lie behind local data returns and use the information to 
improve the strategic plan and operational arrangement; 

(c) what adults who have experienced the process say and the extent 
to which the outcomes they wanted (their wishes) have been 
realised; 

(d) what front line practitioners say about outcomes for adults and 
about their ability to work in a personalised way with those adults; 

(e) better reporting of abuse and neglect; 

(f) evidence of success of strategies to prevent abuse or neglect; 

(g) feedback from local Healthwatch, adults who use care and 
support services and carers, community groups, advocates, 
service providers and other partners; 

(h) how successful adult safeguarding is at linking with other parts of 
the system, for example children’s safeguarding, domestic 
violence, community safety; 

(i) the impact of training carried out in this area and analysis of future 
need; 

(j) and, how well agencies are co-operating and collaborating. 

 

 

Page 159



Summary 

12 In April 2018 new chairing arrangements commenced and following 
feedback from partner agencies during the peer review, a 360° 
appraisal was completed and reported to partners in May 2019. 

13 The attached report aims to outline progress against the agreed 
strategic plan of 2018 and peer review recommendations of March 
2018. 

Consideration 

14 The LSAB has expanded its reach, developing closer working links 
during the year with the Fire and Rescue Service, HMP Durham, and 
Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company, and 
welcomed new partner Durham Community Action who joined the 
Board in April 2018. 

15 The LSAB has continued its focus on the service user voice to inform 
good practice and a deeper understanding of abuse and neglect; it 
anticipates the publication of the Service User Story as a booklet with a 
DVD for adults at risk with a peer on peer education approach. The 
Board will continue its focus on priorities of raising awareness and 
improving practice particularly in relation to sexual exploitation, self-
neglect, financial abuse, and modern slavery. 

16 The LSAB will build its work to hear the practitioner voice into all that it 
undertakes, with a consultation early in 2019-2020 to inform a wider 
workforce practitioner survey with a steer towards how it feels for front-
line staff. The LSAB will continue through its Communication and 
Engagement Strategy to work with wider agencies, stakeholders and 
partnerships to hear the voice of adults and communities. 

17 The LSAB monitors information shared in partner updates and is 
pleased to see the development of new roles within DCC Adult and 
Health Services Commissioning to support the provider market. The 
LSAB looks forward to taking part in an event for providers later in 2019.  

18 In 2019-2020 the LSAB will receive updates from its audit activities and 
identify any areas it will take forward as part of its continued cycle of 
improvement.  

19 In County Durham ‘Rethink’ provide a range of advocacy services which 
includes advocacy provision for those adults who have experienced 
abuse or neglect and whom are currently open to, and involved in, 
safeguarding processes. In the year ahead the LSAB will strengthen its 
links with Rethink and draw upon their feedback to inform the LSAB 
improvement cycle. 

Page 160



20 In May 2019, a BBC Panorama Programme exposed concerns for the 
safety of adults placed within an Independent Private Hospital in 
Barnard Castle. Since the programme, the LSAB has sought assurance 
from agencies and identified areas of work it will take forward in the 
year ahead, including any legislative requirements. It should be noted 
that work is ongoing with DCC and NHS commissioners in respect of 
addressing the requirements of the national programmes: Transforming 
Care, and Building the Right Support. 

Background papers 

• None 

Other useful documents 

• None 

Contact: Gordon Elliott Tel:  03000 263605 
   

  

Page 161



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications  

Statutory requirement to publicise Annual Reports and publication of an 

Annual Report from 1st April 2015 in line with the Care Act 2014 and the 

number of Safeguarding Adult Reviews, lessons learnt and any actions 

incomplete. The LSAB addressed any implications of the Data Protection Act 

2018 and related General Data Protection Regulations.  

Finance  

Continuing financial pressures on public services remains a challenge for 
agencies of the LSAB, particularly in relation to how responses to the 
safeguarding agenda are agreed. The LSAB monitors risks and challenges 
through its governance arrangements; Durham County Council ensures it 
includes any such areas in those arrangements.  

Consultation 

Report available for all partner agencies. The LSAB shared the annual report 
with partner agencies and provides opportunity for single agencies to submit 
an annual overview of their contributions to the work of the LSAB. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Adult safeguarding is intrinsically linked and is covered in the LSAB policies 
and procedures with equalities impact assessments undertaken when and 
where appropriate. 

Human Rights  

Human rights are the core of the LSAB and its work. The LSAB and relevant 
partners within the context of safeguarding and adult protection should ensure 
it is embedded in policy and practice. 

Crime and Disorder 

Adult safeguarding is linked and is covered within the LSAB policies and 
procedures. There is a close working relationship to the Safe Durham 
Partnership, and review of the Safeguarding Framework outlining working 
arrangements across agencies and broader partnerships. Durham 
Constabulary is a statutory partner of the LSAB. 

 

 

Page 162



Staffing 

The sustaining of adult safeguarding activities requires continued priority to 
staffing to ensure adequate resource is maintained. The continued 
contribution to staffing from partner agencies supports the sustainability of 
dedicated safeguarding adults’ posts/ functions and there is continued 
pressure for capacity within the unit when unforeseen situations arise. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

The risks associated with not appropriately managing responses to 

safeguarding are extremely high and include risks of ongoing abuse and 

neglect and the risk of serious organisational and/or reputational damage to 

statutory and non-statutory agencies in County Durham. 

The LSAB puts considerable effort into training and awareness raising to 

ensure that abuse and neglect is recognised and reported. Screening of all 

reported concerns takes place and directed appropriately to ensure the most 

appropriate response is taken.  

Any risks identified under the umbrella of the LSAB updated within a risk and 

challenge log which is reviewed quarterly. The impact of training is regularly 

explored and is reported annually. This is an area that the peer review team 

highlighted as a potential area for development with continued work in 2018-

2019. 

Procurement 

The adoption of safeguarding principles in the procurement of health and 

social care services is essential. The LSAB and Durham County Council 

included as partners in the regionally agreed framework for the commissioning 

of authors and panel Chairs for Safeguarding Adult Reviews. 

  

Page 163



Appendix 2:  County Durham Safeguarding Adults Board Annual 
Report 2018/19 

 

Attached as a separate document. 

 

 

 

Page 164



 

1 
 

  

Local Safeguarding 
Adults Board      

Annual Report 2018/19 

P
age 165



 

2 
 

 

 

 

 

  
Message from the Chair 3 
Introduction 5 
A Local Picture 6 
Our Work 7 
Messages from Service Users, Carers and Advocates 11 
LSAB Working Arrangements 13 
National and Local Updates 15 
Board Assurance 2018-2019 17 
What we have Achieved in 2018-2019 18 
At a Glance 2018-2019 21  
Safeguarding Adult Reviews 24 
Looking Ahead and Summary 25 
Partner Statements 27 

P
age 166



 

3 
 

 

 

 

I am delighted to present this annual report for April 2018 to March 2019 as 
chair of the County Durham Local Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB), 
having taken up the position in April 2018. The role of the Board and the 
work of the partners to support safeguarding adults in County Durham is 
increasingly vital with continuing challenges, not least the continued 
pressures faced by our communities as well an unchanged climate of 
financial constraint across partner agencies. The Board continues year on 
year to promote and raise awareness of abuse and neglect and this year is 
no exception, with an increase in reported concerns evident this year.   

The year has seen significant progress as the Board has developed its 
action plan building on the positive peer review in the previous year, 
responding to actions identified including a full review of governance 
arrangements, and strengthening the voice of adults, carers and 
practitioners in the work of the Board. A number of key events were held throughout the year. Raising 
awareness of how to recognise Modern Slavery received emphasis, not least as it is a growing issue 
nationally. The LSAB is pleased to be supporting Durham County Council with their Modern Slavery Charter 
and wider partners such as Durham Constabulary in understanding this issue locally. The launch of a 
refreshed LSAB website made advice and information more accessible to our communities; this work 
continues with an additional policy review as part of the continued day to day business of the Board and its 
related working groups. 

Lesley Jeavons 
LSAB Chair 

P
age 167



 

4 
 

The commitment of partners to safeguarding adults is as strong as ever, and I am pleased to report that the 
aim of keeping the person central to the safeguarding process is demonstrated by our performance in 
ensuring adults or their representatives are given a voice and asked about the outcomes that they want 
from the safeguarding process. 

As the new Chair I have taken an active role in shaping and steering the content of the Board’s 
development as well as ensuring that the Board continues to scrutinise its own arrangements, and that 
challenge exists to ensure the Board continues with a cycle of improvement year on year. 

I have been pleased to highlight the positive learning that has taken place within multi agency working 
arrangements which will strengthen good practice, and recognise that work needs to continue to maintain 
effective arrangements locally.  

I’d like to thank all those who took part in the Board’s development opportunities, and for the adults and 
carers, professionals and practitioners who served to inform where we need to grow as Board.  The input of 
our partners and wider stakeholders and their voice is invaluable to the work of the wider partnership 
arrangements in Durham. 

I salute the service user who shared his experiences and told us of his 
own safeguarding story and journey and thank him for his permission to 
share his story with a wider audience through an animated video with a 
very clear message to ‘think’ and ‘report’. His contribution will I am sure 
support a deeper understanding of the effects of abuse and the 
positive impact an effective safeguarding response can have when supporting adults. 

Lesley Jeavons (Local Safeguarding Adults Board Chair) 

 

P
age 168



 

5 
 

 

 

The Durham Safeguarding Adults Board in line with the Care Act 2014 has a statutory duty to publish an Annual Report  

County Durham Local Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) has a statutory duty under the Care Act 2014 to 
publish an annual report outlining the achievements of the Board and its partners against its strategic 
priorities. The LSAB annual report will be publicised on each core member’s website and will be available to 
other agencies. The Care and Support Statutory Guidance tells us that our annual reports should consider 
what the LSAB has done locally and draw conclusions from the following areas: 
 
 evidence of community awareness of adult abuse and neglect and how to respond; 
 analysis of safeguarding data to better understand the reasons that lie behind local data returns and use 

the information to improve the strategic plan and operational arrangements; 
 what adults who have experienced the process say and the extent to which the outcomes they wanted 

(their wishes) have been realised; 
 what front line practitioners say about outcomes for adults and about their ability to work in a personalised 

way with those adults; 
 better reporting of abuse and neglect; 
 evidence of success of strategies to prevent abuse or neglect; 
 feedback from local Healthwatch, adults who use care and support services, and carers, community 

groups, advocates, service providers, and other partners; 
 how successful adult safeguarding is at linking with other parts of the system, for example children’s 

safeguarding, domestic violence, community safety; 
 the impact of training carried out in this area and analysis of future need; and 
 how well agencies are co-operating and collaborating. 

 
This annual report outlines what the LSAB has done in County Durham to meet the above, drawing upon a 
range of data and information from agencies to illustrate the effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements in 
County Durham. 

 

P
age 169



 

6 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In 2018, there were approximately 526,980* people of all ages living 
in County Durham covering 862 square miles. 

There are 425,940 people over the age of 18 living in County Durham.  

There are 108,590 adults aged over 65 years living in 
County Durham of whom 12,311 are over 85.  

By March 2018 2,665 people had home care and 2,583 
were people living in a Care Home paid for or arranged 
by Durham County Council. 

There are 317,350 adults aged between 18 – 64 years living in 
County Durham.  

*Data source ONS 2018 mid-year estimate 
** DCC LD factsheet using national estimates 
Data sources: www.pansi.org.uk www.poppi.org.uk 

P
age 170



 

7 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Adults have a right to live in safety, free from abuse and neglect. As a statutory partnership the Local 
Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) has a duty to assure itself that partners are working together to safeguard 
adults and support communities to prevent abuse in County Durham. Partners have agreed a shared vision 
for the LSAB: 

Our vision: We will support adults at risk of harm to prevent abuse happening; when it does occur, we will act 
swiftly to achieve good outcomes. 

What adults want to happen to keep them safe is the central outcome of the safeguarding process. The 
Board takes steps to hear the voice of adults who may be at risk of abuse or neglect to ensure it is well 
informed, and to engage with the practitioners who work directly with adults to support good practice.   

The Board hears the stories of adults supported through safeguarding at its meetings. 

The Board gains assurance from partners, for example that the rate of conversion of a safeguarding concern 
to enquiry is in line with national reporting; and that the number of adults reporting that their outcomes were 
fully or partially met is 96.2%, above the national average and higher than last year. 

To support continual improvement and address actions from previous development days and an external 
peer review held in March 2018, the Board developed a joint action plan which included key tasks to 
complete: 

 the Strategic plan was revised; 
 there was further focus on Making Safeguarding Personal; 
 safeguarding adults review workshops were held; 

P
age 171



 

8 
 

 performance indicators, the LSAB scorecard and escalation reporting path were improved;  
 streamlined governance arrangements were approved by the Board; 
 LSAB Sub group performance report templates were designed to focus on exception reporting, ‘at a   
glance’ infographics, and a narrative explanation. 

 
A focus on raising community awareness is a key part of encouraging reports of abuse and neglect and in 
strengthening community resilience, such as tackling isolation. The LSAB has developed an ongoing 
programme of events, bite sized sessions, and talks. 

The Board revised its Information Sharing Agreement to meet the Data Protection Act 2018 and GDPR. 

Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking – At a 
Glance 

The LSAB takes an active role in keeping 
abreast of national updates and emerging 
agendas, such as Modern Slavery and 
Criminal Exploitation. 

Early in the year a practitioner’s toolkit was 
developed setting out what Modern Slavery 
and Human Trafficking is, who the victims are, 
and what to do. The LSAB further supported 
the messages of Durham County Council and 
its Modern Slavery Charter (October 2018). 

 

P
age 172



 

9 
 

September’s half day development session themes were 
Performance, Practitioner Voice, looking at Policy; Working with 
Adults and Carers (on prevention and making safeguarding 
personal); Information sharing; and Interagency working – 
Safeguarding is everyone’s business. 

One of the points identified in the session was a need for practical 
guidance on sharing information. A good practice toolkit on 
collaborative working and information sharing for practitioners was 
developed and consulted on with partners following the session, to 
be launched the following year. 

A practitioner survey was developed as an outcome of the development session to enable the Chair to hear 
their voice. Practitioners told us they would like more workshops, LSAB events, legal briefings and Board 
Bulletins to help to support them in 
their safeguarding practice. In one 
comment the Board was 
challenged to proactively 
cascade information beyond 
posting on the website. Throughout 
the year the LSAB sought the views 
of practitioners and during 
Safeguarding Week a practitioner 
informed the LSAB they would like: 

 

 

P
age 173



 

10 
 

 

In response to the practitioner survey and event feedback, the LSAB 
held a development session in January 2019 open to practitioners from 
a range of disciplines with opportunity to receive a key legal literacy 
update. The feedback from the development session told us that it 
was well received with all delegates (100%) sharing it was excellent or 
very good.   

 

 

 

The LSAB also supported an event focussed upon Working 
Together to Reduce Harm, hosted by Her Majesty’s Coroner in 
January 2019. 

This event helped to inform the development of a Coroner’s 
Protocol and the interface with a range of agencies in relation 
to safeguarding practice. The Protocol will be agreed in the 
next reporting period. 

 

 

Enhanced awareness of when to apply to Court of 
Protection and need for evidence of when capacity 

can be assumed (survey response) 

P
age 174



 

11 
 

 

 

  
 

Service user story  

In 2018 Durham Safeguarding Adults Board was privileged to have a service user 
share his safeguarding experience with partners. The service user story was made 
into a video and showcased at Safeguarding week in November 2018. 

Carers  

It is key for the LSAB to know how well adults are 
supported in a wide range of settings. A service user 
survey was sent jointly with Durham County Council 
during the year. A response by family carers told us: 

The LSAB Engagement and Communication Sub group is chaired by a Lay Member and its reach was 
extended during the year with a new member bringing a link to faith networks.  

A communication plan was agreed by the Board in October 2018 to 
support the work of the Engagement and Communication Sub group 
in engaging with users, carers, and communities. Engagement 
opportunities were taken up by Board partners to increase awareness 
in communities and to be the public face of safeguarding. Stronger 
links were developed with the Area Action Partnerships across County 
Durham. The LSAB website was reviewed with feedback and re-
launched in November.  

 You 
said 

We 
did 

 “          

” 
“Care home staff reacted immediately and 

made sure Dad was ok”  

P
age 175



 

12 
 

The Board and Healthwatch Durham together established a route to 
enable people who have experienced safeguarding services to have the 
assurance of an independent voice for their concerns and comments. 

Adult Views 

 

 

 

 

Advocates 

 “The Care Act came into force in April 2015, creating a new statutory advocacy role. Advocacy under the 
Care Act is for those who have a substantial difficulty in understanding and making decisions about their 
care and support, including safeguarding processes, and whom have no other appropriate person to help or 
assist them with such. A Care Act advocate works with individuals to make sure their feelings and wishes are 
heard and that they are actively involved in processes and decisions pertaining to their care and support.” 

Wider stakeholders  

The views of wider stakeholders are 
important to the work of the board 
and support the measurement of the 
effectiveness of safeguarding 
practice and systems, with one 
provider informing us that: 

  “                    ” 
Can I please thank you again for all the support you have been, through what has been 
the most difficult period of mine and my family’s life. Your approach has been one of 
empathy and professionalism and we have been kept up to date with everything that 
has gone on. 

P
age 176



 

13 
 

  

 

 

The LSAB consists of three statutory partners and a number of other partners, all committed to joint 
arrangements to safeguard adults in County Durham. Durham Community Action became a new member 
to the Board in 2018. Attendance at the Board meeting was 100% for statutory partners and 61% for wider 
relevant partners. 

Partners have agreed to hold a Safeguarding Adults Board meeting three times a year, and to hold two 
development sessions each year focussed on themes. In 2018/19 these were Performance and Practitioner 

Voice, and Legal Literacy.  

There are four Board Sub committees, each of which have their                                                                                           
own workplan and report to the Board; these were re-branded                                                                                        
 in April 2018: 
 
 Performance and Governance 
 Learning and Improvement 
 Engagement and Communications  
 Practice and Implementation. 
 
In response to the peer review: 

 The LSAB Chair, Lesley Jeavons, held meetings with partners to 
strengthen risk assessment; 

 The LSAB Strategic Plan was refreshed following a governance review;  

P
age 177



 

14 
 

 The LSAB Chair received high praise from a 360° appraisal (an action from the peer review in March 2018). 
With the change in Chairing arrangements some partners had felt that there may be a potential bias; 
following appraisal and follow-up feedback it was shared that those concerns had been allayed by the 
new LSAB Chair and her approach.  
 

Following the recommendations from the September 2018 Development Session, every year the 
Performance and Governance group will produce and ratify a final year-end summary of Performance and 
Audits for presentation to the LSAB. 

Partnership  

The work of the LSAB can only be achieved through partnership working as tackling many areas of abuse 
overlaps with the work of others, for instance the LSAB works to tackle 
Modern Slavery with the Safe Durham Partnership. Preventing abuse and 
neglect from happening at all is a key priority for the Board; promoting the 
welfare of adults falls within the remit of the Health and Wellbeing Board. In 
the same way, shared effective work to support families which may inform 
our work and safeguard adults, falls under the remit of the Children and 
Families Partnership. The LSAB has continued to work closely with the 
Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership (formerly Local Safeguarding 
Children Board) where cross connectivity exists for example, Modern Slavery, 
Criminal Exploitation and County Lines, a growing agenda locally. 

Membership 

In response to the peer review recommendations. the LSAB 
Chair proactively sought to meet with board members 
individually to seek their views and to ensure continuity of 
board scrutiny and challenge following her appointment. 

Chair engagement with partners 

11  
Meetings 

P
age 178



 

15 
 

 

 

 

The LSAB ensures it receives local and national developments in relation to safeguarding to inform itself and 
partners. In 2018 to 2019 these included: 

 The Data Protection Act 2018, giving agencies and 
individuals the legal basis to report abuse and neglect 
enacted in April 2018; 

 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence published 
guidance April 2018 People growing older with learning 
disabilities – our advice about good support; 

 Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
progress of Law Commission Consultation and future 
independent review of the Mental Health Act, to LSAB in April 
2018; 

 The Home Office and Ministry of Justice draft domestic abuse 
bill for consultation – (closing May 2018) – to LSAB in April 
2018; 

 Office of Public Guardian Spring Update and progress on 
safeguarding strategy, to LSAB in April 2019. 

 Adult Safeguarding: Roles and Competencies for Health 
Care Staff, the Intercollegiate Document was published by 
the Royal College of Nursing in August 2018; 

 

 

 

P
age 179



 

16 
 

 Modern Slavery Charter produced by Durham County Council in 
October 2018, an initiative to tackle modern slavery; 

 Charity Commission guidance “Safeguarding and protecting 
people for charities and trustees” replaced Annex 1 to the Charity 
Commission’s safeguarding strategy in October 2018; 

 National Referral Mechanism Reforms, the government consultation 
in 2018 on changes to support for victims of modern slavery 
included minimum standards of care – October 2018; 

 The Home Office published updated guidance (September 2018) 
to help frontline workers identify and protect victims of County Lines 
gangs – October 2018; 

 The consultation on the revision of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 
Code of Practice, on changes to reflect case law and lessons 
learned through practice ran from January to March 2019; 

 The LSAB and DSCP jointly hosted an update event on the 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) in March 2019 to raise 
awareness of the DBS role in safer recruitment; 

 The national network of SAB Managers agreed a National 
Safeguarding Adults Week to run each year with the LSAB agreeing 
to participate in the first week to take place November 2019. 

 
  

P
age 180



 

17 
 

 
 

 

Throughout the year the Board continued to receive and seek assurance from partners. Some examples include: 

The LSAB has continued to strengthen its assurance arrangements following on from the positive feedback 
of the peer review in March 2018. Over the last year the LSAB received updates including: 

 In October 2018, Ron Hogg (Police and Crime Commissioner) gave recognition at a regional event to 
Durham County Council for their work in relation to Modern Slavery. 

 The Board continued to receive six monthly updates and a regional overview of national Learning 
Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) programme, which is run by the national Healthcare Quality 
Improvement Partnership, to identify improvements in the hospital care of people with learning disabilities.  

 The LSAB agreed an audit cycle in 2018-2019 moving forward over a 3-year period, first wave of audits 
included a single agency audit by North East Ambulance Service with DCC input for Safeguarding 
Concerns and a LSAB joint audit of safeguarding enquiries with a focus on self-neglect. Both audits will be 
reported in the next financial year with the self-neglect findings to inform further work to compliment a 
planned self-neglect event in 2019. 

 A report to the LSAB on the joint LSAB and Durham Constabulary training programme delivered for all 
practitioners to highlight Sexual Exploitation and the related referral pathways. 

 A Risk Remains Task and Finish group explored instances where adults choose to live with chaotic lifestyles 
and reported to the LSAB to provide a further level of assurance. 

 The Board has received wider agency assurance in 2018-2019 with reports from Durham Community Action 
(new member), County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service, Age UK, Durham Tees Valley 
Community Rehabilitation Company, and North East Ambulance Service. 

 The Seriously Vulnerable Individual Protocol has been in place since 2010 and is a joint LSAB and DCC 
agreement to facilitate multiagency working where an individual adult is at risk of serious harm or death. 
The Board and chair of the Board requested that the Seriously Vulnerable Individual Protocol receive review 
in consultation with partner agencies. The review ensured the protocol fits with other structures such as 
Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA), Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference 
(MARAC), and Channel / Prevent, and is in line with the relevant legislative frameworks. 

P
age 181



 

18 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The Board agreed four priorities at the start of the year as it streamlined governance: 

 Prevention and early intervention 
 User carer voice and awareness raising 
 Governance performance and quality 
 Safeguarding Adult Reviews and learning lessons and improvements 
 
Some of the achievements and impact in relation to the priorities are set out below. 

This year the LSAB and DSCP held a joint Safeguarding Week in November 
2018. The event was open to partner agencies, wider stakeholders and the 
voluntary sector.  Key stakeholders supporting the event included Durham 
Constabulary, Government Agency Intelligence Network, North East Special 
Operations Unit (police led), Durham County Carers Support, the Halo Project 
in conjunction with Durham PCVC, East Durham Trust, T-ASC Training, Advice, 
Solutions and Consultancy. Impact: Key aims of the week included a joint 

social media campaign #TellSomeone, an event for practitioners and providers, and a two-day marketplace 

event with 16 stall holders hosting information stands. 
Throughout the practitioner event a video telling a 
service user’s story was displayed. 146 delegates 
attending the practitioner events during the week with 
95% of attendees informing they received relevant and 
useful information. 

What 
we did 

well 

P
age 182



 

19 
 

A joint event was hosted by the LSAB and DSCP in conjunction with the 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) in March 2019 aiming to raise awareness 
of the DBS and their role in making safer recruitment decisions. Impact: A 
total of 100 delegates from 59 statutory and voluntary agencies attended 
the event. 

Partner Events 

The LSAB is committed to raising the profile of adult safeguarding through its 
presence at community events which in 2018 included the Healthwatch annual conference, Fire and Rescue 
Service open days at a number of fire stations, the Durham Constabulary and Her Majesty’s Coroner Event in 
January 2019, a presence at the World Social Worker Day led by Durham County Council, and at Fulfilling 
Lives and People’s Parliament events. The LSAB continually supports a range of General Practitioners learning 
events for safeguarding specific topics. In the last year, the LSAB Engagement and Communication Group 
has been working towards improved collation of evidence of the impact of engagement activities and 
partner support. Impact: An estimated footfall across the events of 1,888 (a rise of 300 on 2017-2018 figure). 

Anti-Slavery Day  

LSAB promoted Twitter, Facebook and Instagram messages to raise awareness 
of Modern Slavery on Anti-Slavery Day on 18 October. Briefings for practitioners 
were cascaded to partner agencies and included in Safeguarding Week.  

Better governance and performance 

The LSAB continued to build on the peer review, with actions undertaken including: a 360° appraisal of the 
Chair; an improved Performance escalation/exception route; and working with Durham Community Action 
and Durham Voice supporting the LSAB to disseminate its information to wider communities.  The LSAB 
revisited its performance reporting in line with peer review recommendations and it is interrogated at each 

P
age 183



 

20 
 

LSAB meeting. Impact: improvements have been to include Modern Slavery and Sexual Exploitation 
reporting, along with developing linkage to the 14 Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) which will inform the LSAB 
of issues of prevalence and prevention priorities in County Durham. 

Website Updates – In November 2018, following a review the LSAB launched 
its new look website, making it up to date and more accessible to users. 
Impact:  There were a total of 38,752 page views this year in comparison to 
2017-2018 figure of 34,420, this is a 12.6 per cent increase. Similarly, there was 
an increase in unique page views: 25,357 compared to 22,551 in 2017-2018, a 
12.4 per cent increase. 

Training Programmes – A wide variety of training is accessible to staff and 
volunteers across the wider workforce, including face to face training, 
workbooks, and e-learning packages. Impact: Training figures submitted to 
LSAB show that 30,828 of the wider workforce received some form of 
safeguarding training over the last year, in comparison to 20,359 on the 
previous year. This is an increase of 51.4 per cent supporting prevention and 
early intervention, and continual update of staff/volunteer skills and 
knowledge. 

SAB E-Bulletins – The LSAB cascades a range of information across partners 
and the provider network. Over the last year briefings have been cascaded 
about Modern Slavery and the launch of national Safe Car Wash mobile 
app, County Line guidance, consultations, and LSAB events and related 
activities. Impact: The SAB E-Bulletins are cascaded to all 15 partner 
agencies of the LSAB and shared more widely through commissioning 
networks. 

 

 

SAB E-bulletins 

P
age 184



 

21 
 

 

 

 

 
Training  

There is an increase of 51.4 per cent from last year in the 
numbers of staff and volunteers accessing training as 
notified to the Board. This in part reflects the increase in 
partnership working and extended reach of the Board, as 
more agencies are reporting their training data than 
previously. 

 
 
 
 

P
age 185



 

22 
 

 
Advocates 
The Care Act tells us that when safeguarding enquiries are 
carried out, whether there are family and friends offering 
support should be asked about, and advocacy support should 
be offered to adults when needed. An adult’s ability to 
contribute to decisions about their protection should always be 
recorded. In County Durham 93.1per cent of adults who lacked 
capacity were supported by family, friends, or advocates during 
safeguarding enquiries, an increase on the 90.3 per cent figure 
last year.  

 
In the last year Durham County Council Social 
Care Direct received 11,262 reports; of those 
reports 7,328 were identified as safeguarding 
concerns for individuals, with 3,235 Section 42 
enquiries being actioned. Of those 3,235 
safeguarding enquiries 553 people received a 
multi-agency adult protection response. This 
illustrates a local conversion rate of 44 per cent 
for enquiries completed. It is reassuring to note 
that of completed enquiries related to 
individuals, the conversion rate is 32 per cent 
which continues to be in keeping with national 
return data of 38 per cent (2017-2018). 

 
The population of adults and older people in County Durham is 425,940; the 7,328 safeguarding concerns 
for individuals equate to 1.72 per cent of the adult population (just under 2%). 

 

P
age 186



 

23 
 

 
Repeat Section 42 enquires  

Concerted efforts are made to 
ensure repeat instances of abuse 
are maintained at the lowest 
possible levels. This is an indicator 

of the effectiveness of safeguarding interventions, of person-centred practice and of achieving good 
outcomes. Since 2012-2013 the level of repeat instances of section 42 enquiries has fluctuated between 
4.5 per cent and 8.6 per cent; being 7.7 per cent in 2018-2019. The SAB receives audit information 
annually of all repeat instances. 

Risk removed or reduced 
For 80.7 per cent of the 553 safeguarding enquiries receiving a multiagency 
response, action was taken and the risk was either reduced or removed; this is 
a small reduction from last year’s figure of 84.2 per cent but remains in-
keeping with the national average in 2016-2017 of 87 per cent. 

 

 
 

Publicity Materials 
During the 2018-2019 period, there were five events 
where our leafless and posters were available on 
display.  Over that period 231 posters, leaflets, cards 
and brochures were handed to attendees at those 
events. 

231 
Total number of leaflets/ 

cards taken at events 
during 2018/19 

P
age 187



 

24 
 

 

 

 
 
Within its annual report the LSAB must provide details of any 
Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) undertaken, the lessons learned and 
actions to be taken as a result of a SAR. This means the LSAB must 
identify whether or not cases where someone has died or suffered 
significant harm would require a Safeguarding Adult Review. The 
main purpose of reviews is to learn lessons that will help to prevent 
any risks happening again for adults at risk.  
 
During this year, there were 2 ongoing cases. As the cases are 
ongoing the learning and any actions taken will be publicised 
within the 2019-2020 annual report. 

 
Work took place during the later part of the year to revise the 
Safeguarding Adults Review policy and develop a Coroner 
Annex to the SAR policy. These will be taken to the Board and 
signed off next year. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

P
age 188



 

25 
 

 

 

 

The LSAB has expanded its reach, developing closer working links during the year with The Fire and Rescue 
Service, HMP Durham, and Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company, and welcomed new 
partner Durham Community Action who joined the Board in April 2018. 

The LSAB has continued its focus on the service user voice to inform good practice and a deeper 
understanding of abuse and neglect; it anticipates the publication of the Service User Story as a booklet with 
a DVD for adults at risk, using a peer on peer education approach. The Board will continue its focus on the 
priorities of raising awareness and improving practice particularly in relation to sexual exploitation, self-
neglect, financial abuse, and modern slavery. 

The LSAB Business Unit is busy planning for the LSAB annual event with a focus upon self-neglect in April 2019, 
working with the Fire and Rescue Service, RSPCA, Northumbria University, Durham County Council and others. 

The Information Sharing Agreement was revised and practitioner guidance developed, which will be taken 
to the Board to be ratified in April 2019. The guidance includes myth busting about information sharing, and 
proactively using the Data Protection Act 2018 and General Data Protection Regulations to support 
practitioners to respond and report abuse and neglect appropriately. 

Following great feedback from the development session on Legal Literacy and use of the Mental Capacity 
Act, the Board has commissioned further Legal Literacy training, planned for June 2019. 

The LSAB will build upon its work to hear the practitioner voice into all that it undertakes, with a consultation 
early in 2019-2020 to inform a wider workforce practitioner survey to understand how safeguarding work feels 

 

“     ”
 

P
age 189



 

26 
 

for front-line staff. The LSAB will continue through its Communication and Engagement Strategy to work with 
wider agencies, stakeholders and partnerships to hear the voice of adults and communities. 

The LSAB monitors information shared in partner updates and is pleased to see the development of new roles 
within DCC Adult and Health Services Commissioning to support the provider market. The LSAB looks forward 
to taking part in an event for providers later in 2019.  

In 2019-2020 the LSAB will receive updates from its audit activities and identify any areas it will take forward as 
part of its continued cycle of improvement.  

In County Durham ‘Rethink’ provide a range of advocacy services which includes advocacy provision for 
those adults who have experienced abuse or neglect and whom are currently open to, and involved in, 
safeguarding processes. In the year ahead the LSAB will strengthen its links with Rethink and draw upon their 
feedback to inform the LSAB improvement cycle. 

In May 2019, a BBC Panorama Programme exposed concerns for the safety of adults placed within an 
Independent Private Hospital in Barnard Castle. Since the programme, the LSAB has sought assurance from 
agencies, and identified areas of work it will take forward in the year ahead, including any legislative 
requirements. It should be noted that work is ongoing with DCC and NHS commissioners in respect of 
addressing the requirements of the national programmes, Transforming Care and Building the Right Support. 

 

 “             ” 
[Members will hold] more in-
depth discussion of front-line 
practitioners’ work and 
understanding of safeguarding. 
Development session 2018 

P
age 190



 

27 
 

 

 

 

Durham County Council – Adult and Health Services 

The procurement process to replace the current adult care IT system is complete. 
Several working groups involving representatives from across the adult service have 
been established. We continue to work in partnership with the new Provider in ensuring the 
new IT system supports streamlined methods of collecting and collating intelligence relating to adult 
safeguarding. 

Adult and Health Services have seen the introduction of two new roles based within the commissioning 
service – a Provider Development Project Manager and a Practice and Commissioning Project Officer.  
Introduction of these two roles has supported valuable work and initiatives in supporting the provider market. 
Just a few of these initiatives involve: 

 working with the NHS Foundation Trust to target areas of hydration in care homes; providing training linked 
to reducing admissions to hospital 

 production of a ‘GAP Bulletin’ – a practice guide for providers with the aim of bridging the gap between 
guidance and practice 

 domiciliary care consultation – a number of consultations have taken place to discuss regular issues arising 
in practice 

 introduction of a ‘Care Academy’ with plans to work with Job Centre Plus, supporting recruitment in the 
care sector with a 6 week training course in care skills, and promoting careers in care. 
 

 

P
age 191



 

28 
 

The Principal Social Worker for Adults has and helped plan and develop, in conjunction with Durham 
Children and Families Service, a range of information stalls and workshops in celebrating World Social Work 
Day 2019. A number of partner agencies hosted information stalls, which included representation from 
Harbour, Durham County Council Fraud Team, LSCB, and LSAB.  
 

The Principal Social Worker continues to support and work alongside the Probation Service and MAPPA Lead 
in the production of a clear pathway for ex-offenders with care and support needs accessing appropriate 
support services on release. A task and finish group involving providers of residential and domiciliary was 
organised in working together to produce an information guide for providers and to determine what support 
they feel they would need in providing care and support for ex-offenders.  

Within the Safeguarding and Access Service, colleagues have been working on a range of projects including 
a S42 audit, the outcome of this leading to an alert system to ensure the S42 has been concluded.  
Guidance has been produced for Mental Health Teams to support non-DCC Managers in gaining a greater 
understanding safeguarding and adult care processes and practice. 

Durham County Council - Housing Solutions 

Housing Solutions perform a strategic housing and enabling role. The service helps clients to access a home, 
assesses entitlement to housing for people who are homeless or threatened with homelessness, assists clients 
to stay at home and live independently and assists with property improvement, empty properties and 
housing management standards. 
 

Key achievements: 
 

Homelessness Strategy an update and overview of the Homelessness Review and Strategy 2018 – 2021 was 
provided to the Learning and Improvement Group. The draft strategy was circulated to partner agencies as 
part of post consultation development. The strategy considers impact on vulnerable adults  

P
age 192



 

29 
 

Rough Sleeper Strategy Group an overview of the Rough Sleeper Strategy Group and outreach project was 
given at Learning and Improvement Group. Links have been strengthened with Safeguarding Adults in line 
with Government guidance on Rough Sleepers and rough sleeper deaths. No deaths have been reported or 
recorded however Housing Solutions will continue to update on this regularly.  

Safeguarding Leads Safeguarding Leads from Housing Solutions and believe housing attend quarterly 
development days and discuss a range of safeguarding topics. Actions and key information from SAB are 
communicated to all Housing Providers via the Housing Provider Safeguarding Partnership. Safeguarding 
Leads raised concerns around how to manage threats of suicide from tenants and how to safeguard 
vulnerable people. A development day in November took place with training from IFUCARESHARE. 

Safeguarding Week Housing Solutions had a stall for two days at November’s Safeguarding week. The service 
provided information around the Rough Sleeper outreach project (as well as volunteers and outreach worker 
with lived street homeless experience in attendance); the private rented sector team and how to access 
housing advice and assistance. A number of people visited the stall and feedback was positive with many 
stating they did not realise the service delivered so much. 

Workforce safeguarding briefings Housing Solutions delivered a number of short briefings around 
safeguarding sights and sounds/what to do if there is a safeguarding concern in a housing context to 
contractors within DCC Direct Services and believe housing. As part of this briefing adults with care and 
support needs were discussed and what to do if contractors suspect abuse or neglect. Often 
contractors/maintenance have access to rooms that no other agency has and so are in a unique position to 
identify abuse or neglect in vulnerable adults.  

Areas of good practice identified: 
As a result of the Homelessness Review and Strategy the service has identified a need to provide support and 
accommodation for adults with complex needs who are experiencing homelessness. Work to deliver a range 
of models which will address this need began in 2018/19. 

P
age 193



 

30 
 

The Rough Sleeper Strategy Group was established and co-ordinated by Housing Solutions and an outreach 
worker who is managed by Changing Lives has been funded. The Multi Agency group consists of key 
partners (Police, Probation, Drug and Alcohol services, voluntary sector etc). working together to deliver a 
Rough Sleeper Action Plan, identify and reduce rough sleeping in Durham City.  

What are the areas of challenge for your agency moving forward into 2019/2020? 
 Delivering the Homelessness Strategy 
 Understanding support needs of clients and providing appropriate provision to meet these needs 
 Overseeing the Regional Rough Sleeper Initiative (following successful Government bid end of March) 
 Continued safeguarding development in Housing Solutions and Housing Providers throughout County 
Durham  

 
NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups  

The Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are statutorily 
responsible for ensuring that the organisations from which they 
commission services provide a safe system that safeguard 
adults at risk of or experiencing abuse or neglect. North Durham (ND) and Durham, Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield (DDES) CCGs are committed to the safeguarding agenda and work closely with provider 
organisations to ensure that assurance is sought regarding robust systems and processes.  
 
The CCGs support the work of the SAB in working towards achieving its strategic plan by active contribution 
and participation in the work of the board and associated subgroups. It has further supported the SAB by 
means of contributions for staffing resources for the period 2018/2019. The Designated Nurse also acts via a 
Memorandum of Understanding as a conduit between the North East Ambulance Service and the Local 
Safeguarding Adults Board. 

P
age 194



 

31 
 

Over the last year the CCGs have worked with the local authority safeguarding staff in relation to the 
executive strategy process, Section 42 enquiries, Safeguarding Adult Reviews and adult protection 
investigations. In addition, the Designated Nurse continues to work with NHS England to ensure commissioned 
providers are compliant with the requirements of the Prevent agenda.  

The CCGs continue to work with primary care colleagues to raise awareness through primary care practice 
development sessions, including Safeguarding Leads which have been held throughout 2018/2019. Topics 
included: 

 Modern Day Slavery 
 Beating the Scammers 
 Court of Protection 
 MCA/Best Interest decisions 
 Door stop crime 
 Power of Attorney 
 Domestic Violence 
 Financial Abuse 
 Dementia 
 GMC Updates 

Areas of good practice identified: 
An independent audit of NDCCG safeguarding activity was carried out by Audit One in September 2018. This 
concluded that governance, risk management and control arrangements provide a good level of 
assurance. The audit also acknowledged that since joint work plans, and programmes are in place across 
North Durham, DDES and Darlington CCGs it also provided some assurance to those partner CCGs. 

 
 P

age 195



 

32 
 

Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/2020: 
 Effective implementation and monitoring of the training requirements for staff working in a healthcare 

“Adult Safeguarding: Roles and Competencies for Health Care Staff” RCN 2018 
 Implementation of the new Liberty Protection Safeguards system 
 Ensuring the “NHSE Best Practice Guidance – Health Responses to Modern Slavery” is implemented 
 
Durham Constabulary 
Durham Constabulary is a Service that continues to deliver excellent Policing to the 
Communities of Durham and Darlington. The Force has been praised for the way it inspires 
confidence in Victims and communities by protecting neighbourhoods, tackling criminals and 
solving problems. 

Durham Constabulary have a designated Detective Superintendent heading the Safeguarding department. 

There continues to be two dedicated Detective Chief Inspectors allowing for management of active 
investigations and also the Strategic direction of the Organisation. 

Staff from Durham Constabulary understand that Safeguarding is ‘Everybody’s business’ and to support this 
all members of staff receive regular structured and ad-hoc inputs as part of continuous development to 
ensure we deliver an excellent service to the Public. 

During 2018/19 every member of staff has undergone a full days input on Safeguarding which was designed 
by a DCI from the Department and covers areas including Domestic abuse, MSHT, sexual abuse child abuse 
and adult abuse. 

Detectives that have a dedicated role in the Safeguarding Department are ‘Omni-competent’ in all types of 
investigations requiring specialist knowledge. 

P
age 196



 

33 
 

Durham Constabulary has been praised in the way that it ‘Problem Solves’ issues and there is a true 
understanding with staff around the need to work with partners with prevention being a key focus. 

In conjunction with PCVC Office we continue to carry out Victim surveys to understand ways to improve our 
response to victims. 

We have held multi-agency and partner focus and open days around Modern Slavery and Human 
Trafficking. 

Durham Constabulary have been awarded ‘Outstanding’ for the fourth year in a row by HMICFRS. 

Areas of good practice identified: 
 Our victim-focussed investigations continue to gain praise. We listen to victims, identify their vulnerabilities 

early and supported them through the process. 
 Good practice and highlighted by HMIC as excellent, is the victim and ASB 7 day ring-backs we conduct 

with service users, enabling us to identify good practice or areas for improvement and implement change 
at an early stage. 

 Our response to vulnerable adult missing from homes that ensures we identify early vulnerability and 
identify support agencies to reduce likelihood of going missing in the future (Herbert Protocol / ERASE) 

 Our organisation has been graded as ‘Outstanding’ for the Fourth year in a row. 
 
Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/2020: 
 Managing increasing demands in times of austerity. 
 The ever changing face of Policing, especially around the Digital enabler element. 
 MSHT 
 
 

 

P
age 197



 

34 
 

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) is the 
largest provider of integrated acute and community health services across the North East. We have a 
talented workforce of over 7,000 colleagues, making us a major employer in the North East region. 

CDDFT work in partnership with the Local Authority and partner agencies, to safeguard adults.  We embrace 
the principle that any adult at risk of abuse or neglect should be able to access advice, support and 
appropriate individualised protection and care interventions, which enable them to live without fear and in 
safety.  
 
CDDFT support the work of the SAB and participate in each of the four sub groups in order to work 
constructively to support strategic objectives, ensuring patient and client focussed outcomes in line with 
Making Safeguarding Personal. 

In 2018, resource was restructured to increase capacity within the CDDFT Safeguarding Team allowing for 
more targeted support for the most vulnerable people. The CDDFT Safeguarding Team continue to liaise 
closely with Local Authority colleagues to investigate Section 42 and adult protection enquiries, ensuring a 
robust investigation, timely actions, and lessons are learnt for future vulnerable people within our community. 

CDDFT aspire to ensure all staff acquire up to date knowledge and confidence in the safeguarding adult 
process. Quarterly point prevalence audits and assurance rounds have been completed across wards and 
departments within the Trust. Recommendations and actions are reported via our governance arrangements 
at our Safeguarding Adult Group and shared with stakeholders and Trust Board members.  

CDDFT continue to provide training support with the SAB, as well as delivering a suite of training sessions for 
CDDFT staff, including Prevent training (Basic and Wrap), MCA/DoLS training, safeguarding adults essential 
annual training, awareness level training, L1, L2, L3. Further training if offered for domestic abuse, modern day 
slavery and Mental Health Act. 

P
age 198



 

35 
 

We have introduced a Safeguarding Adults newsletter – SOAP Box – Safeguarding On A Page, which is 
shared three times throughout the year to all Trust staff with the latest updates and contacts. We continue to 
monitor the website “hits” and have developed a number of leaflets which have been disseminated across 
the Trust. 

The year ahead: 

We will continue to monitor and update our services in line with statutory implementation and national 
recommendations. We continue to work closely with partnership colleagues to deliver the requirements of 
the intercollegiate document to offer a robust training package fit for purpose.  

We are currently preparing for the introduction of the revised DoLS process to the Liberty Protection 
Safeguards (LPS) and acknowledge the challenges ahead whilst awaiting the code of practice – guidance 
document.  

We as a Trust benefit from our partnership arrangements and will continue to work closely with all partners 
and vulnerable people to promote a safe 2019-20. 

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust      

Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) is one of the largest 
specialist Mental Health and Learning Disability Trusts in the country and 
provides a range of community and in patient specialist services across a large geographical area.  

The Trust works in partnership with eight Local Authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups, a wide range of 
voluntary organisations as well as service users, their carers and the public. 

Our vision is to be a recognised centre of excellence with high quality staff providing high quality services 
that exceed people’s expectations.  Providing excellent services working with the individual users of our 
services and their carers to promote recovery and wellbeing. 

P
age 199



 

36 
 

Key achievements: 
2018/19 training compliance: Safeguarding Adults Level 1 = 95% and Level 2 = 94%.  
Level 1 training package has been revised and now incorporates both adult and children material to embed 
the Think Family approach. 
The Trust Safeguarding Adults training portfolio is currently under review in light of the changes required for 
the Safeguarding Adults Intercollegiate guidance recommendations. 

Compliant with NHS England requirement for Basic Prevent Awareness training = 98% and WRAP = 94.4%. 
Domestic Abuse Awareness training is now incorporated into Safeguarding Children mandatory training.  

Mental Capacity Act Training is now mandatory for Trust staff.   
MCA champions are now in place across the Trust who have been trained at a higher level on MCA/DoLS 
and attend regular MCA forums.  
The Trusts public facing website now includes a safeguarding section that is open to the public for reference 
and supports the work of the SAB through ongoing campaigns. 

The Trusts Prevent procedure has been reviewed and now reflects the guidance for mental health services 
produced by NHS England. 
 
The Trust has attended and actively participated in the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board and 
associated sub groups.  The Trust has supported campaigns and events throughout the year and actively 
promoted safeguarding adults alongside the Local Authority.  
 
Trust safeguarding activity is monitored internally by the Safeguarding and Public Protection Sub group of the 
Quality Assurance Committee which reports to the Trust Board. 
The Trust is also monitored by the Clinical Commissioning Groups via the Clinical Quality Review Group in 
relation to safeguarding.  
 

P
age 200



 

37 
 

The Trust has an annual audit programme in place to monitor compliance with safeguarding adult 
procedures including Making Safeguarding Personal.   

The Trusts workforce understands their roles and responsibilities around the safeguarding agenda through the 
Trusts Internal Safeguarding adult protocol and learning and development requirements applicable to each 
role. Safeguarding training is mandated through this process and compliance is monitored through both 
internal and external arrangements highlighted above.  The Trust works collectively with our SAB partners and 
contributes to the performance and quality through multi agency audits and self-assessment quality 
framework and Safeguarding Adult Reviews.  Learning lessons as a result strengthens and supports 
improvements to service provision and practice. 

Areas of good practice identified: 
The mandated safeguarding training compliance remains consistently high.  Mental Capacity Act training is 
now mandatory, and MCA Champions are now in place across the Trust. 

The safeguarding and public protection modules on the Trusts Electronic care record has been further 
refined this year and clinical recording processes amended to fully integrate safeguarding and public 
protection into everyday clinical practice.  This has improved communication and early intervention of 
reported concerns as well as providing prompts to practitioners regarding safeguarding decision making and 
making safeguarding personal ensuring the user / carer’s voice is heard through the adult protection 
processes and widens the workforce’s knowledge in relation to Prevent, Domestic Abuse and MAPPA / 
MARAC arrangements.  

Safeguarding Adult Supervision protocol has been approved which describes roles and responsibilities, the 
various types of supervision and methods of delivery and recording.  This has been communicated across 
Trust services.  

 P
age 201



 

38 
 

Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/2020: 
To implement the recent Intercollegiate Guidance, a full review of the current safeguarding adult training 
programme is underway to understand the implications for the Trust and plan how best to deliver the 
requirements in the most effective and efficient way.  

Work to further embed the Safeguarding Adult Supervision Protocol into everyday practice and set up robust 
reporting and monitoring systems to capture compliance. 

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service 
As a fire and rescue service we have a statutory responsibly to proactively 
reduce risk in the community and provide an emergency response service.  To 
ensure we are effective in making people safer, we use a range of information to 
identify residents who may be vulnerable or at greater risk and target our resources to support them.  We also 
work with businesses, providing support, advice and enforcement if necessary, to ensure they comply with 
their duty under the Fire Safety Order.  This work can result in our crews interacting with people who have 
social care and safeguarding needs and helps to deliver against our vision to have the ‘‘safest people, safest 
places” wherever people live, work or visit within County Durham and Darlington. 
 
Key achievements: 
 Training to staff – All employees across the Service have completed Level 1 training via an e-learning 

training package. A number of employees (particularly middle management) also received face to face 
level 2 training where it was deemed appropriate to their role. 

 Refresher training has been delivered to all operational staff in relation to the safeguarding referral 
pathway and signs to look out for whilst interacting with the public.  

 Reviewed and updated our safeguarding policy, procedures and information on our website 
 All safeguarding documentation including the reporting process is available on front line fire appliances 

via a Mobile Data Terminal (electronically) as well as in hard copy format. 

P
age 202



 

39 
 

 Particular focus on promoting issues around modern day slavery and human trafficking, internal 
information on bulletins, presentation to staff from Steve Thubron. 

 FRS provided an invite to the SAB to attend station open days to promote safeguarding, attended by 
Heidi Gibson. (Strategic plan – ‘Practise and Implementation’ and ‘Engagement and Communication’) 

 Attended safeguarding adults’ annual event at Ramside, event opened by Keith Wanley and 
presentation provided by Rob Cherrie (Strategic plan – Learning and improvement) 

 Keith Wanley attended several SAR meetings (Strategic plan - Learning and Improvement) 
 FRS continue to deliver over 18,000 Safe and Wellbeing visits focusing on residents who are vulnerable or at 

risk and making safeguarding referrals were required (Strategic plan – Practise and Implementation) 
 Attendance at a national Safeguarding conference in London earlier this year by Safeguarding leads 

within the Service. 
 
Areas of good practice identified: 
Since reviewing and refreshing the awareness of the safeguarding referral process and what may constitute 
a referral through the use of the threshold tool the total number has increased significantly. The figures below 
show that 16 referrals have already been made since the beginning of 2019, whereas we only made a total 
of 10 throughout the whole of the previous two years. 
 Jan 2017 – Dec 2018 10 referrals made in total 
 Since Jan 2019 16 referrals made so far 
 
Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/20: 
 Ensuring all new employees complete the level 1 training as part of their induction and all existing 

employees revalidate their training on a 24 month basis. 
 Ensuring operational crews remain comfortable with and aware of the signs that may constitute a 

safeguarding referral and the process by which to refer. 
 P

age 203



 

40 
 

Age UK County Durham  

Age UK County Durham is an independent local charity working in the 
local community to help older people.  We have 22 dedicated staff 
and over 100 volunteers (including our Board of Trustee’s) helping us to 
deliver services and activities for older people in County Durham.   

Our mission statement is ‘To promote the wellbeing of all older people and help make later life a fulfilling and 
enjoyable experience’. 

Key achievements: 
Safeguarding Adults Board meetings have been attended by our Chief Executive Officer, Development 
Manager and now our Information and Advice Service Manager attends the meetings, feeding back to the 
Senior Management Team on a regular basis. 

Areas of good practice identified: 
All staff and volunteers are required to complete DCC’s Safeguarding Adults – Alerter Training (Level 1) as 
part of their induction to AUKCD.  To date, 100 volunteers and 22 staff members have completed this training. 
Three senior managers have also completed the Managing the Alert (Level 2) training provided by DCC.  As 
a result of SAB training in January 2019, provided by Edge (case law update), we are planning tailored 
training with Edge for our Information and Advice staff team.   

Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/2020: 
Staying abreast of current legislation and ensuring all staff are aware of good practice. 

  

P
age 204



 

41 
 

Durham Community Action 

Durham Community Action (DCA) is a VCS Infrastructure support 
organisation (registered charity & Ltd. Company).  

Working primarily with the VCSE in County Durham, providing training, 
Information, Advice & Guidance, and developmental support for volunteer led groups. 

We also provide leadership for VCS networks and partnership working in the County (Advice in County 
Durham, Share & Learn, Better Together, Volunteer Coordinators etc).  

DCA manages a Centre for Volunteering for the County, brokering volunteer placements, supporting 
volunteer involving organisations and promoting good practice.  

DCA provides training and mentorship for good practice kitemarks for service providers (Volunteering and 
community led services). 

Key achievements: 

DCA has been able to broker access and engagement to a spectrum of VCS service providers in the 
County, both specialist and generic community and social support organisations and groups. 

Training: Access to, and dissemination of training about Safeguarding and risk for volunteer trustees and 
groups in the sector. 

Information share and briefings for sector representatives via network meetings, bulletins and training events. 

Detailed briefings for VCS colleagues about new safeguarding governance arrangements and brokering 
contacts. 

DCA has developed a programme of internal awareness raising and access to training amongst its 
Community and Volunteering Teams who deliver information, advice, guidance and training to frontline 
groups providing services in communities which has enabled these staff teams to makes connections into 
County Durham LSAB. 

 

 

P
age 205



 

42 
 

Areas of good practice identified: 
Access to good practice examples and contacts (as a bank, for support and resources) which will help 
volunteer leaders in the VCS to build their knowledge, confidence and experience. Opportunities for 
networking and/or training which is cross sector, so that statutory service providers can meet and familiarise 
with VCS/community based providers. 

Opportunities to consult and engage with seldom heard communities of interest via Healthwatch and other 
VCS networks which are thriving in County Durham. 

Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/2020: 
Increasingly limited levels of resources and capacity to provide consistent level of support, guidance and 
opportunities for engagement for VCS groups and organisations. 

Fragile Infrastructure of community based VCS organisations in the county with diminishing capacity to 
network and be responsive. 

Increasing weight of referrals from statutory sector into VCS, for support to be provided for more vulnerable 
people with complex needs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 206



 

43 
 

Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company 

Key achievements: 

 Taking part in multi-agency audits   

Areas of good practice identified: 
 Recent HMIP – engagement with service users identified as a strength 
 Management identified in HMIP as strength 
Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/2020: 
 Raising the standard of risk assessment and management across all grades in the organisation  
 Raising the quality of work to excellent across all grades in the organisation 

National Probation Service 

National Probation Service (NPS) as a directly managed delivery function 
within HMPPS, will carry out the critical roles of providing advice to 
court, assessing the risk an offender poses to the public and directly 
managing those who pose the highest risk to the public, who have 
committed the most serious crimes. 

 

 Review of domestic abuse policy and guidance  
 Review of safeguarding policy and guidance 
 Mandatory safeguarding training 
 Case study training – lessons learned SCR’s  
 Lessons learned – 7 minute briefings on serious further offences 
 Risk training 
 Case file audits 
 Quality Assurance Framework developed that looks specifically at all aspects of safeguarding. 

P
age 207



 

44 
 

Key achievements: 
The NPS has chaired a multi-agency group looking at the pathways from Prison to Community for elderly 
complex offenders. The work is now reaching completion and has involved working with Prisons, Health, local 
authorities and NPS 

Areas of good practice identified: 
NPS Durham has an active Service User Forum and Service User Involvement is one of the NPS NE priority 
areas 

Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/2020: 
The NPS is facing further organisational structure change in 2019/20 with the introduction of Offender 
Management in Custody and the creation of new regions. 

North East Ambulance Service 

Throughout the year 2018/19, the North East Ambulance Service (NEAS) has 
continued to make significant improvements in how we work to protect Adults at 
Risk. Some of our key achievements hare listed below; 

Our Audit programme covered themed audits for Domestic Violence, Self-Neglect 
and Mental Capacity Assessments, as well as referral quality.  Learning from the 
MCA audit highlighted a need for an improved design of our MCA Assessment form 
and practice guidance for our staff.  The forms have been developed and staff are 
being trained on how to complete a better quality mental capacity assessment. 

We have reviewed and updated several of our policy documents to ensure they capture the ever-changing 
duties and responsibilities or Safeguarding Adults at risk. New policies for Safeguarding Adults at Risk, 
Capacity to Consent, Allegations Against Staff and our Chaperone Policy have all been approved and 
implemented. Our Modern Slavery statement has been updated in line with legal requirements. 

P
age 208



 

45 
 

We have worked hard to improve the quality of referrals made by NEAS.  Once more, referral rates have 
continued to rise, though this year at a slower rate than previous years (3% increase).  In the last five years, the 
number of safeguarding referrals has increased by 35%.  Many of these referrals are welfare concerns. In order to 
make this clear at the outset of the referrals, we have redesigned our referral forms and altered our training to 
re-enforce the difference. 

In terms of training, the NHS England Intercollegiate Training Competencies Framework has had massive 
ramifications for NEAS.  We have devised a training plan and new level three safeguarding materials to roll out in 
2019/20.  We have also arranged a series of Safeguarding CPD events with partner agencies such as 
Northumbria and Durham Police, Newcastle Council and regional Special Branch services to provide expert, 
multi-agency training session for our staff. 

We have identified a concern about referral pathways for adults at risk who are experiencing a mental health 
crisis.  Work is now underway to develop alternative pathways to the current approach of making a 
safeguarding welfare referral. 

Training and development work is also raising the focus of ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ by ensuring staff seek 
consent for welfare referrals and where possible, safeguarding referrals.  We have amended our referral forms to 
ensure our staff identify early in the process what our Patients want as an outcome when a concern is raised. 

The Safeguarding Team have worked closely with our workforce development team to devise a series of training 
programmes around Safeguarding, Mental Capacity, Dementia and Mental Health. We have commissioned 
independent mental health facilitation and provided train the trainer sessions to upskill our training team. We 
continue to report PREVENT training figure which are amongst the highest in the NHS in the North East.   

Our CQC Well-led inspection highlighted how well safeguarding referral processes and Statutory and Mandatory 
Safeguarding training are embedded in practice.  Further improvements are needed in terms of the 
Safeguarding training given to our Emergency Operations Centre staff which will be developed and rolled out 
next year. Once again, NEAS attained an overall rating of ‘Good’. P

age 209



 

46 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 210



 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

17 September 2019 

Local Safeguarding Children Board 

Annual Report 2018/19 

 

Report of Michael Banks, Independent Chair Durham Safeguarding 
Children Partnership 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present the final Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual 
Report 2018/19. This is the final report prior to transitioning to the new 
statutory partnership arrangement known as the Durham Safeguarding 
Children Partnership (DSCP).  

Executive summary 

2 In 2018 partner agencies of the Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board 
undertook a process of transition to new local safeguarding arrangements 
that were compliant with statutory guidance, Working Together to Safeguard 
Children 2018.  

3 Throughout this period of transition an Executive Group was established but 
the Board and the LSCB Business Team continued to work in parallel to the 
new arrangements, progressing the work of the safeguarding partnership 
and continuing to fulfil all of its statutory functions.  

4 The LSCB Annual Report 2018/19 demonstrates the extent to which the 
functions of the Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board, as set out in 
the earlier national statutory guidance ‘Working Together to Safeguard 
Children’ (March 2015), have been effectively fulfilled. 

5 The report describes the work undertaken against the LSCB’s 2018-19 
priorities and describes local governance arrangements and links to other 
strategic partnerships across County Durham. 

6 The report provides an overview of performance monitoring as well as 
providing a summary of the use of restraint in secure centres; Serious Case 
Reviews; Child Death Reviews; and the LSCB’s provision of multi-agency 
training provision.   

Page 211

Agenda Item 13



7 This Annual Report is the last for the LSCB and the first for the Independent 
Chair of the Board.  The report includes achievements in LSCB priorities, 
information relating to the Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) which 
occurred in 2018 and the transition to the DSCP.  This report will be shared 
with partners and made available on the DSCP website. 

Recommendation(s) 

8 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

a) Note the content of this report. 

b) Receive the 2018/19 Annual Report of Durham Local Safeguarding 
Children Board.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 212



Background 

9 Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) was a statutory body 
established under the Children Act 2004. It was independently chaired (as 
required by statute) and consisted of senior representatives of all the 
principle stakeholders working together to safeguard children and young 
people in County Durham. 

10 The LSCB’s primary responsibility was to provide a way for local 
organisations that have a responsibility in respect of child welfare, to agree 
how they work together to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in 
County Durham and to ensure that they did so effectively. 

11 Statutory Guidance from Working Together to Safeguard Children (2015) 
required each Local Safeguarding Children Board to produce and publish an 
Annual Report evaluating the effectiveness of safeguarding in the local area.  

Transition to New Arrangements 

12 The LSCB, in accordance with statutory guidance, transitioned to new 
safeguarding arrangements during 2018/19.  The transition project 
ensured that the new partnership was compliant with legislation and able 
to fulfil its responsibilities.   

13 During the transition period an Executive Group was established, and 
Safeguarding Partners identified the Relevant Agencies required to 
support local safeguarding arrangements.  The Transition Project co-
ordinated five work streams: Governance, Data and Legal; Serious Case 
Reviews; Child Death Overview Panel; Performance and Quality; Training 
and Communications.   

14 A report outlining the transition to new safeguarding arrangements were 
sent to Cabinet for approval in April 2019. 

Reducing Child Sexual Exploitation 

15 The LSCB continued to facilitate a multi-agency Missing and Exploited 
Group (MEG) sub group.  This group has reported that funding has been 
secured in relation to ERASE and PCSOs.  The MEG has joined with the 
equivalent group in Darlington and will be re-named Child Exploitation 
Group to reflect its wider focus of County Lines and Modern Day Slavery. 

16 The LSCB training programme increased the reach of the Exploitation and 
Grooming and partner training including bus companies and fast food 
outlets for the first time.  Partners also reported progress relating to 
operations Artemis and Makesafe disrupting offenders and targeting 
hotspot locations.   

 

 

 Page 213



Working Together 

17 During 2018/19, the Working Together sub group have focussed on the 
efforts of partners seeking to reduce the average length of time a neglect 
case is ‘live/open’, to increase the timeliness of Initial Health Assessments 
submitted for Looked After and increase the number of recorded 
challenges in cases.  

18 The Working Together group also commissioned a survey of practitioners, 
undertaken by the LSCB Business Team, and used the learning to review 
and revise several key documents and operational tools available from the 
LSCB website. 

Tackling Neglect 

19 The Neglect sub group, in conjunction with Public Health England, 
established a working group to raise awareness of the impact of poor oral 
health and dental neglect.  The Neglect group identified the need to create 
a pathway for children who miss medical appointments to raise awareness 
of neglect by changing the recorded event from “Did Not Attend” to ‘Was 
Not Brought’ and identifying subsequent action.  

20 Partners shared progress on initiatives relating to tackling neglect such as 
the review and relaunch of the Home Environment Assessment Tool and 
the introduction of the Signs of Safety practice model.  This model 
addresses the needs of children and families by identifying their strengths 
and supporting their development to improve the wellbeing of children 
affected by Neglect. 

Empowering Young People 

21 The Empowering Young People sub group is a new group bringing 
together a range of partners to create a ‘scorecard’ to enable services to 
define and develop improvements in their service approaches to engaging 
with young people.  

22 The group looked at identifying what is required to increase confidence in 
young people who have safeguarding concerns, to improve the recognition 
of current engagement practice and improve the influence of the voice of 
the child in processes such as child protection conferences. To increase 
young people’s awareness of safeguarding issues a safeguarding 
engagement module was co-produced between local authority officers, 
partner agencies. teachers and young people in schools.   

23 The LSCB renewed its subscription to the Investors in Children recognition 
scheme and the Empowering Young People group identified that there was 
greater scope for the development of initiatives that encourage meaningful 
participation by children and young people in 2019/20, ensuring feedback 
from young people fed into the work of the new partnership arrangements. 

 

 Page 214



Professional Challenge 

24 Durham LSCB have instigated five Serious Case Reviews in 2018/19 and 
published one Serious Case Review Report.  The LSCB has introduced a 
series of short documents called 7-Minute Briefings, to improve the 
communication of learning from Serious Case Reviews.  The Annual 
Report identifies the following recurrent themes of published serious case 
reviews: 

• Bruising / Injuries to non-mobile babies 

• Sexually Harmful Behaviour 

• Non-compliance with Child Protection Procedures 

• Blockages in Communication and Information Sharing  

• Lack of Holistic and Robust Assessments 

• Lack of Professional Curiosity and Triangulation of Information 

25 The LSCB hosts an annual Serious Case Review learning conference to 
share learning and improve understanding of issues, concerns and themes 
identified.   

26 The Child Death Overview Panel for Durham and Darlington publish a 
separate annual report regarding key learning from child deaths and the 
completion of recommendations following reviews. In 2018/19 there were 
38 sudden or unexpected child deaths in Durham. 

27 Preparations were made for the implementation of new Child Death 
Review arrangements from April 2019. 

Performance Monitoring and Quality Assurance 

28 The LSCB Business Team provided quarterly performance reporting to the 
LSCB based on a range of indicators identified by partners.  The indicators 
reported related to the LSCB’s priorities and this was supported by single 
and multi-agency auditing to review practice in relation to CSE, strategy 
meetings and child protection plans.   

29 The LSCB also completed a “Section 11” audit which contained more than 
5600 separate pieces of information including responses from more than 
138 schools and academies from across County Durham. 90% of the 
schools who contributed to the Section 11 said that they used the audit to 
prepare for their own Education reviews.  Agencies identified a total of 63 
separate actions which, with the findings of the audit, were compiled into a 
report and submitted to the LSCB. 

30 The LSCB has responsibility for ensuring multi-agency participation in the 
completion of the JTAI Action Plan created after the multi-agency 
safeguarding review on the theme Domestic Abuse.  Findings from the 
JTAI inspection, which includes inspectors from Ofsted, Care Quality 
Commission (CQC), Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) 
and Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation (HMIP), led to more than 100 
actions being identified to address specific areas for improvement. 

Page 215



31 The LSCB also monitors, through the Quality and Performance Group, the 
use of restraint at Aycliffe Secure Services Centre.  There was a total of 
520 incidents which required restraint during 2018/19 resulting in 94 
injuries.  This is a slight reduction compared to the previous annual report 
and has been achieved during a period of increased occupation at the 
Centre. 

Policy and Procedures 

32 The LSCB continues to provide six-monthly reviews to maintain the multi-
agency procedures and ensure the information reflects local and national 
changes.  The Child Death Overview Panel has been reviewed to include a 
GP at each meeting, and lay member engagement during thematic 
reviews. 

33 Procedures updated in 2018/19 were: 

• Tackling Neglect Strategy  

• Neglect Practice Guidance 

• Thresholds Document 

• Children's Services Referral Form (New) 

• Home Environment Risk Assessment Tool (HEAT) and Guidance 

• HEAT Analysis and Action Plan (New) 

• Children and Families Outcomes Framework and Practice Toolkit 

Training and Communication 

34 The LSCB offered 10 core courses in 2018/19 as part of the multi-agency 
training programme and 22 bespoke training events were delivered to 
single agencies.  A total of 98 multi-agency training events were delivered 
and attended by a total of 1,854 with 93% of attendees marking the 
training as good or excellent. 

 

35 The LSCB provide access to a full range of e-learning courses and in 
2018/19, 6,665 e-learning courses have been completed with 97% of those 
completing evaluations stated they would recommend the course to a 
friend or colleague.  An analysis of overall training impact showed that 
66% of participants believed that training provided by the LSCB had 
improved outcomes for the children and families. 

36 The LSCB Website is the main communication channel and access point 
for local safeguarding information and materials. Pages on the website 
have been viewed more than 14,137 times by more 27,000 users. 

 

 

 

 
Page 216



Conclusion 

37 Members of the health and Wellbeing Board will e sighted on the work of 
the LSCB throughout 2018-19 prior to the transition to the DSCP. 

 

Contact: Mark Quinn, Performance and 
Programme Coordinator 

Tel:  03000 265772 

 

  

Page 217



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications  

Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) was a statutory body 

established under the Children Act 2004. Working Together to Safeguard Children 

2015 (Statutory Guidance) requires each Local Safeguarding Children Board to 

produce and publish an Annual Report evaluating the effectiveness of safeguarding 

in the local area 

Finance 

Yearly financial contributions to Durham LSCB are received from partner agencies 

and are detailed in the LSCB Annual Report.   

Consultation 

Consultation with partner agencies and stakeholders has been undertaken as part 

of the development of the LSCB Annual Report. 

Equality and Diversity/ Public Sector Equality Duty 

The LSCB Annual Report identifies the actions to safeguard the needs of 

vulnerable children and young people. 

Crime and disorder 

The LSCB Annual Report reflects priorities and action that impact positively on 

crime and disorder in County Durham.  The report shows effective partnership 

working with the Safe Durham Partnership. 

Staffing 

The priorities identified in the LSCB Annual Report will be delivered using existing 

resources.  Durham County Council will contribute to the delivery of the priorities in 

partnership with other responsible authorities.   

Accommodation 

No adverse implications.   

Risk  

No adverse implications. 

Disability Issues 

No adverse implications.  

Page 218



9 
 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility 

Annual Report 
2018 - 2019 

Safeguarding Children 

In County Durham 

www.durham-scp.org.uk 

P
age 219



10 
 

Contents 

1. Foreword by Independent Chair ................................................................................ 12 

2. Introduction ................................................................................................................ 13 

3. Local Data .................................................................................................................. 14 

Local Safeguarding Data 2018/19 (Provisional) ........................................................ 15 

4. Governance and Structure ......................................................................................... 16 

Local Safeguarding Children Board ............................................................................................................ 16 

Consultation with Children and Young People ..................................................................................... 17 

Working across Partnerships .......................................................................................................................... 18 

5. Achievements against 2018/19 Priorities ................................................................... 19 

Professional Challenge ....................................................................................................................................... 19 

Examples of Professional Challenge.......................................................................................................... 20 

Progress on LSCB priorities 2018/19 ......................................................................................................... 21 

LSCB Priorities 2018/19 ..................................................................................................................................... 21 

Priority 1 – Reducing Child Sexual Exploitation .................................................................................. 21 

Priority 2 – Working Together ......................................................................................................................... 23 

Priority 3 – Reducing Neglect ......................................................................................................................... 24 

Priority 4 – Empowering Young People .................................................................................................... 25 

P
age 220



11 
 

6. Performance Monitoring and Quality Assurance ....................................................... 26 

Multi-agency Audits ............................................................................................................................................... 27 

Joint Targeted Area Inspections ................................................................................................................... 28 

Restraint ....................................................................................................................................................................... 28 

Serious Case Reviews ........................................................................................................................................ 30 

Policy and Procedures......................................................................................................................................... 31 

7. Training and Communication ..................................................................................... 32 

Marketing and Communications Activity .................................................................................................. 33 

8. Future Priorities .......................................................................................................... 34 

 

Appendix 1 – LSCB Membership ................................................................................... 35 

Durham LSCB Membership ............................................................................................................................. 35 

LSCB Advisors ......................................................................................................................................................... 36 

Contact Details ......................................................................................................................................................... 36 

 

Appendix 2 – LSCB Staffing and Budget ....................................................................... 37 

Staffing .......................................................................................................................................................................... 37 

LSCB Budget ............................................................................................................................................................. 37 

 

P
age 221



12 
 

1. Foreword by Independent Chair 

 “Hello and welcome to the very last Annual Report of the Durham 

Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB)! This is because over the 

past year, the LSCB, in addition to focussing on its usual priorities of 

safeguarding children and promoting their welfare, has transitioned 

into the new Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership in fulfilment 

of the legislative requirements of the Children and Social work Act 

2017 and its underpinning guidance, Working Together to Safeguard 

Children 2018. During last year the LSCB was subjected to a Joint 

Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI), alongside its statutory partners, 

and therefore also was required to focus on the resulting 

recommendations. 

  

This report therefore covers three main areas, namely: 

 

• Achievements against 2018/19 LSCB priorities 

• JTAI recommendations, action plan and achievements 

The transition from LSCB to DSCP 

In addition to the above, the report will outline the context in which 

the LSCB operated, its governance and structure, performance 

monitoring and quality assurance, together with a breakdown of the 

partnership budget. It will also provide an overview of Serious Case 

Reviews finalised during last year, and Child Death Reviews 

undertaken. 

  

If every child in County Durham is to flourish, achieve their potential 

and live life in abundance, then their safeguarding and welfare are 

the bedrocks on which this will be built. Our focus as Durham LSCB 

has been on such outcomes, so that ‘Every child and young 

person in County Durham feels safe and grows up safe from 

harm’. 

  

I would like to thank the many partner organisations and their 

representatives who were members of the LSCB. They were part of 

a successful partnership which we will use as a platform for greater 

multi-agency working and integrated services benefiting our children 

and their families. I would particularly like to thank those people who 

lead our subgroups which focussed on LSCB priorities; our Lay 

Members who gave their time and talents as volunteers, and our 

Children and Young People Portfolio Holder, the latter two bringing a 

further level of independent scrutiny. Finally, I would like to thank all 

those partners involved in the management of the transition process 

to Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership, and particularly the 

LSCB Business Unit whose collective talents continuously support 

the operations of the partnership. 

  

It has been quite a year and I hope this report sheds a little light on 

the last year of the Local Safeguarding Children Board”.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Michael Banks 

Durham LSCB Independent Chair  

P
age 222



13 
 

2. Introduction 

Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board has a statutory duty to 

prepare and publish an Annual Report which describes how our 

partners safeguard vulnerable children and young people.  

 

Our primary responsibility is to provide a way for the local agencies 

that have a responsibility in respect of child welfare, to agree how 

they will work together to safeguard and promote the welfare of 

children and to ensure that they do so effectively.  

 

Section 3 of the report highlights some statistical information about 

County Durham and provides a local context for our work.   

 

Section 4 describes the local governance arrangements and 

structure of Durham LSCB.  It also provides information on the new 

Safeguarding Arrangements that were introduced in 2018/19 through 

the Children and Social Work Act 2017.   

 

Section 5 highlights some of the achievements and the progress 

that has been made in the last year as well as reporting on the work 

undertaken against the 2018/19 priorities.   

 

Section 6 covers our Performance Management Framework and 

describes the multi-agency audits we have undertaken.  It also 

provides an overview of Serious Case Reviews and the use of 

restraint in Aycliffe Secure Services Centre.   

 

Section 7 outlines our multi-agency training provision and describes 

the marketing and communication activity undertaken by the LSCB. 

 

 

Lastly, Section 8 identifies the priorities which the new Durham 

Safeguarding Children Partnership will take forward into 2019/20.  

 

The Annual Report 2018/19 demonstrates the extent to which the 

functions of the Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board, as set 

out in the national statutory guidance ‘Working Together to 

Safeguard Children’ (March 2015) have been effectively fulfilled. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

The information presented in this Annual Report is drawn from a wide range of 

sources from across the County Durham Partnership. These include the County 

Durham Integrated Needs Assessment; Lessons Learned from local Serious Case 

Reviews; the Child Death Review Annual Report; and a range of Durham LSCB 

strategy documents and action plans.   

 More Information:  

Find out more information by clicking here - Durham Insight 

 

P
age 223

http://www.durhaminsight.info/


14 
 

3. Local Data 

County Durham stretches from the rural North Pennines Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty in the west to the Heritage Coastline in 

the east and is home to a range of national treasures including 

Durham Cathedral, a UNESCO World Heritage Site.    

 

 
 

Data source: Office for National Statistics (ONS) 

 

 

The county has a very diverse combination of communities ranging 

from some of the most sparsely populated rural areas in the country 

through to the larger towns and Durham City; each area with its own 

needs and aspirations. 

 

 
  

There are an estimated 526,980 people living in 
County Durham (ONS mid 2018 population estimates). 

Since the previous release (mid 2017 estimates) the 
population of County Durham increased by 3,318 

(0.6%) from 523,662 to 526,980.

The under 18 population in the County has been 
relatively stable since 2011 at around 101,000.

County Durham is a largely rural county 
comprising of 21 settlements with an estimated 
population of over 5,000 people (estimated from the 

ONS Mid-2017 Output Area Population Estimates).

Although levels of deprivation in County Durham 
have improved we are ranked the 75th most 
deprived area out of 326 local authorities in 

England

Child poverty in County Durham is higher than 
the England average, with 21.8% of children 

under 16 years living in poverty (2016).

P
age 224

http://www.ons.gov.uk/


15 
 

Local Safeguarding Data 2018/19 (Provisional) 

438 children were subject to a Child Protection Plan (50 per 

10,000 population aged 0-18).   A continued reduction from previous 

years figures.   

Children on a Child Protection Plan for a second or subsequent time, 

within two years of the previous plan is 10.3%  

 

Neglect continues to be the most frequent reason for 

children being placed on a Child Protection Plan in 2018/19. 

 

79.7% of children who were made subject of a Child Protection 

Plan under five years old were made so due to neglect.  This is an 

8.1% figure increase from the previous year. 

 

Domestic abuse (21%) continues to 

be the main parental risk factor leading to 

children becoming subject of a Child 

Protection Plan. Mental Health (17%), 

Neglect 16%),  

Substance Misuse (13%)  

and Parental Capacity (10%) are  

also, significant factors.  

 

 

 

833 Children are in the Looked After 

system.  

  

12 children were in Private Fostering  

arrangements during this period.     

 

65 children and young people were reported missing from home 

in County Durham more than once. 

 

148 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

referrals. This figure has fallen from previous 

years and reflects a heightened awareness.     

Of those targeted the majority are girls. 
Online Grooming is the most common model of 

CSE. 

 

5 Serious Case Reviews 

commenced, and 1 Serious Case 

Review published.  

27,745 unique users visited the 

LSCB website in 2018/19 with over 

114,137-page views. 
 

A total of 98 multi-agency training 

courses and events were delivered 

and attended by 1,854 staff and volunteers.   

833 

Domestic 
Abuse 21%

Mental 
Health 17%

Neglect 16%

Substance 
Misuse 13%

Parental 
Capacity 

10%

P
age 225



16 
 

4. Governance and Structure 

Local Safeguarding Children Board 

 
Each local area is required by Law to have a Local Safeguarding 

Children Board. The LSCB is a statutory body established in 

legislation (Children Act 2004) and works according to national 

guidance ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015’. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board is chaired by an 

independent person and meets quarterly. The Board held two 

development sessions in 2018/19 taking the total number of meeting 

to six a year. Durham LSCB is supported by the LSCB Business Unit 

which is hosted by Durham County Council.    

 

 

The functions of the LSCB were: 

 

• To develop policies and procedures for safeguarding and 

promoting the welfare of children in the local area  

• To communicate and raise awareness of the need to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of children 

• To monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of what is done by 

the local authority and their Board partners individually and 

collectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of children 

and advise them on ways to improve 

• To participate in the planning of services for children in the 

area of the authority 

• To undertake reviews of serious cases and advising the local 

authority and their Board partners on lessons to be learned 

 

Throughout 2018/19, in accordance with the requirements of the 

Children and Social Work Act 2017 and its supporting guidance 

Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018, LSCB partnership 

arrangements were changed and the new Durham Safeguarding 

Children Partnership was established on 1st April, 2019. 

 

 

 

 

What is safeguarding?

Safeguarding is about 
keeping children and 

young people safe and 
protecting them from 

harm, while making sure 
they grow up in a safe 

environment.

What does the LSCB do?

We promote the welfare of 
children and young people, 

safeguarding them from 
harm and protecting those 

children who are at 
significant risk of harm or 

neglect.

What does it mean for me?

Agencies including the 
Councils’ Children and 

Young People’s Services, the 
Police, Schools and Colleges 
and Health Services such as 
GPs, Hospitals and Health 

Visitors are all here to help.

 More Information: Find out more information about    
         Durham Safeguarding Children 
Partnership 

Our Vision: Every child and young person in County Durham feels safe and grows up safe from harm 

P
age 226

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


17 
 

The new local safeguarding arrangements have been established, 

led by three Safeguarding Partners and supported by Relevant 

Agencies. New Child Death Review arrangements were put in place.   
 

Safeguarding Partners are identified as: 

• Local Authorities 

• Chief Officers of Police 

• Clinical Commissioning Groups   

 

Child Death Review Partners are identified as:  

• Local Authorities  

• Clinical Commissions Groups 

 

During the transition period an Executive Group was established and 

Safeguarding Partners identified the Relevant Agencies required to 

support local safeguarding arrangements. These include agencies 

that were former members of the LSCB, but also reach out further to 

other agencies with safeguarding children responsibilities. 

 

A Transition Project Board was established to co-ordinate five work 

streams: Governance, Data and Legal; Serious Case Reviews; Child 

Death Overview Panel; Performance and Quality; Training and 

Communications. 

 

Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board continued to carry out all 

of their statutory functions, until the new Durham Safeguarding 

Children Partnership became operational on 1st April 2019.  

Consultation with Children and Young People 
 

During the development of the new safeguarding 

partnership arrangements the partners sought to 

understand the concerns of children, young 

people and families from across County Durham.   

 

Partners consulted with a range of young people 

engaged with their service areas such as looked 

after young people and police cadets.  Investors 

in Children were commissioned to hold two 

consultation sessions, known as Agenda Days, 

which were led by young people in the community and a report of the 

findings by the lead young people was submitted to the LSCB. 

 

Through direct engagement with groups and reviewing recent 

consultations already undertaken the LSCB was able to identify 

recurring themes in the concerns of children and young people such 

as, 

 

• Cyber Safety – specifically social media, online grooming and 

bullying 

• Emotional Wellbeing - Low mood and Anxiety, mental health 

• Risky behaviour threatening personal Safety (substance 
misuse and criminality own or 
parents) 

 
It is the intention of the new 
Safeguarding Partnership to utilise this 
awareness to inform priorities in 2019-
2020.   

 More Information: Find out more information about    
         Durham Safeguarding Children 
Partnership 

P
age 227

http://www.durham-scp.org.uk/what-is-durham-lscb/
http://www.durham-scp.org.uk/what-is-durham-lscb/
http://www.durham-scp.org.uk/what-is-durham-lscb/
http://www.durham-scp.org.uk/what-is-durham-lscb/


18 
 

Working across Partnerships 
 

Durham LSCB worked with a wide range of themed partnerships. 

Together they form the overarching County Durham Partnership and 

work towards an ‘Altogether Better Durham’.   

 

Each of the five thematic partnerships has a specific focus: 

• The Children and Families Partnership – Works to ensure 

effective services are delivered in the most 

efficient way to improve the lives of children, 

young people and families. 

• The Health and Wellbeing Board – 

Promotes integrated working between 

commissioners of health services, 

public health and social care services, 

to improve health and wellbeing.  

• The Safe Durham Partnership – 

Tackles crime, disorder, substance 

misuse, anti-social behaviour and to 

reduce re-offending. 

• The Environment Partnership – 

Improves, transforms and sustains the 

environment to support the economy and 

the wellbeing of local communities. 

• The Economic Partnership – Works to make County 

Durham an area where people want to live, work, invest and  

 

• visit; whilst enabling residents and businesses to achieve their 

full economic potential. 

 

Durham LSCB continued to engage and challenge these 

partnerships where appropriate to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children in County Durham. 

We have strengthened our joint working with a 

range of partnerships on shared or similar priorities.  

Examples include: 

Working with the Safe Durham Partnership in 

respect of domestic abuse, alcohol misuse, 

substance misuse and counter terrorism 

(PREVENT duty). Aligning and improving work 

within sexual violence, sexual exploitation and 

female genital mutilation. 

  

Joint working with the Children and Families 

Partnership to increase the voice of the child 

through work that includes the student voice 

survey and the Children’s Commissioner’s 

Takeover Challenge. 

 

Greater integration of the mental health and 

wellbeing agenda with the Health and Wellbeing Board and the 

development of a range of support aimed to reduce self-harm and 

suicide.  

 More Information: Find out more information about    
         County Durham Partnership 

 

P
age 228

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/


19 
 

5. Achievements against 2018/19 Priorities

Professional 

Challenge 
 

P
age 229



20 
 

Professional challenge and critical reflection within safeguarding is a 

professional responsibility.  It is a sign of good professional practice, 

a healthy organisation and effective multi-agency working. 

Challenging decisions, practice or actions when concerns arise may 

alter the professional response when ensuring the safety or well-

being of a child or young person or their family.  

The LSCB risk register and challenge log is a well-established tool 

that was used to ensure partners provide mitigating actions to reduce 

identified risks and acts on challenges made to agencies. This is 

reviewed at each LSCB Board meeting. 

 

 

Examples of Professional Challenge  

 
The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) challenges agencies if 

agreed actions are not progressed within timescales and escalation 

processes are in place. Similarly, the Board monitors actions for 

learning following a Serious Case Review to ensure actions are 

progressed and implemented. During 2018 a review of SCR’s 

identified recurring themes which required strategic and operational 

intervention. 

 

The LSCB monitored and challenged agencies following s.11 audits 

which gave assurance that they were complying with their 

safeguarding responsibilities.  

 

The Joint Targeted Area Inspection in July 2018 challenged how 

agencies worked together on the front line. It highlighted areas of 

good practice, but also 46 areas for improvement. The resulting 

action plan identified 108 actions to improve professional practice. 

 

Professional challenge also takes place at a senior level through a 

Chief Officers Safeguarding Group which includes the LSCB 

Independent Chair, Durham County Council, local Clinical 

Commissioning Groups, Probation organisations, local NHS 

Foundation Trusts and Durham Constabulary.  

 

This forum allows the opportunity to challenge and share information 

on safeguarding issues including: 

• Learning and recurring themes from Serious Case Reviews 

and Child Death Reviews 

• Quality, impact and development of frontline practice 

• Outcomes of multi-agency audits and action plans 

• Emerging safeguarding concerns or trends 

• Development of new Safeguarding Arrangements  

  

P
age 230



21 
 

Progress on LSCB priorities 2018/19 

 

LSCB Priorities 2018/19 
In setting the priorities for 2018/19 the LSCB Board reviewed the 

progress on previous priorities and decided to continue to focus on 

Child Sexual Exploitation; tackling Neglect; Empowering Young 

People and Working Together.  

 

Click on the tabs below to take you to each priority section in the 

report. 

 

Priority 1 – Reducing Child Sexual Exploitation  

 
Multi-agency work is coordinated through the LSCB Missing and 

Exploited Group (MEG). Its remit is to monitor partner activity and 

improve the services and responses to reported missing and absent 

children and the multi-agency response to Child Sexual Exploitation. 

 

Over the past year partner agencies have continued to prove their 

multi-agency and single agency commitment to this work. 

Mainstream funding for ERASE Support Workers and PCSOs have 

been secured. All work is intelligence lead and is coordinated 

through the Durham LSCB Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy across 

the following three strands: 

 

• Preventing CSE from happening 

• Protecting those who may be at risk 

• Pursuing those who may be offending against children 

Reducing Child 

Sexual 

Exploitation 

Working 

Together

Tackling 

Neglect

Empowering 

Young 

People

What is Child Sexual Exploitation?

• Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) is a form of child 
abuse

• It can happen to anyone who is persuaded, bullied or 
forced into having sex or sexual activity such as 
taking and sharing naked photos of themselves

• This can be in return for things like alcohol, money, 
drugs or other gifts

• It can happen online and face to face

• It ruins lives and has serious long-term effects on 
young people and their families

P
age 231

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/missing-and-exploited-children


22 
 

We have widened our Exploitation and Grooming training to 

agencies not traditionally associated with safeguarding but who 

come into regular contact with vulnerable children.  This include 

some innovative work with Arriva Bus Services and Go North East. 

In addition, we have also engaged with taxi drivers as part of existing 

licenses. McDonald’s restaurants across County Durham benefited 

from police training in Child Sexual Exploitation. 

  

Operation Artemis focuses on tackling and 

disrupting offenders and dangerous 

perpetrators. This complements the work 

of Operation Makesafe targeting hotspot 

locations and awareness raising work protecting young people. Staff 

from six hotels have been trained and posters distributed to other 

hotels and pubs. 

 

 
 

 

In 2019 we will increase our focus on boys and young men at risk of 

CSE and identify ways to encourage them to report such abuse. We 

also recognise that parents want more information to protect their 

children and we will develop actions to support this. 

The Missing and Exploited sub-group of LSCB joined forces with 

their counterparts in Darlington during 2018. This year it will be re-

named Child Exploitation Group to reflect its wider focus of County 

Lines and Modern Day Slavery. 

 

Learning Point  

Listen to our ERASE Support Workers talk about the risk factors of 

Child Sexual Exploitation.  

Some of the work we are doing to tackle CSE

• Support the ERASE brand - website, media campaign 
Erase support workers, education materials

• Increased intelligence around Missing From 
Education / Permanent Exclusions / Home Educated

• National Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Day

• Awareness sessions held on County Lines; 
exploitation involved in sex working; and how CSE 
affects boys and men

• Philomena Protocol launched. Its aim is to protect 
children who go missing from care homes. 

• Annual Childrens Homes conference held

The LSCB has supported the police funded 
Child Advocacy Centre pilot aimed at 

children who are victims of sexual abuse 
and is intended to improve the victim’s 

journey from report to court and beyond. In 
addition a new ‘team around the child’ to 

provide a seamless therapeutic service.  

 More Information: Find out more information about         

        Missing and Exploited Children 
 

P
age 232

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/missing-and-exploited-children/
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xLlJlmCgRlc
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dfvFzOGwESM


23 
 

Priority 2 – Working Together  

 

 
The Working Together sub-group, having analysed the Practitioner 

Survey (2018), delivered on the following actions: 

 

• Revised and relaunched the Thresholds Document 

• Reviewed and revised Thresholds Training  

• Revised the tools for Focused Intervention 

• Launched ‘You said…we did’ communication. 

 

The Thresholds Document is to be reviewed again in 2019 to reflect 

the new Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership arrangements. 

 

Practitioner Survey 2019 This was conducted to ensure that the 

voice and experience of the practitioner is heard and barriers 

removed to assist with practice. 

 

 

 

 

During 2018/19, our focus was on the following key measures: 

• Reduce the average length of time a neglect case is 

‘live/open’ 

• Increase the number of Initial Health Assessments submitted 

for Looked After Children within agreed timescales 

• Increase the number of recorded challenges in cases 

 

 

Learning Point 

The Working Together group have 

also been working to implement 

learning from Serious Case Reviews.   

This two-minute video asks you to       

re-think ‘did not attend’ notifications. 
(Shared with permissions of Nottinghamshire LSCB)  

What is Working Together?

• The aim is to achieve excellent partnership working across 
all areas of LSCB business

• Drilling down into problems and finding solutions that work 
for every agency

• Changing agency culture to improve multi-agency practice 
following learning from Serious Case Reviews

Some of the work to support Working Together

• Thresholds: Strengthen agreed shared thresholds across 
the partnership

• Focused Intervention: Assurance that children receiving 
support as a child in need, receive focused intervention in a 
time appropriate to the child

• Removing Barriers: Understanding the blockages, 
implementing lessons learnt and improving outcomes

• Improve Information Sharing: Understanding the barriers 
to local information sharing and mitigating issues

P
age 233

https://vimeo.com/196256529
https://vimeo.com/196256529


24 
 

Priority 3 – Reducing Neglect   

 
Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 defines neglect as 

“The persistent failure to meet a child’s basic physical and/or 

psychological needs, likely to result in the serious impairment of the 

child’s health or development”. In 2018/19 71.2% (312 of 438) of 

children on a Child Protection Plan was due to neglect. 

 

 

The Tackling Neglect Strategy is aligned to four strategic objectives: 

 

• Understand Neglect – To understand the local picture of 

neglect and the thresholds for intervention. 

• Early Identification – To improve the recognition and 

assessment of neglect for children to ensure the most 

appropriate response is given.  

• Effective Provision – To offer effective, evidence based 

interventions that reduce neglect before statutory intervention 

is required and to act decisively where these do not result in 

change for the child. 

• Family Focus – To use the experience of our families and the 

voice of the child in the development and delivery of services. 

 

 

What is Neglect?

• Child neglect is a failure to look after a child and could 
result in poor health or development

• Children (including unborn babies), need food, water, 
shelter, warmth, protection and health care to grow 
and develop

• Children need their parents or carers to love and care 
for them

• Neglect can also include physical abuse, emotional 
abuse and sexual abuse

Some of the work to tackle Neglect

• Signs of Safety practice model was implemented in 
2018. To date over 300 childrens services practitioners 
have been trained in the model  and 600 partners have 
attended briefing sessions

• The Home Environment Assessment Tool (HEAT) has 
been revised and relaunched to incorporate analysis and 
action plan

• Analytical support from Public Health Intelligence has 
provided a local profile of children affected by neglect, 
child poverty and deprivation. The profile has been shared 
with the Child Poverty Working Group who have developed 
and implemented a wide range of interventions. 

 
Neglect is the            

greatest single cause 
of children needing 
protection and care       
in County Durham 

P
age 234

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/early-help-and-neglect


25 
 

The Neglect Group in conjunction with Public Health England has 

established a working group to raise awareness of the impact of poor 

oral health and dental neglect. A ‘Was not brought’ pathway is to be 

developed and embedded.   

 

The Neglect Group is building on the learning from a National Joint 

Targeted Area Inspection on Neglect of Older Children. A strategy is 

under development for working with older children affected by 

neglect utilising a trauma informed approach.  

 

Where the right support and intervention is provided to a child or 

young person it can have a dramatic positive effect on them and their 

life opportunities. 

 

Learning Point 

Neglect Video: Michelle's Story  

This is the story of Michelle and 

her experience of neglect as she 

was growing up. Click the picture 

to watch the video. 

 

Durham LSCB recognise that although good progress has been 

delivered by services to tackle neglect we need to continue this focus 

to support children and young people who suffer the consequences 

of growing up in neglectful circumstances. The Neglect Action Plan 

and performance framework has therefore been reviewed for 

2019/20 for the new Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership. 

 

 

 

Priority 4 – Empowering Young People    
 

The Empowering Young People subgroup brought many partners 

together to create a ‘performance scorecard’ that enables services to 

define and develop better ways of engaging with young people.  

The subgroup considered the question: “What does good look like?” 

and took steps to identify what changes needed to take place to 

achieve good in terms of the following key areas: 

• What is required to increase confidence and assurance of 

C&YP who have safeguarding concerns 

• Improved current engagement practice is identified and shared 

by partner agencies 

• The influence of the voice of the child is improved in processes 

including child protection conferences 

• The influence of the voice of the child in relation to neglect and 

other key priorities (eg: bullying) is improved.  

 

 More Information: Find out more information about  

        Neglect 

What is Empowering Young People?

• To increase the voice of the child to make sure that 
services take young people's views and opinions
into account when they plan services

• Providing education, resilience and 'up-skilling'
opportunities for young people in safeguarding and 
risk awareness

• Staff working with children and young people want 
to know what they think and how things can be 
made better for them

P
age 235

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0X8gsyk0Dv8
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/early-help-and-neglect/
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0X8gsyk0Dv8


26 
 

The subgroup worked to 

principles rooted in Article 12 

of the United Nations 

Convention on the Rights of 

the Child: “you have a say in 

decisions that affect you.” 

Our work with children and 

young people continues to be 

recognised by ‘Investors in 

Children’ as good practice.   

To increase young people’s 

awareness of safeguarding issues a safeguarding engagement 

module for C&YP was co-produced between local authority officers, 

partner agencies and teachers and children in schools.  

It was trialled between December 2017 and February 2018 and is 

now available via the LSCB website for use in all schools.  

The group identified greater scope for the development of initiatives 

that encourage meaningful participation by children and young 

people in the academic year 2019/20.  

We continue to increase the visibility and voice of the child and 

this year we have focused on improving the influence of children in 

the Child Protection processes, challenging services to develop and 

evidence new approaches to engaging young people in the 

conference process.  
 

 

 

 

 

6. Performance Monitoring and Quality Assurance 

Durham LSCB continually monitors the quality, timeliness and 

effectiveness of multi-agency practice through the Performance 

Management Framework.   

Where gaps are identified, implications for the LSCB are considered 

and any agreed actions are monitored through the LSCB risk register 

and challenge log.  

The LSCB sub groups (aligned to priorities) have an agreed action 

plan and performance scorecard.  Performance and progress is 

reported at the sub group level and collated through the Quality and 

Performance Group up to the LSCB Board to monitored and 

challenge.  

 

 

Ongoing Quality Assurance

• Monitor partner compliance with the statutory 
requirement to have effective safeguarding 
arrangements in place (Section 11)

• Carry out multi-agency audits and identify lessons to 
be learned and make recommendations for future 
improvement and feeding into LSCB training

• Multi-agency audit reports to inform the LSCB Board of 
the quality of work being undertaken and its impact on 
outcomes for individual children and young people

• Overview of multi-audits to monitor and review 
practice

• The use of a series of performance scorecards 

P
age 236



27 
 

Serious Case Reviews are published on the Durham LSCB website 

for a period of 12 months. There is currently one published Serious 

Case Review on the website.  

Outcomes and findings feed into our performance structures to 

promote a culture of continuous learning and improvement across 

the partner agencies of the LSCB. 

The Child Death Overview Panel for Durham and Darlington share 

their key learning from child deaths. They monitor and challenge 

agencies for the completion of recommended identified actions and 

publish a separate annual report. Find out more information about 

Child Death Reviews. 

 

Multi-agency Audits 

Last year the LSCB returned to calling multi-agency partners 

together to review records of practice. 

 

Partners agreed that this process should be led by a practitioner 

related to the specific issues being audited to assure and challenge 

responses received.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Section 11 audit conducted in 2018/19 utilised a web-based 

method for collecting 200 audit responses from GPs, schools and the 

member organisations of the LSCB.  This collated audit contained 

more than 5637 separate pieces of information including responses 

from more than 138 schools and academies from across County 

Durham.  

90% of the schools who contributed to the Section 11 said that they 

used the audit to prepare for their own Education reviews.  52 GP 

Practices also responded to the Section 11 with 92% of their 

answers confirming relevant safeguarding expectations were met 

and Named GPs for Safeguarding offering support to enable further 

improvements 

Agencies identified a total of 63 separate actions which, with the 

findings of the audit, were compiled into a report and submitted for 

review and monitoring by the LSCB.   
 

To free up resources to support the JTAI audits the LSCB Board 

agreed to conduct Section 11 audits on a two yearly cycle with the 

next Section 11 audit to be completed in 2020/21. 

 

 
 

 

 

Other multi-agency audits undertaken in 2018/19

• Child Sexual Exploitation Cases

• Straegy Meetings

• Child Protection Plans

• Practitioner Survey

• Section 11

A Section 11 Audit is Durham LSCB’s primary audit to examine the 

safeguarding arrangements within a broad range of organisations 

and provides the Board with assurance that agencies are doing 

what they can to ensure the safety and welfare of children and 

young people. 

P
age 237

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/serious-case-reviewchild-death-reviews/


28 
 

Joint Targeted Area Inspections  

This is a new multi-agency inspection to assess how agencies work 

together in an area to identify, support and protect vulnerable 

children and young people.   

A ‘JTAI’ includes inspectors from Ofsted, Care Quality Commission 

(CQC), Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) and Her 

Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation (HMIP) and reaches across the 

partnership. 

The JTAI reviewed safeguarding on the theme of Domestic Violence 

and findings from this inspection led to an action plan with more than 

100 actions to address specific areas for improvement. 

The LSCB has responsibility for the oversight of the action plan and 

to ensure multi-agency participation. 

 

Restraint 
 

In conjunction with Durham County Council, Durham LSCB monitors 

the use of restraint at Aycliffe Secure Services Centre.  

 

Many of the young people at Aycliffe Secure Services Centre are 

placed there by Local Authorities and Courts outside of the Durham 

area. Since 2011 and in line with ‘Working Together’ guidance we 

have reported on the use of restraint. 

 

 

 

 

 

Aycliffe Secure Services Centre houses a changing population of 

young people (aged 11-17) with complex and challenging 

behaviours. The Young People have been referred through the 

courts because they are a risk to themselves or others, or because 

there is a concern about their involvement with criminal activities. 

 

 
 

Aycliffe’s implementation of a Restraint Minimisation Strategy 

continues alongside a range of alternative approaches to minimise 

the use and impact of restraint. As a result of these initiatives the 

majority of injuries are graded at Level 1.  

 

There was a total of 520 incidents which required restraint during 

2018/19.  This is down from 531 in 2017/18.  There were 94 injuries 

because of restraint, down from 108 in the previous year.  There was 

also a slight increase in the average monthly occupancy during 

2018/19. 

Injuries as result of restraint are graded using a set criteria

• Level 1 – Minor Injury - such as red marks on the skin, 
welts, superficial cuts and scratches, bruises which do not 
require medical treatment, including first aid

• Level 2 – Minor Injury - such as significant cuts, 
scratches, grazes, bloody noses, concussion, serious 
bruising and sprains where medical treatment is given by 
staff/nurse 

• Level 3 – Serious Injury requiring hospital treatment -
includes serious cuts, fractures, loss of consciousness and 
damage to internal organs

County Durham is amongst a small number of Local Authorities 

who have secure services within its boundaries.  

 

P
age 238



29 
 

Analysis shows an 

increased level of 

restraint and 

associated injury 

occurred in first six 

months of 2018/19.  

69% of all injuries 

occurred in this 

period. This is due to 

a combination of an 

improved reporting 

process that captures more information and an increase in 

occupancy with a higher proportion of young people accommodated 

for welfare reasons.    

These young people often have more complex needs including 

emerging mental health and personality disorders.   

The number of restraints reduced during the following six months 

and was lower than the same period during the previous year.  The 

number of injuries as result of restraint also reduced by more than 

half during this period and included 

one level 2 and one level 3 three 

injury. 

93% of injuries were graded at 

Level 1, with 3% graded at Level 2 

and the remaining 4% at Level 3 

There were four Level 3 restraint 

related injuries. 

 

 

Throughout 2017/18 a Senior Manager from the Secure Centre has 

provided a quarterly restraint report to the LSCB’s Quality and 

Performance sub group and plans for further scrutiny of individual 

incidents are in place for 2019/20. 

 

79% of restraints were applied to young people who are resident at 

Aycliffe under the category of ‘Welfare’.  This group also accounts for 

76% of the injuries sustained because of a degree of restraint being 

applied.   

 

 

 

 

Residents at Aycliffe Secure Childrens Home

• Youth Justice Board – Sent by a Youth Court to fulfill 
an order received as a result of offending behaviour.

• Welfare – Resident in a secure environment, usually as 
a result of a court order but not necessarily relating to 
offending behaviour.  These young people are 'Looked 
After' by the local authority but they have additional 
needs that require a secure environment or facilities 
outside the scope of care options available within a 
non-secure care environment. 

 More Information: Find out more information about  

        Aycliffe Secure Services Centre 

 

P
age 239

http://www.durham.gov.uk/aycliffesecurecentre


30 
 

 

Serious Case Reviews 
Durham LSCB have instigated five Serious Case Reviews in 2018/19 

and published one Serious Case Review Report.  

 

The introduction of “7 minute 

briefings”, short documents available 

on the LSCB website outlining key 

aspects of specific issues, provided 

an opportunity for professional and 

critical reflection of key messages 

from published Serious Case 

Reviews. 

 

This year we have developed new guidance and supporting 

materials to comply with the new arrangements as outlined in 

Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 

 

 

 

The LSCB continued to implement the recommendations from 

Serious Case Reviews. Action plans are monitored by the LSCB 

Business Unit and reviewed by the LSCB Board through the six-

monthly update report. Going forward this function will be carried out 

by the Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership Executive group.  

 

 

We will continue to host an annual Serious Case Review themed 

learning conferences to contribute to the professional development 

of staff and improve their understanding of local safeguarding 

concerns and themes. 

 More Information: Find out more information about 

        Serious Case Reviews 

 

Recurrent themes of published SCRs

• Bruising / Injuries to non-mobile babies

• Sexually Harmful Behaviour

• Non-compliance wit Child Protection 
Procedures

• Blockages in Communication and 
Information Sharing 

• Lack of Holistic and Robust Assessments

• Lack of Professional Curiosity and 
Triangulation of Information

P
age 240

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/serious-case-reviewchild-death-reviews/


31 
 

 

 

Policy and Procedures 
The online version of the Durham LSCB Multi-Agency Child 

Protection Procedures provides a web based solution that is fully 

searchable and allows the user to access content from a wide range 

of devices. We undertake reoccurring six-monthly reviews to keep 

the procedures up-to-date with local and national changes.  

 

Website link - www.proceduresonline.com/durham/scb 

 

Professionals should add the link above into work related phones, 

smartphones, tablets and computers to link directly to the procedures 

when needed. 

 

The Child Death Overview Panel has been reviewed and is 

compliant with new Working Together to Safeguard Children 

guidance 2018. Membership has been reviewed to include a GP at 

each meeting, and lay member engagement during thematic 

reviews. To ensure robust scrutiny and challenge, Public Health 

England has agreed to work across four CDOPs in the north East of 

England, undertaking thematic reviews of: suicide and deliberate 

self- harm; sudden unexpected deaths; trauma and neonatal deaths. 

Also, County Durham and Darlington CDOPs will share joint learning 

with Tees Valley CDOP via twice yearly challenge review meetings. 

 
 

Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse 

We have engaged with the Independent Inquiry 

into Child Sexual Abuse and supplied information 

on the work we do to protect children.   

 

In addition, we have actively promoted the Truth Project; this offers 

the opportunity for victims and survivors to share their experience 

and be respectfully heard and acknowledged.  By doing so, they are 

helping the inquiry to better understand the long-term impact of 

abuse. 
 

Learning Point 

Watch a two-minute video 

about the Truth Project.  

Other procedures and guidence updated in 2018/19 

• New Tackling Neglect Strategy

• Updated Neglect Practice Guidance

• Updated Thresholds Document

• New Children's Services Referral Form

• Updated Home Environment Risk Assessment Tool 
(HEAT) and Guidance

• New HEAT Analysis and Action Plan 

• Updated Children and Families Outcomes Framework 
and Practice Toolkit

P
age 241

http://www.proceduresonline.com/durham/scb
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0t4VuTDpco0
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0t4VuTDpco0
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/multi-agency-child-protection-procedures/


32 
 

7. Training and Communication 

Durham LSCB offered 10 core courses in 2018/19 as part of the 

multi-agency training programme. 22 bespoke training events were 

delivered to single agencies. 

 

• A total of 82 courses were 

delivered in 2018/19. The courses 

were attended by a total of 1,670 staff 

and volunteers.  

• A full total of 98 multi-agency 

training events were delivered and 

attended by a total of 1,854. 
 

 

The training courses received very positive feedback with 93% of 

attendees marking the training as good or excellent.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

E-learning Courses 

 

Durham LSCB provide access to a full 

range of e-learning courses through the 

Virtual College ‘total package’.  

 

This allows partners the ability to offer  up-to-date safeguarding 

training to all staff through the unlimited licences available for each 

course. Courses include: 

• Safeguarding 

Children and 

Young People from 

Abuse by Sexual 

Exploitation 

• Domestic Abuse  

• Awareness of Child 

Abuse and Neglect 

• Collaborative 

Working: A Whole 

Family Approach  

 

In 2018/19:  

• 6,665 e-learning courses have been completed  

• 97% of those completing evaluations stated they would 

recommend the course to a friend or colleague  

  
 More Information: Find out more information about 
         LSCB Training Programme 

 

Impact Analysis – Of the 

responses received 86% 

confirmed the learning 

from the course had 

impacted on their practice 

and 66% believed that it 

had improved outcomes 

for the children and 

families they work with 

‘This 

training day 

has helped 

me to 

understand 

the single 

assessment 

process and 

what a good 

assessment 

looks like.’ 

P
age 242

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/training-programme/


33 
 

Marketing and Communications Activity 
Marketing and communications work is delivered 

through the Durham LSCB Website and is the main 

channel and access point for local safeguarding 

information and materials and to support local and 

national campaigns. 

 

 

 

 

 

Printed materials to raise awareness of safeguarding children were 

distributed to contact points such as Customer Access Points, GP 

surgeries, Libraries, Children Centres, Day Nurseries, Police 

Stations and the Neighbourhood Watch Network. 

 

 

The LSCB website is the main. Content is refreshed regularly with 

the Toolkits and Guidance for Practitioners page, making a Referral 

page and Training Programme being the top three pages visited. 

 

 

2018/19 was a transition year from LSCB to DSCP. The consultation 

process included two LSCB partnership development days to inform 

the vision and values; structure and meetings model; and scrutiny 

arrangements for the new partnership.  

 

Two awareness sessions and consultation events were held for 

Relevant Agencies. The website was updated to reflect the 

anticipated changes to the partnership. Quarterly LSCB newsletters 

provided partners and service users with updates and future plans. 

 

Learning Point 

Watch Chris speak about the 

storyline and how it has helped to 

raise the issue of child sexual 

exploitation across the country.  

Website stats - April 2018 to end of March 2019

• 27,745 users

• 46,198 sessions / visits

• 114,137 page views

Campaigns we supported in 2018/19 

• Children’s Commissioner’s Takeover Challenge

• Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Day

• Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse Truth 
Project

• Internet Safety Day

• World Social Worker Day

• Alcohol Awareness Week

• International Day for Elimination of Violence Against 
Women and Girls

P
age 243

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Oz9zIbPLCKA


34 
 

8. Future Priorities 

A balanced scorecard of indicators, based on our Vision and Values, will incorporate, for example how we monitor our 

performance against priorities such as neglect and child exploitation.   

 

 

 

   

P
age 244



35 
 

Appendix 1 – LSCB Membership 

 

Durham LSCB Membership 

• The Board is chaired by an independent person 

commissioned by the Durham County Council Chief Executive 

• National Probation Services – represented by the Head of 

Durham NPS  

• Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company – 

represented by the Head of Services County Durham and 

Darlington 

• North Durham, Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield 

Clinical Commissioning Groups – represented by the 

Director of Nursing (Vice-Chair of Durham LSCB) 

• Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children and Looked After 

Children  

• Designated Doctor for Safeguarding Children 

• NHS England – represented by the Director of Nursing for the 

Clinical Commissioning Groups 

• Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust – 

represented by the Associate Director of Nursing 

(Safeguarding) 

• County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust – 

represented by the Associate Director of Patient Experience & 

Safeguarding 

• North Tees & Hartlepool Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

– represented by the General Manager Nursing and 

Professional Standards 

• Harrogate & District NHS Foundation Trust – represented 

by the Head of Safeguarding Children 

• City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust – 

represented by the Associate Director of Safeguarding 

• Cafcass (County Durham) – represented by the Service 

Manager 

• County Durham Council represented by: 

- Corporate Director, Children and Young People’s Services 

- Head of Early Help, Assessment & Safeguarding     

- Head of Adult Care 

- Head of Education    

- Strategic Manager – Children’s Services Reform & Youth 

Offending Service 

- Director of Public Health County Durham 

- Strategic Manager – Housing Solutions 

• National Offender Management Service – represented by 

the Regional Safer Custody Lead 

• Durham Constabulary – represented by the Force Lead for 

Safeguarding (Superintendent Level)  

• The Voluntary & Community Sector – represented by the 

Voluntary Sector Representative (Durham Voice) 

 

P
age 245



36 
 

• Schools – represented by:  

- Durham Association of Secondary Heads 

- Durham Association of Primary Heads 

- Durham Association of Special Schools 

• Further Education – represented by: 

- Head of Student Services, Bishop Auckland College 

- Advice Support Careers Manager, New College Durham 

• Lay Members – represented by three members of the 

community whose remit is to challenge the LSCB on the 

accessibility by the public, children and young people of its 

plans and procedures  

• Lead Member – represented by the Portfolio Holder for 

Children and Young People’s Services (participant observer) 

• Faith Communities – represented by the Safeguarding Lead 

for Durham Diocese  

 

LSCB Advisors  
The Board is advised by: 

• A member of Durham County Council Corporate & Legal 

Services nominated as the Board’s legal advisor  

• The Durham LSCB Business Manager 

• Head of Partnerships & Engagement, Durham County Council 

• Strategic Manager – Partnerships, Durham County Council 

 

Contact Details 

Durham LSCB     03000 265 770  

Durham County Council   03000 260 000   

Durham Constabulary    101   

County Durham & Darlington  

NHS Foundation Trust    0191 333 2333  

North Durham Clinical  

Commissioning Group (CCG)   0191 389 8600  

Durham Dales, Easington &  

Sedgefield CCG    0191 371 3222 

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys  

NHS Foundation Trust    01325 552 000  

North Tees & Hartlepool Hospitals  

NHS Foundation Trust    01642 617 617  

Harrogate & District NHS  

Foundation Trust     01423 885 959  

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS  

Foundation Trust     0191 565 6256 

NHS England North    0113 825 1609 

Cafcass (County Durham)    0300 456 4000  

Durham Tees Valley Community  

Rehabilitation Company     0808 168 4848 

National Probation Service 

North East Division    01325 246 260 

National Offender Management  

Service      0300 047 6325 

Schools and Colleges   web link only 

Voluntary and Community Sector  web link only 

  

P
age 246

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/
http://www.durham.police.uk/
http://www.durham.police.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.chsft.nhs.uk/
http://www.chsft.nhs.uk/
http://www.chsft.nhs.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/north/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/north/
http://www.cafcass.gov.uk/
http://www.cafcass.gov.uk/
http://dtvcrc.co.uk/
http://dtvcrc.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-probation-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-probation-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service/about
http://www.durham.gov.uk/schools
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2759/Voluntary-and-community-sector
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2759/Voluntary-and-community-sector


37 
 

Appendix 2 – LSCB Staffing and Budget 

 

Staffing 

The LSCB is supported by the following officers: 

• LSCB Business Manager 

• LSCB Quality & Performance Coordinator 

• LSCB Strategy and Development Officer  

• LSCB Training Coordinator  

• LSCB Admin Coordinator  

• LSCB Administrator 

• LSCB Admin Apprentice 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LSCB Budget 
The financial contributions from partner agencies are as follows: 

 

Partner 2017/18 

Contribution 

2018/19 

Contribution 

Durham County Council £171,604 £171,604 

Clinical Commissioning Groups £95,097 £95,097 

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 

£2,680 £2,680 

County Durham & Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust 

£2,680 £2,680 

North Tees & Hartlepool NHS 
Foundation Trust 

£2,680 £2,680 

Harrogate and District NHS 
Foundation Trust 

£2,680 £2,680 

Durham Constabulary £29,285 £29,285 

Durham Tees Valley Community 
Rehabilitation Company  

£1,340 £1,340 

National Probation Service £2,032 £2,032 

Further Education Colleges £2,100 £2,100 

Cafcass £550 £550 

Total £312,728 £312,728 P
age 247



38 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Durham LSCB Annual Report 2017 / 2018 / 2019 - Safeguarding Children in County Durham  

Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board has a statutory duty to prepare and publish an Annual Report which describes how our partners 

safeguard vulnerable children and young people in County Durham.  Our primary responsibility is to provide a way for the local organisations 

that have a responsibility in respect of child welfare, to agree how they will work together to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and 

young people in County Durham and to ensure that they do so effectively. 

 

The children and young people of County Durham are at the heart of what all LSCB partners do and our vision of ‘Every child and young 

person in County Durham feels safe and grows up safe from harm’ continues to drive services forward.  

 

This Annual Report gives an account of the Board’s work over the past year to improve the safety and wellbeing of children and young people.  

The report reflects the activity of the LSCB and its sub groups against its priorities for 2018/19.  It covers the major changes and improvements 

of our partners’ service delivery, where they link with the Board’s overall strategies and the impact it has had.  It also reports on the Serious 

Case Reviews undertaken and identifies the priorities to be taken forward into 2019/20. 

 

 

Equality and Diversity  

Durham LSCB strives to promote equal access to safeguarding services, particularly 

for those children who are unable to communicate, due to their age, disability or first language.  

 

 

DSCP Business Unit 

County Hall 

Durham 

County Durham 

DH1 5UJ  

Email: dscpsecure@durham.gov.uk 

Tel: 03000 265 770 

 

A copy of this report is available on www.durham-scp.org.uk 

 

P
age 248

mailto:dscpsecure@durham.gov.uk
http://www.durham-scp.org.uk/


heMental health

1

P
age 249

A
genda Item

 14



he

2

Mental health 

• Mental health support teams in County 

Durham schools – press release issued 

August.

• PCVC office posts on social media  

Twitter/Facebook/Instagram in relation to link 

between alcohol and mental health as part of 

Balance ‘What’s the Harm’ campaign.

• Durham County News autumn edition - piece 

about mental health and wellbeing for World 

Mental Health Day.

• Multi agency approach to World Mental Health 

Day, including Fire and Rescue Service.

• Public Health England to launch Every Mind 

Matters campaign on 7 October.

P
age 250



heFlu

3

P
age 251



he

4

Flu/Help us help you stay well this 

winter
• Meetings of flu board taking place.

• Health and Wellbeing Board to be flu champions 

and report back in 2019.

• Public Health England preparing campaign 

material for NHS staff communications this 

winter. Can also be used for local authority staff.

• Content to be prepared for                                                           

future editions of Durham                                                  

County News magazine                                      

and Caring Matters

• Full communication plan in                                                          

line with issue of                                                

resources by NHS.

P
age 252


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 30 July 2019
	6 Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report: Report of Head of Partnerships and Community Engagement, Durham County Council
	Item 6 - HWB Annual Report - Appendix 2

	7 Learning Disabilities and Transforming Care Update: Report of Director of Learning Disabilities and Mental Health Commissioning, North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group
	8 Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy: Presentation of Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council and Public Health Advanced Practitioner, Durham County Council
	9 Alcohol CLeaR Peer Assessment: Report of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council
	Item 9 - Alcohol CLeaR - Appendix 2
	Item 9 - Alcohol CLeaR - Appendix 3

	10 Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns - Alcohol and Tobacco: Presentation of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council
	11 Right Care, Right Place: Report and presentation of Right Care, Right Place Delivery Lead, Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust
	Item 11 - RCRP presentation

	12 Local Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report: Report of LSAB Independent Chair
	Item 12 - LSAB Annual Report - Appendix 2

	13 Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report: Report of DSCP Independent Chair
	14 Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns - Mental Health and Flu: Presentation of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council

